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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

[sadore McKennie,

Petitioner,

Vs. : NO: 12 WC 33432

City of Chicago, 2 0 I W C C 0 _
Respondent. | 2 5 4

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of penalties, and being advised of the
facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed July 19, 2017 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

No county, city, town, township, incorporated village, school district, body politic or
municipal corporation is required to file a bond to secure the payment of the award and the costs
of the proceedings in the court to authorize the court to issue such summons. 820 ILCS
305/19(f)(2). Based upon the named Respondent herein, no bond is set by the Commission. The
party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission
a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.
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ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Isadore McKennie Case#12 WC 33432
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City of Chicago
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An dpplication for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Molly C. Mason, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Chicago, on 6/14/17. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on
the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

Consolidated cases: 12 WC 38378

DISPUTED ISSUES

A [__—] Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

. [] What was the date of the accident?

|:] Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

. L__I What were Petitioner's earnings? '

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

DVWhat was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. |:| What temporary benefits are in dispute?

[1TPD [} Maintenance [JTTD
L. EZ] What is the nature and extent of the injury?

M. [:] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other .

“rEZomEgOw

ICArbDec 2/1G 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-661] Tollfree 866/352-3033  Web site, www.iwee.il gov
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On 8/17/12, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

For the reasons set forth in the attached decision, the Arbitrator finds Petitioner failed to establish a causal

connection between his undisputed accident of August 17, 2012 and his current post-fusion condition of ill-
being.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $38,995.06; the average weekly wage was $749.90.
On the date of accident; Petitiorier was 76 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.
Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

The parties stipulated Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from August 17, 2012 through October 25,
2012, a period of 10 weeks. Arb Exh 1.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $4,999.60 for T'TD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other
benefits, for a total credit of $4,999.60.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

THE ARBITRATOR AWARDS NO PERMANENCY BENEFITS IN THIS CASE. SEE THE DECISION IN 12 WC 38378 FOR THE
ARBITRATOR’S PERMANENCY AWARD.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. ‘

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Noriée
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Signature of Arbitrator

ICAtbDec p. 2
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Isadore McKennie v. City of Chicago
12 WC 33432 and 12 WC 38378 (consolidated)

Summary of Disputed Issues Relative to Both Cases

The parties agree Petitioner sustained injuries on August 17 [12 WC 33432} and October
30, 2012 [12 WC 38378], while working as a custodian for Respondent. Petitioner was 76 years
old when these injuries occurred. He ultimately underwent a two-level lumbar fusion in August
2013. His surgeon released him to sedentary duty in accordance with a valid functional
capacity evaluation performed in November 2015. On May 5, 2016, Respondent provided him
with job search logs and directed him to begin looking for work. He continued receiving duty

disability benefits until January 20, 2017, at which point Respondent asserted hISjOb search
was invalid.

In 12 WC 33432, the disputed issues include causal connection and nature and extent.
Arb Exh 1. In 12 WC 38378, the disputed issues include causal connection, medical expenses,
temporary total disability, maintenance, nature and extent and penalties/fees. Arb Exh 2.

Arbitrator’s Findings of Fact

Petitioner testified he lives in Chicago. He is now 81 years old. T. 19. He finished tenth
grade. He did not graduate from high school or attend college. His jobs have always involved
physical fabor. T. 26-27. He worked at E. J. Brach for 24 years before being hired by
Respondent on May 16, 2001. T, 13-14. He passed a mandatory pre—efnployment physical
examination before he began working for Respondent. He was hired as a custodian. His duties
included mopping and waxing floors, removing garbage and shoveling snow. His job required
lifting, bending and walking. T. 14-15,

Petitioner testified he performed full duty custodial work for Respondent until August
17, 2012. On that date, he injured his back while moving some tables. He testified he
underwent treatment with physicians at MercyWorks and Dr. Wehner following this injury. [No
records from these providers are in evidence.] He was off work from August 12 through
October 25, 2012, at which point he resumed his custodian job. He testified he “did not feel
too good” at that point. T. 15-16.

Petitioner testified he re-injured his lower back on October 30, 2012, when he lifted a
full mop bucket. T.16. He identified PX 1 as his report concerning this accident. In this report,
he indicated he lifted a full mop bucket while working at a library on October 30, 2012 and felt

“a very sharp pain in [his] lower back that radiated down both legs.”

Petitioner testified that, following the October 30, 2012 accident, he began a course of
treatment at Elmhurst Primary Care Associates. Records in PX 2 refiect Petitioner actually |
underwent care at ElImhurst Memorial Hospital’s Emergency Room on October 30, 2012 and did
not go to Elmhurst Memorial Primary Care Associates until the following day. Petitioner
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underwent lumbar spine X-rays and a thoracic spine MRI at the Emergency Room. The reports
concerning these studies are not in evidence. The Emergency Room physician prescribed
Valium and Tramadol and directed Petitioner to follow up with Dr. Stevens. PX2. On October
31, 2012, Dr, Stevens noted that Petitioner complained of 8/10 low back pain secondary to
lifting a bucket of water and had undergone X-rays at the Emergency Room the preceding day.
Dr. Stevens described the X-rays as negative for fracture. After examining Petitioner, he
prescribed Norco, Mobic and a Prednisone taper. He imposed a 20-pound lifting restriction and
referred Petitioner to Dr. O’Connor, an orthopedic surgeon. A referral form in PX 2 describes
Petitioner’s “primary insurance” as Coventry Workcomp.

Petitioner first saw Dr. O'Connor on November 6, 2012. In his note of that date, the
doctor recorded a consistent history of the two work accidents. He noted complaints of low
back pain radiating into the buttocks and posterior thighs along with numbness in both legs. He
also noted that Petmoner had previously undergone back surgery in the early 1980s. He
described Petitioner as “in obvious distress” and exhibiting a slow, somewhat forward flexed
gait. On examination, he noted diminished sensation diffusely over the left leg, positive passive
straight leg raising bilaterally, left worse than right, exquisite tenderness in the sciatic notch and
lumbar spine and moderate paraspinal spasm. He described Petitioner’s symptoms as
“suggestive of a large central disc herniation.” He prescribed a lumbar spine MR} and continued

medication. He found Petitioner unable to work secondary to the back injury. PX5, pp. 13-
14/25. '

The tumbar spine MRI, performed without contrast on November 7, 2012, showed a
previous right-sided laminectomy at L5-51, degenerative desiccation at several disc space
levels, mild multi-leve! degenerative spondylosis, a central disc protrusion at L4-L5 “with a
question of a small superimposed central disc herniation,” a left lateral disc herniation at the
same level and a central annular tear at L5-51 with a “small residual or recurrent right

paracentral disc herniation with mild partial effacement of the right descending 51 nerve root.”
PX 5. '

Petitioner returned to Dr. Stevens on November 17, 2012 and reported some relief from
the Norco. The doctor reviewed the MR, continued the Mobic and Norco and directed
Petitioner to stay off work and follow up with Dr. O’Connor. PX 2.

On December 14, 2012, Dr. O’Connor prescribed physical therapy and epidural steroid
injections, PX 5.

On January 9, 2013, Petitioner underwent transforaminal epidural steroid injections on

the left at L4-L5 and on the right at L5-S1. Dr. Belavic administered these injections. He noted a
history of both work accidents in his report PX5.

At Respondent’s request, Petitioner underwent a Section 12 examination by Dr. An of
Midwest Orthopaedics on February 5, 2013. In his report of that date, Dr. An recorded a
consistent history of both work accidents. He noted current complaints of low back pain
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radiating down both legs posteriorly. He also noted that Petitioner had undergone back
surgery in the early 1980s but had done well for many years thereafter.

On examination, Dr. An noted tenderness to palpation in the L5-51 area, a fimited range
of motion and no abnormal neurelogic findings.

Dr. An found Petitioner’s history to be “consistent with the injury to the low back” with
a pre-existing diagnosis of disc degeneration. He viewed the injury as aggravating the
underlying degenerative condition. He recommended non-narcotic medication and six more
weeks of therapy. He found Petitioner capable of restricted work with no lifting over 20
pounds and no frequent bending or twisting. He anticipated that Petitioner would be able to
resume full duty in six weeks but conceded there was a “small chance” that Petitioner would
not improve significantly and might have residual permanent back pain. He indicated he would
recommend a functional capacity evaluation “for permanent restrictions” if this proved to be
the case. He did not recommend any type of surgery. Resp Group Exh 1.

On February 8, 2013, Petitioner saw Dr. Hennessy, Dr. O’Connor’s partner. The doctor
recorded a history of the two work accidents and subsequent care. He also recorded a history
of a right L5-S1 discectomy in 1981. He indicated that Petitioner reported fully recovering from
that surgery and having no back pain thereafter until August 2012. He noted that Petitioner
denied any relief from a recent epidural injection. He described Petitioner as walking without
an assistive device but moving very slowly. He interpreted the MRI as showing degenerative
disc disease at L5-51 and a small bulge at L4-L5. He recommended an EMG/NCV. PX 5.

Petitioner underwent the recommended EMG and nerve conduction studies on
February 28, 2013. Dr. Kim, a physiatrist, performed these studies. He noted a history of an L5-
51 discectomy in 1981. He also noted a history of work accidents in August and Octoher 2012.

He indicated that Petitioner complained of back and bilateral leg pain for which he was taking
Norco.

Dr. Kim described the EMG/NCV results as abnormal. He noted electrodiagnostic

evidence of bilateral sensory neuropathy and bilateral mild chronic L4 to S1 radiculopathy in
the lower extremities. PX 5.

On March 8, 2013, Dr. Hennessy reviewed the EMG/NCV results and indicated Petitioner
would likely need an L5-51 laminectomy and fusion. He noted that Petitioner wanted to try
conservative care first. He prescribed Norco and physical therapy. PX5.

Petitioner underwent physical therapy at Elmhurst Memorial Hospital between April 2
and May 16, 2013. The discharge summary of May 16, 2013 reflects Petitioner felt worse and
complained of severe spasms and radiating leg symptoms. PX5, 7.
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On April 19, 2013, Dr. Hennessy noted that Petitioner was now using a cane and seemed
worse rather than better. He again broached the subject of surgery but noted Petitioner
wanted to try more therapy. He prescribed six more weeks of therapy along with X-rays. PX5.

REW

On May 13, 2013, Dr. Hennessy discussed the details-of the proposed surgefy with

Petitioner and his son. He recommended a discogram “pending approval by workers’
compensation.” PX 5. '

On May 20, 2013, Petitioner saw Dr. Gurevicius at Elmhurst Memorial Hospital’s Pain
Center. The doctor noted that Petitioner reported doing well following a 1980 lumbar fusion
- “until eight months ago, while moving heavy tables.” He described Petitioner as receiving no.
relief from an epidural injection performed in January. He indicated Petitioner was walking
with a cane with a right leg limp. On examination, he noted positive straight leg raising
bilaterally. He agreed with Dr. Hennessy’s recommendation of discography. PX 5.

Petitioner underwent a CT discogram at L3-L4 and L4-L5 on May 31, 2013. The CT scan
showed Grade 1 anterior spondylolisthesis at L5 rglative to S1 secondary to pars defects on the
right at L5 with sclerotic/stress response on the left side. PX5.

On May 3, 2013, Dr. Hennessy noted some inconsistencies in the discogram results but
nevertheless recommended a laminectomy and fusion at L4 to S1. He indicated Petitioner
might need a repeat MRI “once WC issues [are] cleared up.” PX5.

" At Respondent’s request, Dr. An re-examined Petitioner on June 18, 2013. He noted
that Petitioner described his condition as worsening after the February examination. He also
noted the discogram results. On re-examination, he noted significant tenderness to palpation
in the L4-15 and L5-51 region and paraspinal muscles, along with a “quite limited” range of
motion. He again recommended conservative care, with “better pain management”, including
facet injections, possible rhizotomy, anti-inflammatory medication and non-narcotic analgesics.
At one point in his report, he found Petitioner unable to work “because of his significant pain.”
He later indicated Petitioner could perform sedentary duty with no lifting over 15 pounds and
no frequent bending or twisting. With respect to the recommended fusion, he commented that
the outcome of such a surgery “is not predictable” for Petitioner. Resp Group Exh 1.

Dr. Hennessy operated on Petitioner’s back on August 8, 2013, performing a
laminectomy, foraminotomy and fusion with instrumentation from L4 to the sacrum. T.17. In
his operative report, he noted scarring due to a prior right L5-51 laminctomy, After debriding
the scar tissue, he performed a TLIF at the left L5-$1 and a bilateral PLIF at L4-L5, inserting
cages, rods and pedicle screws. He prescribed a brace and bone stimulator at discharge. PX 5.

At the initial post-operative visits in August, September and October 2013, Dr. Hennessy
noted significant improvement, indicating Petitioner was no longer confined to a wheelchair.
On December 27, 2013, he described Petitioner as reporting a “little setback” but noted
Petitioner was continuing to walk on his own. He obtained repeat lumbar spine X-rays, which
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demonstrated a solid fusion and no loosening of the hardware. He prescribed Mobic, refilled

the Norco and recommended that Petitioner stay off work and continue attending therapy. PX
N :

On February 7, 2014, Dr. Hennessy recommended additional therapy and continued to
keep Petitioner off work. PX5.

On May 23, 2014, Dr. Hennessy prescribed a four-week course of work conditioning, to
be foliowed by a functional capacity evaluation. He released Petitioner to light duty. PX5.

On May 27, 2014, Petitioner’s counsel sent Dr. Hennessy’s May 23, 2014 records to

Respondent’s counsel and requested ongoing payment of temporary tota! disability benefits.
PX 5.

On July 25, 2014, Dr. Hennessy continued the light duty restriction and recommended
eight more weeks of work conditioning, PX 5.

On July 28, 2014, Petitioner’s counsel sent Dr. Hennessy’s July 25, 2014 note to
Respondent’s counsel. in his cover letter, Petitioner’s counsel requested the ongoing payment
of benefits “unless the City can provide restricted work.” PX5.

On August 15, 2014, Dr. Hennessy placed work conditioning on hold and took Petitioner
off work due to regression. He recommended a lumbar spine CT scan and MRI, to be
performed with and without contrast. PX 5.

On August 18, 2014, Petitioner’s counsel sent Dr. Hennessy’s August 15, 2014 records to
Respondent’s counsel. Petitioner’s counsel requested authorization of the recommended
studies and ongoing payment of temporary total disability benefits. PX 5.

On September 19, 2014, Dr. Hennessy recommended a pain management consuliation
and directed Petitioner to remain off work. PX 5.

On October 1, 2014, Petitioner’s counsel sent Dr. Hennessy’s note to Respondent’s
counsel. He requested that Respondent authorize the pain management consuitation and
continue to pay weekly beneﬁts. PX5.

On December 19, 2014 Dr. Hennessy again recommended a pain management
consultation. He continued to keep Petitioner off work. PX5.

On December 22, 2014, Petitioner’s counsel sent Dr. Hennessy's December 19, 2014
note to Respondent’s counsel. He requested authorization of the consultation and ongoing
payment of benefits. PX5.
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On February 9, 2015, Dr. Katzovitz, Petitioner’s internist, noted that Petitioner was still

taking Gabapentin for moderate low back pain but felt the medication was making him drowsy.
She adjusted his dosage. PX9.

On March 6 and May 11, 2015, Dr. Hennessy directed Petitioner to remain off work and
undergo sacroiliac injections. Petitioner’s counsel requested authorization of these injections

via letter on May 12, 2015. PX 5. [It appears Petitioner underwent these injections but no
records are in evidence.]

At Respondent’s request, Dr. An examined Petitioner a third time on August 14, 2015.
He noted ongoing complaints of back pain radiating into the right buttock and down the right

leg, despite the surgery and subsequent care. He noted that Petitioner recently underwent
sacroiliac injections “which did not help.”

On re-examination, Dr. An noted a well-healed surgical incision, some tenderness to
palpation in the lumbosacral region, particularly on the right side, and a limited range of
motion. He reviewed post-operative imaging studies. He indicated these studies showed good
positioning of the screws and “good decompression without any evidence of hematoma.”

.Dr. An found Petitioner’'s diagnoses to be “consistent with multi-level lumbar
spondylosis and spondylolisthesis, which are all pre-existing findings.” He described the status
of the fusion as "not certain,” based on the imaging studies he reviewed. He recommended
flexion-extension X-rays and a lumbar spine CT.scan to better evaluate the fusion and the
positioning of the pedicle screws. He indicated Petitioner could undergo a functional capacity
evaluation to set permanent restrictions if these studies did not reveal any problems. He
addressed permanency as follows: “I do believe that [Petitioner] will have some permanent
partial disability due to his condition and chronicity of his pain.” Resp Group Exh 1.

At Dr. Hennessy's recommendation, Petitioner underwent flexion-extension X-rays on
September 25, 2015. The interpreting radiologist noted post-operative changes, considerable
demineralization of L5 and no subluxation during flexion and extension. PX5.

On October 19, 2015, Dr. Hennessy directed Petitioner to remain off work and undergo
a pain management consultation, followed by a functional capacity evaluation. PX 5.

Petitioner underwent a functional capacity evaluation at Midwest Physical Therapy
Center on November 19, 2015. T. 18. The evaluator noted that Petitioner reported 30%
improvement after the fusion and was still experiencing back and bilateral leg pain ranging
from 5/10 to 7-8/10 for which he was taking Norco. The evaluator also noted that Petitioner

was using a cane and reported being unable to tolerate more than brief intervals of walking and
sitting before requiring a position change. '

The evaluator noted Petitioner’s age (79). He described Petitioner as cooperative but
“limited during the examination by pain.” He indicated Petitioner complained of 9/10 pain with

6
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limited material handling and that “safety issues were raised which would preclude him from
safely performing his work duties.” He found Petitioner capable of only sedentary work and
unable to resume his former medium physical demand level job. The last sentence of his report
reads as follows: “The client cannot safely return to his work duties.” PX 4.

On January 8, 2016, Dr. Katzovitz noted that Petitioner had undergone three injections
and was “now recommended to have nerve stimulator.” She indicated Petitioner was
considering this recommendation. PX 9.

On April 25, 20186, Dr. Katzovitz issued a nhote addressed “to whom it may concern,”
indicating that Petitioner was under her care for failed back syndrome, was “unable to stand for

prolonged periods” or lift/push/pull any significant weight, and would be unable to work for “at
least the next six months.” [See attachment to PX 6,]

On May 5, 2016, Rebecca Strisko, Deputy Commissioner of Respondent’s human
resources division [hereafter “Strisko”], wrote to Petitioner, informing him that, per the Act, he
was required to actively look for gainful employment “in order to continue receiving disability

“benefits.” Strisko enclosed job logs. She directed Petitioner to “complete at least 10 job
searches each week” and submit those logs in person on a weekly basis to an “injury on duty
manager” based at 30 North LaSalle Street. Strisko also enclosed a “request for reasonable

accommodation” form. She informed Petitioner that completion of this form was strictly
voluntary. [See attachment to PX 6.] '

On May 25, 2016, Petitioner’s counsel sent a letter to Respondent’s counsel, Strisko and
a representative of Respondent’s Committee on Finance, referencing Strisko’s May 5" letter.
Petitioner’s counsel indicated that, in his view, the completion of job logs did not constitute
vocational rehabilitation. He indicated that formal rehabilitation efforts should begin, given
Petitioner’s advanced age and sedentary duty restrictions. [See attachment to PX 6.]

On June 23, 2016, Petitioner underwent an injection. A note attached to PX 6 reflects
that Dr. Brennan administered this injection and directed Petitioner to remain off work.
Petitioner continued obtaining medication from Dr. Katzovitz thereafter.

On April 7, 24 and 28, 2017, Petitioner’s counsel wrote to Respondent’s counsel,
enclosing updated job search logs and requesting a response to his demand for the

reinstatement of weekly benefits. He indicated he planned to obtain a trial date on May 8,
2017. [See attachment to PX 6.}

On May 3, 2017, Petitioner’s counsel filed a “Petition for Legal Fee and Penalties,”
alleging that Respondent wrongfully discontinued the payment of benefits in February 2017,
despite the transmission of job logs and medical records.

On May 12, 2017, Dr. Katzovitz noted that Petitioner continued to take Meloxicam,
Gabapentin and Tramadol (as needed) for chronic lower back pain. PX 9.

7
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Petitioner testified Respondent never offered him sedentary duty or vocational
rehabilitation. He never met with a vocational counselor. He received a letter from
Respondent directing him to complete and turn in job logs. He regularly turned in these logs
(PX 8) until June 9, 2017. T. 19. [The logs in PX 8 list employers (contacted almost exclusively
via telephone) on March 16, 2017, March 23, 2017, April 6, 2017, April 20, 2017, April 28, 2017,
May 12, 2017, May 19, 2017, May 26, 2017, June 2, 2017 and June 9, 2017.] Respondent
stopped paying him duty disability benefits as of January 20, 2017. He has not retired. He is
still employed by Respondent. He has received no benefits from Respondent since January 21,
2017. T.20. He receives regular Social Security and Medicare benefits. T. 20.

Petitioner testified he is no longer engaged in active care such as physical therapy. He -
sees his personal care physician every three months for medication refills. T.22. His back feels
stiff and tired. When he gets up from a seated position, he must stand for a bit before
beginning to move. His legs give out when he walks. T. 25. He takes medication for his
symptoms and performs home exercises that Dr. Hennessy prescribed. T. 23.

Petitioner denied undergoing any surgery since his August 2013 lumbar fusion. T.23.
He has not sustained any injuries to his back since October 30, 2012. T. 23-24.

Petitioner testified that Blue Cross/Blue Shield paid the bills relating to his fusion. He
does not want to have to repay Blue Cross/Blue Shield. T. 24.

Under cross-examination, Petitioner testified he injured his lower back at work in
approximately 1980. He underwent surgery following that injury. He has not injured his back
since the accident of October 30, 2012. T. 28-29. He ran the costs associated with his fusion
through his HMO. He presented his HMO card to his primary care doctor. He did not go
through workers’ compensation. T. 29-30. He did not advise Respondent’s workers’
compensation adjusters of his fusion. T.30. He is eligible to draw pension benefits from
Respondent but has not applied for these benefits. He has not applied to Respondent for
ordinary disability, either. T.31. He never requested vocational rehabilitation. Nor did he ask
to undergo computer training. T.31. He has never asked Respondent for ADA
accommodations. T.31. His job logs from March and April 2017 indicate he looked for
custodial positions. He signed these job logs. The logs reflect the employers he contacted were
not hiring. T.33. He cannot physically perform custodial work but he “was going to try it.” T.
34. He was “looking for anything [he] could get paid on.” T. 34. He did not apply to any
employers who were seeking to hire someone. T. 35. He found job leads in the newspaper. He
did not look for jobs in person. T.36. He spent a couple of hours per day going through the
Tribune, Times and RedEye, checking the job ads. T.37-38. When he called the numbers listed
in the ads, the employers asked him questions. When he told hem his age, they told him they
were not hiring. T.39. He does not have a computer at home. He has not thought about going

to the public library to take computer classes. T.39. He did not look for work in his
neighborhood. T.39. ‘
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On redirect, Petitioner reiterated that no vocational counselor offered him assistance.
He looked at “help wanted” ads in the newspaper. No one hired him due to his age. T. 40.

No witnesses testified on behalf of Respondent. Respondent’s documentary evidence
consisted of Dr. An’s three reports and a letter of July 21, 2015 indicating Petitioner faited to

appear for an examination on that date. Resp Group Exhibit 1.

Arbitrator’s Credibility Assessment

Petitioner came across as hard-working and believable. He was 65 years old when
Respondent hired him in May 2001. He successfully performed custodial duties for about
eleven years before his undisputed accidents in 2012.

Respondent’s examiner, Dr. An, noted no symptom magnification. In his last report, Dr.
An found it likely Petitioner would have “some permanent partial disability due to his condition
and the chronicity of his pain.” Resp Group Exhibit 1.

Petitioner’s functional capacity evaluation was valid.

Arbitrator’s Conclusions of Law Relative to Both Cases

In 12 WC 33432, did Petitioner establish a causal connection between his undisputed accident -
of August 17, 2012 and his current condition of ili-heing?

Petitioner’s testimony concerning his August 17, 2012 accident and subsequent
treatment was credible but not supported by medical records. Petitioner did not offer any
records from MercyWorks or Dr. Wehner. Petitioner acknowledged resuming full duty about
five days before his second accident of October 30, 2012 but testified he did not feel good at

that point. There is no evidence indicating that additional care was pending when Petitioner
returned to full duty.

On this very limited record, the Arbitrator is unable to find that Petitioner established a
causal connection between the August 17, 2012 accident and his current, post-fusion condition
of ill-being. The fusion did not take place until 2013 and there is no evidence indicating a

physician prescribed an MRI or broached the subject of surgery before the accident of October
30, 2012.

In 12 WC 38378, did Petitioner establish a causal connection between his undisputed work
accident of October 30, 2012 and his current lumbar spine condition of ill-being?

In 12 WC 38378, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner established a causal connection
between his undisputed lifting-related accident of October 30, 2012 and his current post-fusion
condition of ill-being. In so finding, the Arbitrator relies on the foliowing: 1) the fact that
Petitioner worked as a custodian for Respondent between 2001 and the accident {with the

9
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exception of the period Petitioner was off work following his earlier accident of August 17,
2012; 2) Petitioner’s credible description of the mechanism of injury; 3) the accident report of
October 30, 2012 (PX 1), which reflects Petitioner began experiencing low back and bilateral leg
pain after lifting a bucket that was full of water; 4) the histories recorded by Drs, Stevens,
O’'Connor, Hennessy and An; 5) Dr. Hennessy’s and Dr. An’s comments that Petitioner reported
doing well for many years following his earlier back surgery, which took place in approximately
1980 or 1981; and 6) Petitioner’s credible denial of any new back injuries after October 30,
2012. While Dr. An viewed Petitioner’s spondylolisthesis as a pre-existing condition, he
conceded in his first report that the accident aggravated this condition. Resp Group Exhibit 1.

In 12 WC 38378, is Petitioner entitled to medical expenses?

Petitioner placed medical in dispute in 12 WC 38378 but did not claim any unpaid
expenses. Petitioner offered into evidence print-outs of amounts paid by NAMMIL
{$13,204.82) and Blue Cross/Blue Shield ($230,788.10). PX 3. The parties agree Respondent is
entitled to Section 8(j} credit for medical expenses paid by its group carrier. They did not agree
as to a specific amount of credit. T. 5. Respondent disputes liability for medical expenses as
well as Petitioner’s request that he be held harmless against the payments made.

The Arbitrator finds Petitioner’s treatment in 12 WC 38378, including the surgery
performed by Dr. Hennessy, to be reasonable, necessary and causally related to the October 30,
2012 work accident. The surgery followed a long course of ultimately unhelpful conservative
care. Dr. An had reservations about the surgery but did not deem it unreasonable. He simply
indicated the outcome was “not predictable.” Resp Group Exhibit 1. No surgical outcome is
certain and, in fact, Petitioner initially had a good response.

The Arbitrator, having reviewed PX 3, notes that one of the NAMMIL payments, in the
amount of $71.06, and one of the Biue Cross/Blue Shield payments, in the amount of
$2,902.55, relate to Emergency Room care rendered on August 17, 2012, in connection with
the first case, 12 WC 33432. Petitioner did not claim medical expenses or a hold harmless
agreement in that case. The remaining payments clearly relate to care rendered after the
second accident, which is the subject of 12 WC 38378. In 12 WC 38378, the Arbitrator finds
that Respondent is entitled to Section 8(j) credit for the NAMMIL payments of $13,133.76 and

the Blue Cross/Blue Shield payments of $227,885.45, with Respondent holding Petitioner
harmless agamst said payments.

in 12 WC 38378, is Petitioner entitled to temporary total disability benefits from October 31,

2012 through October 16, 2015 and maintenance benefits from October 17, 2015 through the

hearing of June 14, 20177 Is Respondent liable for penalties and fees for failing to pay weekly
benefits from January 20, 2017 through the hearing? -

In 12 WC 38378, the parties agree Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from
October 31, 2012 {the day after the undisputed accident} through August 14, 2015 (the date of
Dr. An’s last examination). Petitioner claims additional temporary total disability through

10
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October 16, 2015 and maintenance from October 17, 2015 through the hearing of June 14,
2017. Arb Exh 2.

Respondent relies on Dr. An in arguing that Petitioner is not entitled to temporary total
disability benefits after August 14, 2015. That reliance is misplaced. Dr. An did not find
Petitioner to be at maximum medical improvement as of August 14, 2015. Instead, he
prescribed flexion-extension X-rays and a lumbar spine CT scan to rule out arthrosis or
problems with the spinal implant. He also recommended that Petitioner undergo a functional
capacity evaluation if these studies revealed no problems. Resp Group Exhibit 1. Petitioner
underwent the X-rays on September 25, 2015 and the evaluation on November 19, 2015.
Records in PX 9 reflect Petitioner underwent additional back-related care, including injections,
thereafter and was considering a spinal cord stimulator as of January 2016.

Based on the available treatment records, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s causally
related lumbar spine condition stabilized on June 23, 2016. This appears to be the date on
which Petitioner last underwent active care in the form of an injection. PX 6. Petitioner has
continued to undergo medication management with his internist since then. PX 9.

The Arbitrator also finds that Petitioner is entitled to maintenance from June 24, 2016
through the hearing of June 14, 2017. Petitioner’s job search efforts during this period were
less than perfect but he faced the following significant barriers to re-employment: advanced
age (81 as of the hearing}, limited education (tenth grade), narrow work history, sedentary duty
restriction and chronic leg and back pain. At no point in time did Respondent offer to help him
get past those barriers. Petitioner was not legally obligated to request vocational rehabilitation
to be entitled to maintenance {see Roper Contracting v. Industrial Commission, 349 . App.3d
500 (5" Dist. 2004)), but did so, through his attorney, on May 25, 2016. There is no evidence
Respondent responded to this request. Respondent failed to conduct a vocational assessment,

as required by the Commission rules. See Ameritech Services, inc. v. IWCC, 389 lil.App.3d 191,
207 (1% Dist. 2009). '

Based on the job logs and communications in PX 6 and PX 8, the Arbitrator further finds
that Respondent is liable for penalties and fees based on its failure to pay benefits from March
16, 2017 through June 14, 2017. This is a period of 91 days or 13 weeks. The Arbitrator views
Respondent’s conduct in failing to pay benefits during this period as unreasonable and
vexatious. Respondent’s expectation (expressed during cross-examination) that Petitioner
walk the streets to canvass prospective employers was not logical. Nor was it consistent with
its examiner’s finding of a chronic pain condition or its directive of May 5, 2016, which said
nothing about job contacts having to be in person. The Arbitrator finds Respondent liable for
Section 19(} penalties in the amount of $2,730.00 ($30/day x 91 days), Section 19(k} penalties
in the amount of $3,249.61 (50% of the $6,499.22 in benefits awarded from March 16, 2017
through June 14, 2017) and $1,299.84 in Section 16 attorney fees (20% of $6,499.22).

11






12 WC 38378

Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)88, | [ ] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund {§8{(c)18)
[:I PTD/Fatal denied
I_—__—J Modify & None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Isadore McKennie,

Petitioner,

VS. : NO: 12 W(C 38378

City of Chicago,

Respondent. 2 0 H W C C 0 2 5 5

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of penalties, and being advised of the

facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed July 19, 2017 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

‘No county, city, town, township, incorporated village, school district, body politic or
municipal corporation is required to file a bond to secure the payment of the award and the costs
of the proceedings in the court to authorize the court to issue such summons. 820 ILCS
305/19(f)(2). Based upon the named Respondent herein, no bond is set by the Commission. The
party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall ﬁle with the Commission
a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.
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 STATE OF ILLINOIS ) | ] mjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. |_] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) [ Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Isadore McKennie Case #12_ WC 38378
Employee/Petitioner
v Consolidated cases: 12 WC 33432
City of Chicago

Employer/Respondent ‘ 2 0 I W C C 0 2 5 5

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Molly C. Mason, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on 6/14/17. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on
the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document. .

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hllinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

l:] Was there an employee-employer relationship?
D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?
[:I Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
D What were Petitioner's earnings?
D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
X Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary'? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. X] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
Cl1TPD <] Maintenance XTID
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. Eﬂ Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

SrmQmMEYQW

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwce.il.gov
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On 10/30/12, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.
In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $38,995.06; the average weekly wage was $749.90.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 76 years of age, married with 0 dependent chuldren.

Petitioner Aags received all reasonable and necessary medical services.
Respoﬁdeﬂ't"?tdfipa{{a all 'appropriate charges for ail reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $32,997.39 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $83,993.25 for maintenénce, and $0
for other benefits, for a total credit of $116,990.64.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $13,133.76 (NAMMIL payments) and $227,885.45 (BC/BS

payments) under Section 8(j) of the Act, with Respondent holding Petitioner harmless against said payments.
Arb Exh 2. PX3.

ORDER

The parties agree Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from October 31, 2012 through August 14, 2015.
Arb Exh 1. The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner was also temporarily totally disabled from August 15, 2015
through June 23, 2016 (the date of the last injection, based on the records in evidence) and was entitled to
maintenance thereafter from June 24, 2016 through the hearing of June 14, 2017. The Arbitrator finds
Petitioner’s weekly TTD and maintenance rate to be $499.94 based on the stipulated average weekly wage.

Respondent is entitled to credit in the amount of $116,990.64, per the parties’ stipulation, for the temporary total
disability and maintenance benefits it paid. Arb Exh 1.

For the reasons set forth in the attached decision, the Arbitrator finds Respondent acted unreasonably and
vexatiously in refusing to pay weekly benefits from March 16, 2017 through June 14, 2017, a period of 91 days
or 13 weeks. The Arbitrator finds Respondent liable for $2,730.00 in Section 19(1) penalties, $3,249.61 in
Section 19(k) penalties and $1,299.84 in Section 16 attorney fees.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits at the rate of $449.44 per week for a period
of 225 weeks representing 45% loss of use of the person as a whole under Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. '

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal resuits in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.
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Signature of Arbitrator Date
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. & Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e}18)
SANGAMON [_] pT/Fatat denied
D Modity IE None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Matt Wood,
Petitioner,
vs. | NO: 13 WC 41175

City of Springfield Fire Department,

Respondent, 20IWCC0256

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of occupational exposure/disease,
causation, medical expenses, temporary total disability and nature and extent, and being advised
of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, with changes as stated
herein, said decision being attached hereto and made a part hereof.

While the Commission agrees with the Arbitrator’s ultimate determination that Petitioner
sustained an occupational disease that arose out of and in the course of his employment on or
about 9/6/13, and which was causally related to his employment, we differ slightly as to the
analysis. Specifically, the Commission notes that pursuant to Johnston v. Illinois Workers’
Comp. Commission, 80 N.E.3d 573, 414 Iil. Dec. 430 (2" Dist. 2017), the employer need only
present “some” evidence to support a finding that something other than the claimant’s
occupation as a firefighter caused his condition in order to rebut the presumption set forth in
§6(f) of the Occupational Diseases Act,

Along these lines, and contrary to the Arbitrator’s determination, the Commission finds
that Respondent successfully rebutted this presumption by submitting evidence of an alternative
cause of Petitioner’s kidney cancer in the form of the opinion of Dr. Eggener, Respondent’s §12
examining physician. However, such a ruling does not end the analysis, let alone doom
Petitioner’s claim. Indeed, as the court in Joknston stated, “... if the employer is successful in
rebutting the section 6(f) presumption, at that point the claimant may, if the evidence supports it,
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assert that his occupational exposure was ¢ cause of his condition of ill-being, along the lines of
Sisbro, thus entitling him to an award of benefits.” Johnston, 80 N.E.3d at 586.

In the present case, the Commission finds that Petitioner did just that -- proving by a
preponderance of the credible evidence that he suffers from an occupational disease arising out
of and in the course of his employment on or about 9/6/13 and that his occupational exposure as
a firefighter for more than 16 years was a contributing cause of his diagnosis of kidney cancer,
pursuant to Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 207 Ill. 2d 193, 797 N.E.2d 665, 278 Ill. Dec.
70 (2003), based on the persuasive opinion of Dr. Orris, Petitioner’s unimpeached testimony and
the record taken as a whole.

All else otherwise affirmed and adopted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Arbitrator’s decision
dated 3/1/19 is affirmed and adopted with changes as stated herein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $917.34 per week for a period of 4-3/7 weeks, from 9/27/13 through 10/27/13, that
being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner the reasonable and necessary medical expenses relating to his kidney cancer from

9/6/13 through 1/29/19 as set forth in PX9, pursuant to §8(a) and the fee schedule provisions of
§8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $721.66 per week for a period of 50 weeks, as provided in §8(d)2 of the Act, for the

reason that the injuries sustained caused permanent partial disability to the extent of 10% person-
as-a-whole.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury;
provided that Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claims and demands by any
providers of the benefits for which Respondent is receiving credit under this order.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: MAY { - 2028
o: 3/10/20

DDM: pmo

52
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ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
wn s, -~ NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

'WOOD, MATT Case# 13WC041175
Employee/Petitionerr )

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD FIRE DE_PT 2 0 I W C C 0 2 5 6
Employer/Respondent

On 3/1/2019, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Mllinois Workers' Compensation
“Cornmission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed. :
1€ the Commission reviews this awafd, interest of 2.45'

b efore the date of payment; however, if an employee’s
a-~waltd, interest shall not accrue. '

7o shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:
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FARTIN J HAXEL

510 E ADAMS ST

S PRINGFIELD, IL 62701
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PO BOX 335
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. STATE OF ILLINOIS )

)SS.
" cOUNTY OF SANGAMON )

[ | mjured Workers’ Benefit Furid (§4(d))
D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
[ ] second mjury Fund (§8(e)18)

S 4 AV g e XNone of the above
e um o wF L RS -t
ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

MATT WOOD, Case #13 WC 41175
Employee/Petitioner
v. : Consolidated cases:
CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, FIRE DEPARTMENT,
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Maureen Pulia, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Springfield, on 1/29/19. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

E] Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
[ ] What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Eﬂ Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the mjury‘?

[:] ‘What were Petitioner's earnings?

D ‘What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

[ ] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

‘What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ 1TPD ] Maintenance BJTID

L. IZ] What is the nature and extent of the injury?

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent‘?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

“rmomEUQW
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" FINDINGS

On 9/6/13, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being s causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $71,552.52; the average weekly wage was $1,376.01.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 36 years of age, married with no dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $00.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, $D0.00 for maintenance, and $00.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $00.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $00.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $917.34/week for 4-3/7 weeks,
commencing 9/27/13 through 10/27/13, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services related to petitioner’s kidney cancer from
9/6/13 through 1/29/19, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall

hold petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this
credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

- Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $721.66/week for 50 weeks, because
the injuries sustained caused the 10% loss of the person as a whole, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

2/19/19
Signature of Arbitrator ) Date

ICArbBec p. 2 M AR , - 2019
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THE ARBITRATOR HEREBY MAKES THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS OF FACT:

WL

Petitioner, 4 36 year old firefighter, alleges he sustained an occupational disease that arose out of and in

the course of his employment by respondent on 9/6/13. Petitioner was hired by respondent as a firefighter in
. May of 2003. Prior to this petitioner was employed as a firefighter for the City of Springfield, MO since

February of 1998. He was subsequently promoted to a Driver Engineer, which he was on the alleged date of
injury. Three years ago petitioner was promoted to Captain. The parties stipulated, and the arbitrator took
judicial notice that petitioner was not obese. Petitioner testified that prior to his cancer diagnosis he was never
diagnosed with hypertension. He was diagnosed with hypertension 1.5 to 2 years ago. Petitioner also denied
any problems with his kidneys, including injuries, prior to 9/6/13. Petitioner never smoked. He testified that

when he was 3 years old he had open heart surgery. He also testified that he has had arrythmia over the years.

Petitioner testified that his firefight duties were the same while in all three positions, and included actively
fighting fires. Petitioner testified that he responded to approximately 4 fires a month. Petitioner has been

assigned to Stations 1, 4 and 5. These are the busiest stations and petitioner testified that he worked out of these
stations about 2 the time he has been employed by respondent.

In all three positions petitioner held with respondent, he would respond to fires at residential homes,
structure fires, building fires, and fires in cars, rubbish and brush. He testified that most of the building fires
were residential fires, When petitioner responds to a fire he wears his bunker gear which consists of a fire suit,

pants, coat, helmet, gloves, hat, mask, and a self contained breathing apparatus (SCBA), which is like a back
pack that carries a cylinder that holds air. - |

Petitioner testified the procedures for wearing a SCBA changed within the past four years. From the time
he was hired by respondent, until four years ago, he would put the SCBA on while on his way to the fire scene.
Once at the scene he would actively wear it until the fire was out. Once the fire was extinguished and the duties
switched from active firefighting to overhauling, the SCBA would be unhooked. Overhauling involved looking
for hidden fires in floors, walls and ceilings by pulling these materials apart to make sure the fire was fully
extinguished. He testified that while these duties were being performed there would still be smoke in the
structure, but not as bad as when the flames were still active. Once the overhaul procedure was complete, the
crew would start cleaning up tools and putting stuff back in the truck. Once they returned to the station he and

“the others would clean up the tools and get things ready for the next call. They would also take off their bunker
gear and clean off the dirt.

When the new procedures went into effect 4 years ago, the firefighters would keep their SCBA on until the

on shift safety officer determined, with the LEL monitor, that all gas levels were in the normal range and it was
Page 3
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safe for the firefighters to take the equipment off. Petitioner testified that this resulted in the firefighters masks
remaining on longer while they were performing their overhaul duties. Other changes that went into effect four
years ago included the firefighters having a spare set of gear ready if the one from the fire was dirty and needed
to be cleaned. They use the backup set of gear if they do not have time to wash the gear from the fire before the
next fire call. Additionally, he testified that in the past few years there have been wet wipes at the scene for the

firefighters to use to clean their face, neck, and hands before leaving the fire.

On 7/29/13 petitioner presented to Express Care with complaints of lower left quadrant abdominal pain
and a fever. Labs were performed and petitioner was diagnosed with abdominal pain and discharged. He was

instructed to go to the emergency room at Memorial Medical Center, and follow up with Dr, Sandercock, his

primary care physician.

That same day, petitioner presented to the emergency room at Memorial Medical Center for his abdominal
pain. His labs were reviewed. A CT of the abdomen and pelvis with contrast was performed. The impression
was descending colon diverticulitis, and right renal hypodense lesion. It was noted that given petitioner’s age it
may represent a hemorrhagic cyst. A neoplasm could not be excluded. Further characterization was
recommended with a follow-up CT renal protocol. He was diagnosed with diverticulitis and instructed to
followup with his PCP for a CT scan due to the cyst on his kidney.

On 7/31/13 petitioner presented to Dr. Sandercock, his PCP. Dr. Sandercock examined petitioner,

reviewed the test resulfs, and assessed imaging studies nonspecific abnormal findings and diverticulitis of colon.
His plan was CT Renal Mass Protocol.

On 8/30/13 petitioner underwent a CT of the abdomen and pelvis with renal mass protocol. The

impression was a 3.5 cm solid right upper pole renal mass worrisome for a papillary renal cell carcinoma. There

was no extension beyond the renal fascia and no renal vein tumor thrombus.

On 9/5/13 petitioner presented to Dr. Gillison’s office for evaluation of his renal mass. Petitioner reported
that he felt well. He reported that his maternal grandmother had breast cancer, and his maternal grandfather had
colon cancer. Dr. Gillison discussed his impressions with petitioner and Dr. David Lieber, the urologist. Dr.

_Gillison’s impression was that given the size of the tumor and the relatively high probability of it being a

malignant lesion it would need to be resected. Petitioner was referred to Dr. Lieber.

On 9/6/13 petitioner presented to Dr. Lieber. Dr. Lieber examined petitioner and assessed a right renal

mass, He recommended a laparoscopic robotic surgery to remove just the upper portion of the kidney where the
tumor was with negative margins,

Page 4
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On 9/27/13 the petitioner underwent a right laparoscopic partial nephrectomy with intraoperative
ultrasound, performed by Dr, Lieber. The postoperative diagnosis was right renal mass. Petitioner was
discharged from the hospital on 9/29/13 with work restrictions. Petitioner followed-up postoperatively with Dr.
Lieber on 10/7/13. He was released to unrestricted work on 10/28/13.

On 10/30/13 petitioner followed-up with Dr. Sandercock. He noted that he was doing well and had no
concerns. Petitioner’s family history includes breast cancer for maternal grandmother, colon cancer for maternal
grandfather, and diabetes in father, and paternal grandfather and grandmother. There was no mention of any
bladder cancer in any relative. Dr. Sandercock examined petitioner and assessed health maintenance,
hyperlipidemia, esophageal reflux, and renal cell carcinoma. The plan was that petitioner get a CBC with

differential blood test, Comp met panel, lipid panel with direct LDL, and automated urinalysis, His medications

remained the same. He was told to continue to follow up with the specialists,

On 1/19/15 petitioner presented to Dr. Sandercock for a Health Maintenance visit. He stated that he was

doing well overall. He was told to follow-up in a year.

On 2/17/15 Dr. Scott Eggener, with the University of Chicago Medicine & Biological Sciences, issued a
report on behalf of respondent, after evaluating petitioner. He noted that he regularly evaluates patients with
kidney masses in the clinic, performs frequent kidney surgeries, and has 15 separate scholarly publications
specifically on kidney cancer, Dr. Eggnér is an Associate Professor of Surgery at the University of Chicago and
subspecializes in the care of patients with urologic malignancies with a specific clinical and academic interest in
kidney cancer. He noted that petitioner has a medical history consisting of atrial fibrillation, diverticulitis,
gastroesophageal reflux, and hyperlipidemia. He noted that petitioner had surgeries that included a vasectomy,
appendectomy, ventricular septal defect, and robotic partial nephrectomy, Petitioner denied any chemical

exposure or secondhand smoke. He also reported no significant tobacco history.

Based on his evaluation of the clinical records, experience as a urologic oncologist, and specialty expertise
in kidney cancer, Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that based on the totality of the published medical literature,
there is no definitive association or causation evident for firemen being at an increased risk of developing
kidney cancer. Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that in the oirerwheiming majority of people diagnosed with
kidney cancer, there is no clear etiology or explanation why cancer develops. He was of the opinion thatin a
very small percentage of patients there is familial or generic abnormality that predisposes them to developing
kidney cancer, which petitioner did not have. With respect to other risk factors for developing kidney cancer,
Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that there has been a plethora of studies investigating potential etiologic factors,

that include use of tobacco products; obesity and other dietary habits; and more than 100 chemicals that were
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identified as potential etiologic factor leading to kidney cancer, with no individual agent having been uniformly

and definitively established as a causative agent in human kidney cancer. He noted that most of these agents

~ - have been associated with kidney disease in animal models alone and not definitively in human cancer. With

respect to occupational risks, Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that there is a very modest increased risk seen in
metal, chernical, rubber, and printing industry workers, He was further of the opinion that there is a very large

volume of peer reviewed medical literature that addressed the potential association of being a firefighter and the
risk of kidney cancer.

Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that the most useful and unbiased report appears to originate from the
Institute of Research Robert Suave, which ié a scientific research organization funded by both employers and
‘employees since 1980 which has been performing reviews of occupational risk factors for the development of
diseases. He noted that in 2005 they issued a report entitled “Risk of Kidney Tumors in Firemen.” He was of
the opinion that this review confirmed the most established risk factors for developing kidney cancer are
cigaretie smoking, obesity, and hypertension. He was further of the opinion that the review of 19 studies
confirms there is an approximately 2-fold increase in renal cell carcinoma in obese individuals. He noted that in
the review of 13 case control studies, the estimated risk of developing kidney cancer among patients with
hypertension was approximately 1.75, and a detailed review of 8 specific studies are available in the report, but
beyond the scope of his report. Despite not addressing the 8 specific studies, Dr. Eggener noted that the
conclusion of the reference report is “It is considered there is limited evidence that exposures entailed as a
firemen do increase the risk of kidney cancer. The evidence is limited and not sufficient because of a lack of
good exposure assessment in almost all studies. The implication is that there is not, automatically, a “more

likely than not” probability (greater than a 50% probability) that a kidney cancer in a fireman is the result of

exposures encountered in their occupation.”

Dr. Eggener also made reference to multiple recently published papers that specifically address the
potential association of being a fireman and kidney cancer. He noted that the IARC published a study in 2010
which reviewed 42 separate studies regarding a fireman and found no association with the development of
kidney cancer. He noted that in 2011 nearly 10,000 firefighters were exposed to smoke at the World Trade
Center following the September 11™ tragedy. Based on this he noted that the paper published in Lancet,
authored by Zeig-Ownes, found no increased incidence of kidhey cancer. He then made note that Pukkala
published a paper in Occupational Environmental Medicine in 2014 which reviewed data of all firemen, which
showed no increased risk of developing kidney cancer. He also referenced Daniels publishing a large series in

Occupational Environmental Medicine in 2014 which included data from 1950 to 2009 on 30,000 firemen from
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the U.S. that showed a 27% increased risk of developing kidney cancer, and a 29% increased risk of dying from
kidney cancer. But also noted that this association was only evident if a fireman worked on the force for 20 to
30 years, not those in firemen who had been working for less than 20 years. Dr. Eggener next noted a very large
metaanalysis from LeMaster in 2006 incorporating data from 32 separate studies and publishing the report in the
Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, which found an increased risk of 4 separate cancers in
firemen, a potentially increased risk of 9 other cancers in firemen, but no evidence to suggest that the incidence
" of kidney cancer was elevated among firemen. Dr. Eggener also noted a study published by IDE in
Occupational Medicine in 2014 that evaluated 2000 Scottish firemen that did show an increased risk of being
diagnosed with kidney cancer, He was of the opinion that the cohort of 2000 was very small compared to all the
other studies that he mentioned. He was further of the opinion that this publication was published in a less ..

" respected journal, and he considered it a lower level of evidence than all the other publications.

Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that it is agreed amongst the medical community that the criteria of
causation must include 7 specific items: consistency of the observed association; strength of association;
temporal sequence of events; dose response relationship; specificity of the association; biological piausibﬂity of
the observed association; and experimental evidence. Based on his knowledge of kidney cancer, known
etiologic factors for developing kidney cancer, and a review of all the available epidemiological studies
investigating the cause of kidney cancer, Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that it is inappropriate and not
evidence based to suggest that being a fireman conclusively leads to an elevated risk of developing kidney
cancer. He was of the opinion that if there was a significantly increased risk of developing kidney cancer as a
fireman, it undoubtedly would be a strong, consistent, and irrefutable finding in virtually all large studies. He
was of the opinion that the opposite is true, namely no consistency, occasionally conflicting results, and no
- obvious evidence of a link with kidney cancer. Dr. Eggener saw no evidence whatsoever to suggest an

association or causation evident for firemen being at an increased risk of developing kidney cancer, specifically
as it relates to petitioner.

On 7/20/16 petitioner presented to Dr. Sandercock for left lower quadrant and abdominal pain after

presenting to Express Care on 7/15/16. He was prescribed medications for his pain. Dr. Sandercock believed
the pain was most likely due to diverticulitis.

On 6/7/17 petitioner underwent a Section 12 examination performed by Dr. Peter Orris, at the request of
the petitioner. Dr. Orris is Chief of Occupational and Environmental Medicine at the University of Illinois
Medical Center in Chicago and Professor in Environmental and Occupational Health at the UIC School of
Public Health. In these capacities Dr. Orris has studied and taught how to diagnose and treat diseases related to
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the environmental and occupational exposures, particularly as they relate to firefighters. The examination

L

included a history, record review, medical literature review, review of Dr. Eggener’s report, and physical
examination. Petitioner’s past medical history included diverticulitis and renal cancer in 2013; born with a VSD
that was repaired in 1980 at 3 years of age; right bundle branch block secondary to surgery for the patent

- septum; and colonoscopy in June 2016 which showed diverticuli on left lower colon but not inflamed. His past
surgical history was appendectomy in 1997 and partial nephrectomy in 2013. His family history included breast
cancer for his material grandmother, and bladder cancer in his grandfather. Diverticulitis was also noted in his
mother. Petitioner denied he reported that anyone in his family had bladder cancer. Petitioner stated that no one

in his family has had bladder cancer. He noted that petitioner had a BMI of 27.

Following petitioner’s history, physical examination, literature review, and record review, Dr. Orris noted
that petitioner was diagnosed in 2013, after 17 years of fire service, with kidney cancer after an incidental
finding on an abdominal CT scan for pain attributed to diverticulitis. Dr. Orris was of the opinion that petitioner
has no history or other possible risk factors for the development of renal malignancies such as smoking,
hypertension, diabetes, or family members with kidney cancer. Dr. Orris believed it was more likely than not,
that petitioner’s firefighting for 17 years had contributed to the development of his renal call cancer. He based
this conclusion upon known exposures of firefighting and the literature that has evidence confirming the
causative relationship between being a firefighter and kidney cancer on a more likely than not basis. The -
literature Dr. Ortis was relying on is the application of Sir Bradford Hill’s classic list of characteristics of
studies to judge how likely it is that the association observed is causative. He also relied on the Dr. LeMasters’
study; a study of the Massachusetts cancer registry; the World Health Organization’s International Agency for
Research on Cancer review on firefighting; and, a study of a pooled cohort of US Firefighters from San

Francisco, Chicago, and Philadelphia. All these studies showed an association between firefighting and kidney
Ccancer. ‘

With respect to Dr. Eggener’s report, Dr. Orris was of the opinion that Dr. Eggener’s exclusion of
firefighting as a causative factor appeared to be based upon a reliance on a selective reading of the literature and
a misunderstanding as to how an etiologic causation conclusion is arrived at based upon the medical literature.
He believed Dr. Eggener’s report gave the characteristic requiring that a study must report a result unlikely to
happen by chance alone less than one in 20 times as primacy, before it is subjected to a weight of the evidence
review comprising the remaining Hill characteristics. Dr. Orris believed that such an approach allows him to
incorrectly characterize any studies where the Confidence Interval includes 1 as negative and dismiss them from

further analysis. He was of the opinion that this approach is contrary to the original concepts and accepted
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methodology. Dr. Orris also disagreed with Dr. Eggener’s 3% conclusion as he did not explain his personal
standard for “definitive association or causation evident”. He also disagreed with Dr. Eggener when he noted
that he believes the literature should provide evidence that “uniformly and definitively” establishes a causative
link. Dr. Orris noted that the requirement that each study conducted, no matter what the design, uniformly
showed an association between kidney cancer and firefighting, is not a scientifically accepted criteria for a
causation conclusion. He was of the opinion that this criteria would appear to eliminate such well known
carcinogens as benzene, cigarette tar, and asbestos. He was of the opinion that the medical literature, by its very

nature, cannot provide uniformity in either risk or conclusions which expert opinion based on accepted scientific
methodology.

Dr. Orris was of the opinion that Dr. Eggener’s personal approach to causation was most evident when he
said “most of these aforementioned agents have been associated with kidney cancer in animal models alone and
not definitively in human cancer.” Dr. Orris was of the opinion that the use of animal testing to identify
probable human carcinogens has been a mainstay of both government policy and scientific consensus. He was
further of the opinion that finding a chemical producing cancer in two animal species is well accepted as making
it likely that it causes cancer in humans as well without the need to wait 40 years and “count the bodies.” Dr.
Orris was of the opinion that Dr. Eggener’s primary reliance on “the most useful and unbiased report appears to
originate from the Institute of Research Robert Suave ...”, is an excellent review but it is not a consensus

- statement by an expert committee or government body, or one developed by a professional society but rather is a

monograph produced for a workers compensation insurance agency in Canada.

Dr. Orris was of the opinion that of the 13 studies that are looked at with respect to kidney cancer and
firefighting, 9 demonstrated an elevated risk which ranged to a high in several studies of over a fourfold increase
or a relative risk of over 4.0. He also noted that the report author stated that “supported studies also include
strong associations, the relative risk in the case control study being close to 5, after correction for age and

tobacco smoking.” Dr. Orris was of the opinion that it is clear therefore, from the primary reference relied upon
by Dr. Eggener, that firefighting is at least an equal and perhaps a stronger causative factor than either obesity or
hypertension. Dr. Orris was of the opinion that Dr. Eggener seeked to dismiss the literature quoted in
McGegor’s report, highlighting a potential causative relationship between firefighting and renal cell cancer. Dr.
Orris believed that in doing so Dr. Eggener avoided reporting the report author’s evaluation of this literature,
summarized in part with the statement that “the studies supporting the hypothesis are larger and in some cases
have information about exposure assessment. None of the studies not supporting the hypothesis is of similar

technical standard.” Dr. Orris summarized that it is unfortunate that Dr. Eggener quoted the conclusions of the
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~ - author only selectively to support his preconceived notion as to the lack of a relationship between firefighting
and renal cell cancer. Dr. Orris was of the opinion that Dr. Eggener did not report the authors description of a
number of methods for specific case analysis and assessment or causation, and concludes that despite the limited
evidence available in the literature “...it would appear that kidney cancers amongst fireman are more likely to
be due to occupational exposures if they occur after employment for 20 years or more.” Dr, Orris went on to
state that Dr. Eggener’s opinion that the IARC Study published in 2010 that reviewed 42 separate studies
regarding a fireman found no association with the development of kidney cancer, is not an accurate statement as
several of the articles reviewed demonstrated an association between firefighting and kidney cancer. Dr, Orris
believed that Dr. Eggener’s reliance on a paper published in Lancet authored by Zeig-Owens that found no
increased incidence of kidney cancer is an entirely accurate report of the purpose and findings of this paper. Dr.
. Orris was of the opinion that this paper was actually designed to compare firefighters exposed to the WTC
smoke and those firefighters not so exposed. He noted that the chart on page 902 of the report shows a nearly 3
fold increase in kidney cancer for exposed firefighters. He noted that when compared to SEER data as estimates

for the population as a whole they found lower rates among both groups which the authors ascribe to a health
worker effect, known to be strong in firefighters.

In summary, Dr. Orris was of the opinion that despite the existence of a second risk factor in that
petitioner was overweight/obese, he opined that it is likely that petitioners firefighting for 17 years contributed
to the development of his renal cell cancer. He further opined that when compared with obesity as a risk factor,
firefighting would appear to be a stronger factor in this causative pathway. Dr. Orris stated that his conclusions
are partially based upon petitioner’s exposures as a firefighter and the literature that has evidence confirming the

causative relationship between being a firefighter and kidney cancer on a more likely than not basis.

On 1/13/14 petitioner underwent a CT of the chest, abdomen and pelvis. The impression was interval
right partial nephrectomy; no left renal mass; abnormal appearance of the posterior aspect of the lateral segment
left lobe of the liver, that had a benign appearance, but should be followed as well; and, no evidence of thoracic
metastatic disease. That same day, he also followed-up with Dr. Lieber, He reviewed the CT scan results, He

noted that petitioner was doing extremely well overall with no complaints.

On 4/21/14 petitioner underwent a repeat CT of the chest, abdomen and renal mass protocol. The
impression was stable postoperative changes from right partial nephrectomy with no evidence of residual or
recurrent neoplasm; no evidence of metastatic disease in the chest or abdomen; and stable abnormal appearance

of the left lobe in the liver that has benign appearance, but could be further evaluated with MRI. On 4/29/14
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| petitioner followed-up with Dr. Lieber. He reviewed the CT scan results and noted that petitioner was going to

get an MRI for his liver. He told petitioner to return in 6 months after another follow-up CT scan.

_ On 5/7/14 petitioner underwent an MRI of the liver. The impression was no evidence of diffuse liver
disease.

On 10/1/14 petitioner underwent a repeat CT scan of the abdomen with renal mass protocol. The
impression was stable postoperative changes from the right partial nephrectomy; no new mass in either kidney;
no retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy; normal appearing liver. On 10/6/14 petitioner followed-up with Dr. Lieber

for review of the CT scan. Dr. Lieber reviewed the CT scan and noted that it showed no evidence of recurrent

residual disease. He told the petitioner to follow-up in one year.

On 6/9/15 Dr. Paul Pacheco performed a colonoscopy on petitioner. As part of his report, he
‘recommended petitioner undergo genetic testing and undergo a follow procedure in 5 years if genetic testing
was normal, Petitioner declined going under the recommended genetic testing. Dr. Pacheco made this

recommendation based on a belief that petitioner had multiple family members with bladder cancer. Petitioner

denied any family members have bladder cancer of his side of the family.

On 10/24/16 petitioner returned to Dr. Lieber after another follow-up CT scan. Dr. Lieber noted that the

CT scan from Qctober 2016 showed no evidence of localized recurrence or metastatic disease. He instructed
petitioner to follow-up in 2 years.

Petitioner followed-up for his diverticulitis on 11/29/16. Petitioner had a Health Maintenance visit with
Dr. Sandercock on 12/18/17 and reported that he felt well overall. On 6/4/18 petitioner saw Dr. Sandercock with

complaints that he might have a hernia following colon resection in the summer of 2017. He was referred to Dr.
Kuhnke for this problem.

On 6/28/18 Dr. Eggener drafted a report to Boyd Roberts, after reviewing the report of Dr. Orris. Dr.
Eggener was of the opinion that he was not aware of any specific experience or expertise Dr. Orris had with
kidney cancer, particularly as it relates to the presentation, clinical care, or outcomes of patients with kidney
cancer. Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that the majority of patients diagnosed with kidney cancer have no clear
or identifiable etiology. Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that the first 3 peer reviewed manuscripts Dr. Orris
mentioned to support an association between being a firefighter and the development of kidney cancer
paradoxically shows the exact opposite. He was of the opinion that the LeMasters 2006 paper clearly shows no
significant association between being a firefighter and developing kidney cancer with a nonsignificant p-value.

He was of the opinion that within Table 5 of the manuscript under the category “likelihood of cancer risks by
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criteria, “kidney cancer is listed as “unlikely” to be associated with being a firefighter”. Dr. Eggener was of the
~ opinion that the 2008 Kang article included absolutely no statistically significant association between being a
firefighter and kidney cancer. He was of the opinion that in the Section of the Discussion titled “Sites with
Evidence of Elevated Risks” there are 6 paragraphs summarizing the results and kidney cancer is not mentioned.
Lastly, Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that the Delahunt 1995 paper included no statistically significant finding
to suggest an association between being a firefighter and the development of kidney cancer. Dr. Eggener was of
the opinion that it is common and basic knowledge amongst epidemiologists, statisticians, and clinical

researches that statistically nonsignificant findings with a 95% confidence interval that span an odds ration of

1.0 cannot be used to claim an association.

Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that given petitioner’s approximate 16 years of firefighting service at the
time of his kidney cancer diagnosis, the article by Daniels in 2013 suggests a slightly increased risk of all
cancers when employed for 10 to 20 years, but then is of the opinion that the analyses from this paper distinctly
show no association between being a firefighter for 10-20 years and the development of kidney cancer. Dr.
Eggener was of the opinion that the chromophobe renal cell carcinoma petitioner was diagnosed with is a
relatively rare form of kidney cancer that has a completely different etiology compared to more common types
of kidney cancer. He was of the opinion that there is absolutely no evidence whatsoever in the medical

literature or elsewhere to suggest the development of this kind of kidney cancer being associated with being a
firefighter.

Dr. Eggener referenced a 2016 manuscript authored by Glass in Occupational Environmental Medicine
titled “Mortality and Cancer Incidence in a Cohort of Male Paid Australian Firefighters” that indicates no
increased risk of developing cancer based on being a firefighter. He was further of the opinion that in Table 4 of
the article there is no evidence to suggest a risk of kidney cancer for firefighters that have been employed for
less than 10 years, or 10 to 20. He noted an association in firefighter employed more than 20 years. Dr.
Eggener also investigated 4 separate medical textbooks with chapters on kidney cancer authored by DeVita,
Hellman, Rosenberg 10" Edition Cancer, Campbell’s Urology 11% edition, Harrison’s chapter 94, and Up To
Date educational tool. He was of the opinion that each of these sources had a section on potential risks for
developing kidney cancer, and none of them mention firefighting as a risk factor or even a potential risk factor.
Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that there is no clear, convincing, and overwhelming evidence to suggest any

known or definitive association with being a firefighter and developing chromophobe kidney cancer.

On 9/28/18 petitioner underwent a repeat CT scan of the chest, abdomen and pelvis with renal mass

protocol. The impression was no evidence of residual or recurrent neoplasm at the operative site, and no mew
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ot worrisome mass in either kidney; no retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy; tiny nodules involving the peritoneum
in the left midabdomen laterally that are likely related to interval colon resection; no evidence of thoracic
metastatic disease; ecstasia of the ascending thoracic aorta which measures 4 cm in diameter, and dilatation of
the aortic root which measures about 4 cm in diameter, and cardiomegaly with right chamber enlargement.

* Petitioner last followed-up with Dr. Lieber on 10/1/18. He reviewed the CT scan. He recommended another

CT scan in 2 years.

Petitioner offéred into evidence a NIOSH study entitled “Findings from a Study of Cancer among U.S.
Fire Fighters” where the firefighters studied showed higher rates of certain types of cancer than the general U.S.
population. They found that based on U.S. cancer rates that firefighters in our study had a greater number of
cancer diagnoses and cancer related deaths that were mostly digestive, oral, respiratory, and urinary cancers. It

also showed more cases of certain cancers among young firefighters, namely those under 65 years of age, having
more bladder and prostate cancers than expected.

Petitioner testified that after being returned to work full duty without restrictions on 10/28/13 he has never
been taken off work for his kidneys. Petitioner was promoted to Captain on 11/8/15 and makes more money
~ than he would if he was still working as a driver engineer. As a Captain petitioner goes in with crews for all

fires. Petitioner testified that none of his family members have a history of kidney cancer or bladder cancer.

Petitioner testified that some unpaid bills remain, and he made some out of pocket payments.
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C. WAS THE PETITIONER EXPOSED TO AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE THAT AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF
PETITIONER'S EMPLOYMENT BY RESPONDENT?

F. IS PETITIONER'S CURRENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE INJURY?

- Section 1(d) of the Occupational Diseases Act states:

Any condition or impairment of health of an employee employed as a firefighter, * * * which results
directly or indirectly from any bloodborne pathogen, lung or respiratory disease or condition, heart or
vascular disease or condition, hypertension, tuberculosis, or cancer resulting in any disability (temporary,
permanent, total, or partial) to the employee shall be rebuttably presumed to arise out of and in the course
of the employee’s firefighting * * * employment and, further, shall be rebuttably presumed to be causally
connected to the hazards or exposures of the employment. This presumption shall also apply to any hernia
or hearing loss suffered by an employee employed as a firefighter * * *, However, this presumption shall
not apply to any employee who has been employed as a firefighter * * * for less than 5 years at the time

he or she files an Application for Adjustment of Claim, concerning this condition or impairment with the
llinois Workers’ Compensation Commission. (820 ILCS 310/1(d).)

Given that the petitioner was employed as a firefighter for about 16 years on 9/6/13, pursuant to Section
1(d) of the Occupational Diseases Act, and the fact that petitioner has kidney cancer that resulted in a disability
to the petitioner, the petitioner’s kidney cancer shall be rebuttably presumed to arise out of and in the course of

his firefighting employment, and rebuttably presumed to be causally connected to the hazards or exposures of
the employment.

In the case at bar, each party offered the opinions of their own expert. For the petitioner it was Dr. Orris,
and for the respondent it was Dr. Eggener.

Both Dr. Orris and Dr. Eggener offered opinions with respect to a causal connection between the
petitioner’s kidney cancer and his work as a firefighter. Again, both based their opinions of various medical and
occupational literature that addressed the potential association of being a firefighter and the risk of kidney
cancer. Additionally, both Dr. Eggener and Dr. Orris at times even use the same literature to attempt to bolster

their opinion. However, the arbitrator finds it significant that neither doctor offered into evidence any of the
literature they cited or relied on.

Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that based on the totality of the published medical literature, there is no

definitive association or causation evident for firemen being at an increased risk of developing kidney cancer,
‘Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that in an overwhelming majority of people diagnosed with kidney cancer, there
is no clear etiology or explanation why the cancer develops, but noted that in a very small percentage of patients

there is familial or generic abnormality that predisposes them to developing kidney cancer, which petitioner did
not have.

Dr. Eggener also relied heavily on the 2005 report from the Institute of Research Robert Suave, entitled

“Risk of Kidney Tumors in Firemen.” He was of the opinion that this review confirmed the most established
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- risk factors for developing kidney cancer are cigarette smoking, obesity, and hypertension, which petitioner had
none of prior to developing kidney cancer. He was further of the opinion that the review of 19 studies confirms
there is an approximately 2-fold increase in renal cell carcinoma in obese individuals. However, the parties
specifically noted at trial that petitioner was not obese, and the arbitrator took judicial notice of this.
Additionally, Dr. Eggener noted in his medical records that petitioner’s BMI was only 27, lower than the BMI of
30, which is considered obese, based on evidence offered by petitioner. Dr. Eggener noted that the conclusion
of the reference report is “It is considered there is limited evidence that exposures entailed as a firemen do
increase the risk of kidney cancer. The evidence is limited and not sufficient because of a lack of good exposure
assessment in almost all studies. The implication is that there is not, automaticé,lly, a “more likely than not”

probability (greater than a 50% probability) that a kidney cancer in a fireman is the result of exposures
encountered in their occupation.”

Dr. Eggener also made reference to multiple recently published papers that specifically address the
potential association of being a fireman and kidney cancer. He made specific note of the JARC study in 2010
- which reviewed 42 separate studies regarding a fireman and found no association with the development of
kidney cancer; a paper published in Lancet, authored by Zeig-Ownes that found no increased incidence of
kidney cancer; a paper published by Pukkala in Occupational Environmental Medicine in 2014 which reviewed
data of all firemen, which showed no increased risk of developing kidney cancer; Daniels publishing of a large
series in Occupational Environmental Medicine in 2014 which included data from 1950 to 2009 on 30,000
firemen from the U.S. that showed a 27% increased risk of developing kidney cancer, and a 29% increased risk
of dying from kidney cancer, if a fireman worked on the force for 20 to 30 years, not in those firemen who had
been working for less than 20 years. Dr. Eggener also noted a very large metaanalysis from LeMaster in 2006
incorporating data from 32 separate studies and puBlishing the report in the Journal of Occupational and
Environmental Medicine which found no evidence to suggest that the incidence of kidney cancer was elevated
among fitemen. Dr. Eggener also noted a study published by IDE in Occupational Medicine in 2014 that
evaluated 2000 Scottish firemen that did show an increased risk of being diagnosed with kidney cancer, but tried
to diminish the results of this study by finding that the cohort of 2000 was very small compared to all the other
studies that he relied on, and in a less respected journal, and thus he considered it a lower level of evidence than

all the other publications. As noted above, none of these papers were offered into evidence,

In summary, Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that it is inappropriate and not evidence based to suggest that
being a fireman conclusively leads to an elevated risk of developing kidney cancer. He was of the opinion that

if there was a significantly increased risk of developing kidney cancer as a fireman, it undoubtedly would be a
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strong, consistent, and irrefutable finding in virtually all large studies. However, the arbitrator finds that that -
petitioner need not prove “conclusively” that his work as a firefighter exposed him to an elevated risk of

developing kidney cancer, or that he was at a “significantly” increased risk of developing kidney cancer.

Dr. Orris was of the opinion that petitioner has no history or other possible risk factors for the
development of renal malignancies such as smoking, hypertension, diabetes, or family members with kidney
cancer. Dr. Orris believed it was more likely than not, that petitioner’s firefighting for '17 years has contributed
to the development of his renal cell cancer, He based this conclusion upon known exposures of firefighting and
the literature that has evidence confirming the causative relationship between being a firefighter and kidney
cancer on a more likely than not basis. The literature Dr. Orris was relying on was the application of Sir
Bradford Hill’s classic list of characteristics of studies to judge how likely it is that the association observed is
causative; Dr. LeMasters’ study; a study of the Massachusetts cancer registry; the World Health Organization’s
International Agency for Research on Cancer review on firefighting; and a study of a pooled cohort of US

Firefighters from San Francisco, Chicago, and Philadelphia. All these studies showed an association between
firefighting and kidney cancer.

Dr. Orris was of the opinion that the use of animal testing to identify probable human carcinogens has
been a mainstay of both government policy and scientific consensus. He was further of the opinion that finding
a chemical produces cancer in two animal species is well accepted as making it likely that it causes cancer in

humans as well without the need to wait 40 years and “count the bodies.”

Dr. Orris was of the opinion that it is clear therefore, from the primary reference relied upon by Dr.
Eggener, that firefighting is at least an equal and perhaps a stronger causative factor than either obesity or

hypertension which petitioner did not have prior to developing kidney cancer.

Both Dr. Orris and Dr. Eggener accuse each other of quoting the conclusions of the authors only

selectively to support their preconceived position as to the relationship between firefighting and renal cell
cancer,

Dr. Orris opined that his conclusions were partially based upon petitioner’s exposures as a firefighter and

the literature that has evidence confirming the causative relationship between being a firefighter and kidney
cancer on a more likely than not basis,

Although Dr. Eggener was of the opinion that the chromophobe renal cell carcinoma petitioner was
diagnosed with is a relatively rare form of kidney cancer that has a completely different etiology compared to

more common types of kidney cancer and that there is absolutely no evidence whatsoever in the medical
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literature or elsewhere to suggest the development of this kind of kidney cancer being associated with being a
 firefighter, the arbitrator finds that neither Dr. Eggener nor Dr. Orris addressed a causal connection between
firefighting and the breakdown of specific types of kidney cancer. The arbitrator notes that all references either
for or against a causal connection between firefighters and kidney cancer discussed herein are as they relate to

kidney cancers in general, without any specific references made to any certain types of kidney cancer.

Respondent also argues that it had introduced other evidence which is contrary to the statutory rebuttable
presumption. Respondent relies on the record of Dr. Pacheco who noted a history of familial cancers that included a
grandfather with bladder cancer. Petitioner denied his grandfather had bladder cancer, and the arbitrator notes no other
such reference in any other of petitioner’s medical records. The respondent further argues that because petitioner
declined to undergo the genetic syndrome testing as recommended by Dr. Pacheco that this evidence constitutes evidence
sufficient to support a finding that something other than Petitioner’s occupation as a firefighter caused his condition, and
the presumption has therefore been rebutted. The arbitrator finds this argument without merit given that there is no
credible evidence to support a finding that petitioner’s grandfather had bladder cancer, or that any such testing would
have provided evidence to support a finding that something other than petitioner’s occupation as a firefighter caused

petitioner’s kidney cancer. The arbitrator finds it significant that petitioner, at the time of his kidney cancer diagnosis, did
not have any of the risk factors associated with kidney cancer.

Another piece of evidence the arbitrator finds persuasive is that for the more than 10 years the petitioner was
~working for respondent the procedures in place for removal of the SCBA had the firefighters removing their SCBA once
the active fire was out, but possibly before all the gas levels were within normal range. For ten years petitioner would
remove his SCBA with respondent when the fires were extinguished and then began the overhaul process of looking for
hidden fires in floors, walls and ceilings by pulling these materials apart to make sure the fire was fully

extinguished. This was done while there was still smoke in the structure, and possibly when gas levels were not
yet back to normal,

Based on the above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the respondent has failed to
overcome the rebuttable presumption that the petitioner’s kidney cancer arose out of and in the course of his
employment as a firefighter. Although the arbitrator finds Dr. Eggener and Dr. Orris argued their positions well,
the arbitrator finds the opinion of Dr. Eggener that “there is absolutely no evidence whatsoever in the medical
literature or elsewhere to suggest the development of this kind of kidney cancer being associated with being a
firefighter” to be unsupported by the credible evidence. The arbitrator instead finds credible evidence in the
various reports and literature relied upon by both experts to support a finding that the respondent has failed to

overcome the rebuttable presumption that petitioner’s kidney cancer arose out of and in the course of his work as a

Page 17



E T 201G CCOR5E6

fireman for respondent. Based on this finding, the arbitrator further finds the petitioner’s current condition of ill-being as

it relates to his kidney cancer to be causally connected to the hazards or exposures of the employment.

Lastly, the arbitrator relies on the appellate court’s language on this rebuttable presumption in Johnston v.
Hllinois Workers’ Compensation Commission, 2017 IL. App (2d) 160010WC. In that case the court concluded
~ that clear and convincing evidence was not necessary to rebut the presumption. Rather, the Respondent must
“offer some evidence sufficient to support a finding that something other than claimant’s occupation as a
firefighter caused his condition.” Johnston, at § 45 (emphasis in the original). The arbitrator finds the
respondent has failed to offer such evidence in this case, given that petitioner had none of the risk factors for

kidney cancer identified by Dr, Eggener or Dr. Orris at the time his kidney cancer was diagnosed.

J. WERE THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE PROVIDED TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY? HAS
RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES FOR ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERVICES?

Having found the petitioner’s kidney cancer arose out of and in the course of his ﬁreﬁghtmg employment
by respondent on 9/6/13, and his current condition of ill-being as it relates to his kidney cancer is causally
connected to the hazards or eﬁpbsures of his employment by respondent on 9/6/13, the arbitrator finds the
petitioner is entitled to all reasonable and necessary medical expenses related to the treatment of his kidney

cancer from 9/6/13 through 1/29/19, as outlined in peﬁtioner’s exhibit 9, pursuant to Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the
Act,

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold
petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this -

- credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.
K. WHAT TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE IN DISPUTE?
Having found the petitioner’s kidney cancer arose out of and in the course of his firefighting employment

on 9/6/13, and petitioner’s kidney cancer is causally connected to the hazards or exposures of his erhployment

by respondent, the arbitrator finds the petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from 9/27/13 through

- 10/27/13, a penod of 4 3/7 weeks,

L. WHEAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE INJURY?

For injuries that occurred after 9/1/11, according to 820 ILCS 305/8.1B(b) the Commission shall base its
determination of permanent partial disability based upon five factors including an AMA report, the occupation
of the injured employee, the age of the employee at the time of injury, the employee’s future earning capacity
and evidence of disability corroborated by treating medical records.
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With regard to subsection (i) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that no AMA rating was offered into -
evidence. The Arbitrator therefore gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (ii) of §8.1b(b), the occupation of the émployee, the Arbitrator notes that the
petitioner was a firefighter Driver Engineer at the time of the injury, and is currently working as a Captain.
Petitioner was promoted to this position after returning to work after achieving maximum medical
improvement. Petitioner continues to perform all firefighter duties in addition to his supervisory duties.

Petitioner has voiced no complaints regarding his ability to perform his duties. For these reasons the arbitrator
gives lesser weight to this factor,

With regard to subsection (iii) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that Petitioner was 36 years old on 9/6/13.
Following the injury on 5/19/16, petitioner underwent removal of a portion of his kidney that was cancerous.
He returned to his full duty job on 10/27/13. He was off work for about a month. Given petitioner’s relatively
young age on the date of injury, he may have many more decades of work with the fire department ahead of

him. Petitioner has reported no difficulties performing his job as a Captain, Therefore, the arbitrator gives
moderate weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner’s future earnings capacity, the arbitrator notes that
the petitioner has been promoted to Captain since the injury date, and is making more money in that position

than he was as a Driver Engineer on 9/6/13. Therefore, the arbitrator gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical
records, the Arbitrator finds the petitioner underwent removal of a portion of his kidney and was released to full
duty work without restrictions on 10/28/16. Petitioner has followed-up regularly éince that date to ensure that
the cancer has not returned or spread, To date, petitioner remains cancer free. Petitioner testified that he is able

to perform all the duties of his job without restrictions. He did not testify to any current complaints. Therefore,
the arbitrator gives greater weight to this factor. ‘

Based on the above'factor's, and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds the petitioner sustained a

permianent partial disability to the extent of 10% loss of use of his person as a whole pursuant to Section 8(d)2
of the Act.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. Eﬂ Affirm with changes l:] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) L—__] Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
SANGAMON [ ] prD/Fatal denied
D Modity None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS* COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Beverly Helm-Renfro,

Petitioner,
Vs. NO: 17 WC 18249
Illinois State Senate, ¥ o7 ‘ 7
20IWCCO2S
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causation, medical
expenses, temporary total disability and nature and extent, and being advised of the facts and
law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, while correcting a clerical error, said
decision being attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The Commission corrects a scrivener’s error in the Arbitrator’s decision at page 8
wherein the concluding sentence in the medical analysis section abruptly and inexplicably ends.
The Commission corrects this oversight by completing this sentence so that it corresponds to the
credit language set forth on p.2 of the Order form whereby Respondent was allowed “... a credit
for benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold petitioner harmless from any claims
by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this credit, as provided in

Section 8(j) of the Act.”
All else otherwise affirmed and adopted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Arbitrator’s decision
dated 11/20/19 is affirmed and adopted with changes as stated herein.
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«* % . NOTIGE'OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

HELM-RENFRO, BEVERLY

Employee/Petitioner

ILLINOIS STATE SENATE
Employer/Respondent

Case# 1T7TWC018249

20.4CCO257

On 11/20/2019, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 1.54% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this

award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

i

5703 SGROHANRAHAN DURR RABIN ET AL 0489 CMS RISK MANAGEMENT

GREGORY P SGRO
1119 S6THST
SPRINGFIELD, 1L 62703

4993 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
CHELSA GRUBB

500 5 SECOND ST

SPRINGFIELD, iL. 62708

0498 STATE OF ILLINOIS
ATTORNEY GENERAL

100 W RANDOLPH ST 13TH FL
CHICAGO, L 60601-3227

0502 STATE EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT
2101 S VETERANS PARKWAY

PO BOX 19255

SPRINGFIELD, IL 62794-9255

807 S SEVENTH ST 8M
PO BOX 19208
SPRINGFIELD, IL 627940208

CERTIFIED 23 2 trus and corect copy
pursuant t0-820 1LCS 305/ 14

NOV 20 2019

ndan O'Roiske, Assitent Secretery
Rinots Workers' Compensation Cmmisﬁaa
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ J1njured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))

[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

)SS.
COUNTY OF SANGAMON )

“, i, » JLLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
o B ARBITRATION DECISION

BEVERLY HELM-RENFRO, Case # 17 WC 18249
Employee/Petitioner

V. Consolidated cases:
ILLINOIS STATE SENATE,

Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Maureen Pulia, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Springfield, on 10/24/19. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operatmg under and subject to the 111111013 Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

X{ Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petmoner s employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's earnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

IE Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. D What temporary benefits are in dispute?

C]TPD {1 Maintenance L1TTD
L. ‘Z} What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. [_] Other

S—*?“EQfﬂmuow

ICArbDec 2/10- 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: vwww.iwce.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS -
On 3/7/17, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $48,984.00; the average weekly wage was $942.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 71 years of age, married with no dependent children.

Petitioner has not received all reasonable and necessary medical services.
Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $00.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, $00.00 for maintenance, and $00.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $00.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $00.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services from 3/9/17 through 5/3/18 for her contusions;
injuries to her right hip, thigh, and feet; and, injuries to her right shoulder, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2

of the Act. Respondent shall also reimburse petitioner for any out of pocket expenses related to this medical
treatment.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall

hold petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this
credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial diéability benefits of $565.20/week for 25 weeks, because
the injuries sustained caused the 5% loss of the person as a whole, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

‘M&e&/@x}@
11/11/19

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec p. 2

NGVZU zmg Page 2
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THE‘EARBITRATOR HEREBY MAKES THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS OF FACT:

Petitioner, a 71 year old Legislative Assistant, alleges she sustained an accidental injury that arose out of
and in the course of her employment by respondent on 3/7/17. Petitioner’s office is located on the 2™ floor of
the Capital building, 8 to 10 feet from the marble staircase. The petitioner testified that the marble staircase is
about 6-8 feet wide and the banister is about 8 inches wide. She also testified that the stairs are old, worn and
rounded at the edge, with some stairs being more rounded than others. Petitioner testified that the staircase
where she fell is not exclusively for use of the employees, and is open to the general public. She also testified
that there are multiple staircases in the building, and she is not directed to use any specific one. Petitioner

testified that her dress code at work is professional, and she must wear slacks, jacket and nice shirt, or dress,
with small heeled or flat shoes.

On 3/7/17 petitioner was wearing small heeled shoes. She got to work at 8:00 am and she worked until
5:30 pm. At the end of the day, petitioner had her purse and her coat in her right hand and began walking down
the set of stairs outside of her office. When she got to the 3% or 4™ step from the bottom of the stairwell, her left
foot hit the worn dip in the stair. Her left foot went out from under her, and she fell because she could not grasp
the banister because it was too wide to get her hand around. Petitioner injured her right side when it hit the
stairs. She testified that two fellow employees witnessed the accident. Petitioner reported the injury to her

supervisor, Kristen Richards, the next morning, and completed an accident report. She was sent home for three
days.

On 3/9/17 petitioner first sought treatment for her injuries with Dr. Winston Townsend, her primary care
physician. She gave a history of falling down 2-3 steps at work. She complained that she hurt everywhere,
especially her right hip and feet. Her complaints also included right shoulder pain. She described walking
down the steps in the State Capital and falling down 3 marble steps landing on her right hip and thigh and
injuring her left foot and shin during the fall. She stated that her pain was controlled with aspirin and Tramadol.
Petitioner was examined and x-rays were taken. She was assessed with right hip pain, contusion of the right

hip, and contusion of the left lower extremity. Petitioner was released to full duty work and instructed to follow
up as needed.

On 3/9/17 petitioner completed the TriStar employee’s notice of injury. She reported that as she was
leaving the building to go home she was walking down the marble stairs from the 2™ floor to the first floor, and
slipped, lost her balance and fell down the last three steps on the staircase. She noted that she injured her left
leg and foot, and landed on her right thigh and hip. The TriStar Supervisor’s Report of Injury or lllness was
reported. '
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On 3/9/17 the TriStar Witness Report was completed by Talia Hubbard-Williams. She wrote “while“
walking out, leaving from work I witnessed co-worker Bev Helm-Renfro fall forward from the marble staircase.
She fell from the 2" or 3™ stair up and when falling forward she twisted her body and fell on her right side then

more to her back. He feet were twisted (shoes off). No one touched her until she stated that she was ok. The
security guards came and asked if she was ok. She seemed shaken by the fall. Once she was helped up she stated

that she felt bruised and would be bruised in the moming. I walked her out of the building to her car”.

" On 3/9/17 the TriStar Witness Report was completed by Emily Ozier. She wrote “As [ was leaving
Tuesday night around 5:45, I turned to say goodbye to Bev and that’s when she started to fall over the last 2
steps. 1was afraid to grab her aftet her fall because she was a tangled mess. She managed to get up with the
helﬁ of 2 men who happened to be in the rotunda. The guard did make it a point to stop her and ask if she was

ok. Talia and 1 walked Bev to her car. She did mention she would feel this in the morning”.

On 3/13/17 petitioner returned to Priority Care and was seen by Nurse Practitioner Wendi Campbell. She
reported that her right shoulder was hurting. She stated that she did not have significant pain until the last few
days, and noticed pain only when she raised her arm. Her pain was in the mid bicep (lateral upper arm).
Petitioner had decreased range of motion. She was examined and assessed with right shoulder pain. She was
prescribed Meloxicam and Metaxalone. The possibility Qf a rotator cuff injury was discussed. She was given

. conservative measures. She was instructed to follow up in a week if not improved.

On 3/21/17 petitioner presented to Dr. Karolyn Senica at Orthopedic Center of Illinois, for her right
shoulder. She reported that she fell down some marble stairs at the State House and landed on her right
shoulder and right hip. She reported difficulty raising her arm since then and trouble getting her arm behind her
back. She noted that it hurt to lay on her right arm at night, and she believed she had lost some strength and
mobility. Dr. Senica noted that petitioner may have had some previous problems with her right shoulder in the
past since she had x-rays taken of her right shoulder on 2/19/16, and 12/21/16. Petitioner was examined and x-
rays of the right shoulder were taken. Dr. Senica’s impression was right shoulder pain; right shoulder injury
approximately 2 weeks ago; and, glenohumeral arthritis. Petitioner had difficulty raising her arm with decreased

motion and strength. An MRI of the right shoulder was ordered. She was also given some motion exercises.

On 4/18/17 petitioner underwent an injection of the right glenohumeral joint performed by Dr. David
Wright at Central Illinois Allergy & Respiratory Service.
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On 11/10/17 petitioner returned to Dr. Wright and reported that she continued to have problems with her

right shoulder. Dr. Wright performed a repeat injection, and instructed petitioner to avoid strenuous activities
and do frozen shoulder exercises.

On 12/19/17 petitioner presented to Dr. Chris Wottowa at Springfield Clinic for evaluation of her right
shoulder pain. She gave a history of her symptoms starting when she fell as she was walking down the stairs at
the Capital. She reported pain over the lateral aspect of the right arm with activity and at rest. She reported that
her symptoms had not improved since the injury. Dr. Wottowa examined petitioner and assessed a right

shoulder rotator cuff injury. He recommended a repeat injection of the subacromial space with a formal

physical therapy program for rotator cuff rehabilitation.

On 1/16/18 petitioner returned to Dr. Wottowa. She reported that her symptoms had improved with the
injection initially, but had worsened since. She reported continued pain with any type of activity involving her
right upper extremity. She stated that she was not able to get her physical therapy started. Following an
examination Dr. Wottowa’s impression was continued problems with right shoulder, impingement syndrome,

Dr. Wottowa performed another injection into the subacromial space of the right shoulder. He noted that
physical therapy was scheduled to begin the next week.

On 1/25/18 petitioner began a course of physical therapy at Springfield Clinic. Petitioner underwent 4
sessions before 3/22/18.

On 3/22/18 petitioner presented to Dr. Wottowa's physician’s assistant, David Purves, for follow-up of her
right shoulder pain. She reported temporary relief of pain after the injection. She reported pain with activity,
and her symptoms with activity away from the body, overhead, and at night. X-rays showed no acute pathology,
but showed moderate osteoarthritic changes at the acromioclavicular joint. Purves examined petitioner and his
impression was continued problems with right shoulder rotator cuff injury, and cervicalagia. Conservative

treatment and physical therapy was continued, as well as a repeat injection. Petitioner underwent 4 additional
physical therapy sessions.

On 5/3/18 petitioner returned to Purves. She reported that her symptoms had improved significantly. She
reported that she felt a pop during therapy and has not had any pain since then. She reported continued pain
with activity away from the body, overhead, and at night with sieeping. Purves examined petitioner and his
impression was right shoulder impingement syndrome, now resolved. Purves instructed petitioner to continue

her home exercise program, and progress activity as tolerated. She was instructed to follow up as needed.
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Petitioner testified that she still has difficulty today with raising her right elbow out to the side of her body
to shoulder level, and difficulty brushing and combing her hair. She stated that she cannot lift her right arm
overhead, and cannot open a jar with her right hand. She testified that when she does filing she uses her left
hand/arm more than her right. Petitioner cannot sleep on her right side, and has aches and pains when she does

something wrong. Petitioner reported shooting pains through her right shoulder when typing or moving it
certain ways daily. Petitioner is right hand dominant.

B. DID AN ACCIDENT OCCUR THAT AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF PETITIONER'S EMPLOYMENT BY
RESPONDENT?

Petitioner claims she sustained an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of her employment

by respondent on 3/7/17. Respondent claims petitioner was at no greater risk than the general public.

It is unrebutted that petitioner fell down the last few steps of the marble staircase located about 8-10 feet
from her office in the Capital building. It is also unrebutted that the staircase petitioner fell down was for use by
employees and the general public. It is unrebutted that although the staircase petitioner fell down was not the

only staircase she could use to get up and down from her office, it was the staircase closest to her office.

Petitioner presented unrebutted testimony that the staircase was marble, and each stair was about 6-8 feet

wide; the banister was about 8 inches wide; the stairs are old, worn, and with rounded edges; and, some rounded
edges are more rounded than others.

Petitioner testified that she was wearing small heeled shoes, and was carrying her purse and coat in her
right hand when she was walking down the stairs. She testified that she had her left hand on the banister. When
petitioner got a few steps from the bottom her left foot hit the worn dip in the stair. She lost her balance, but
was unable to grasp the banister with her left hand to stop her fall because it was too wide to get her hand
around. As aresult, petitioner fell down the remaining steps to the floor at the bottom of the staircase.

Respoﬂdent offered no credible evidence to rebut petitioner’s history of how her accident occurred.

Although it is unrebutted that petitioner had the option of taking a different staircase from her office on the
22 floor to the first floor, the arbitrator finds it reasonable that petitioner would use the staircase closest to her
office, which would be the one she fell on, given that it was only 8-10 feet from her office. Additionally,
although the staircase petitioner fell down is open to both employees and the general public equally, the
arbitrator finds, based on petitioner’s unrebutted testimony, that there was a defect in the step petitioner fell on.
Petitioner provided unrebutted testimony that therelwas a worn dip in the marble step that she hit, that caused

her to slip and fall. The arbitrator finds this worn dip represented a defect in the stair, and this defect is what
caused the petitioner’s injury.
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Based on the above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner sustained an
accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of her employment by respondent on 3/7/17. The arbitrator
finds the cause of the petitioner’s injury was not simply walking down the stairs, but rather as direct result of the

defect, or worn dip in the stairs, that petitioner hit with her heel, thus causing her to slip and fall, and her
inability to tightly grasp the 8 inch banister,

F. IS PETITIONER'S CURRENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE INJURY?

The credible record contains evidence that petitioner underwent x-rays for her right shoulder on 2/19/16
and 12/21/16. However, none of the medical records pertaining‘to these x-rays or any {reatment associated with
her right shoulder condition prior to 3/7/17 were offered into evidence. Therefore, the most the arbitrator can
reasonably infer from the fact that petitioner had prior x-rays of her right shoulder, is that the petitioner may

have had a preexisting condition as it relates to her right shoulder that did not prevent petitioner from

performing her regular duty job prior to 3/7/17.

Following the injury petitioner first sought treatment on 3/9/17. She reported that she hurt everywhere,
especially around her right hip and feet, and right shoulder. Petitioner also had a multitude of contusions. By
3/13/17 petitioner had pain with raising her right arm, decreased range of motion, and pain in the mid bicep
(lateral right arm). She was assessed with right shoulder pain, and referred to Dr. Senica. Dr. Senica assessed
right shoulder pain, right shoulder injury 2 weeks ago, and glenohumeral arthritis. On 4/8/17 petitioner

underwent an injection of the right glenohumeral joint. On 11/10/17 she underwent a repeat injection.

When petitioner’s pain did not improve after the injections she presented to Dr. Wottowa on 12/19/17.
She reported pain over the lateral aspect of her right arm with activity and rest. She reported that her symptoms

had not improved since the injury. Dr, Wottowa assessed a right shoulder rotator cuff injury. Petitioner had
another injection that provided only temporary relief.

Dr. Wottowa had petitioner undergo a course of physical therapy. Petitioner underwent therapy and
continued to follow-up with Dr. Wottowa for her right shoulder injury. She continued to have pain with

activity, and symptoms with her right arm away from her body, overhead, and at night. X-rays showed

moderate osteoarthritic changes at the acromioclavicular joint.

On 5/3/18 petitioner reported that her symptoms had improved significantly after she felt a pop during
therapy. Since then she has had no constant pain, but still had some pain with activity away from the body,
overhead, and at night. Purves examined petitioner and his impression was resolved right shoulder

impingement syndrome. She was told to follow-up as needed.
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Based on the above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner’s current condition
of ill-being as it relates to her right shoulder is causally related to the injury she sustained on 3/7/17. Based on
the x-rays of her right shoulder taken 9 and 3 months prior to this injury, the arbitrator finds petitioner’s current
condition of ill-being as it relates to her right shoulder was either caused by injury, or the petitioner’s préexisting

right shoulder condition was aggravated or exacerbated by the injury on 3/7/17.

J. WERE THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE PROVIDED TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY? HAS
RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES FOR ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERVICES?

Having found the petitioner sustained an accidental injury to her right shoulder that arose out of and in the
course of her employment by respondent on 3/7/17, and that petitioner’s current condition of ill-being as it
relates to her right shoulder is causally related to the injury she sustained on 3/7/17, the arbitrator finds all
medical treatment petitioner received from 3/9/17 through 5/3/18, as a result of the fall on 3/7/17, was
reasonable and necessary to cure or relieve petitioner from the effects of the injury she sustained on 3/7/17, and
respondent shall pay for all this medical treatment pursuant to Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. The respondent
shall also reimburse ;ﬁetitioner for all reasonable and necessary out of pocket expenses petitidner incurred as a

result of her injury on 3/7/17 for treatment from 3/9/17 through 5/3/18. The arbitrator finds the respondent shall

receive credit for all reasonable and necessary medical expenses that it has

L. WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE INJURY?

For injuries that occurred after 9/1/11, according to 820 ILCS 305/8.1B(b) the Commission shall base its
determination of permanent partial disability based upon five factors including an AMA report, the occupation

of the injured employee, the age of the employee at the time of injury, the employee’s future earning capacity
and evidence of disability corroborated by treating medical records.

With regard to subsection (i) of §8.1b(b), neither party offered into evidence an AMA impairment report
into evidence. The Arbitrator therefore gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (ii) of §8.1b(b), the occupation of the employee, the Arbitrator notes that the
petitioner was a 71 year old Legislative Assistant. Petitioner did not lose any time from work as a resuit of this
injury. She continues to work full duty for respondent. Petitioner last treated for her injuries on 5/3/18. For

these reasons the arbitrator gives lesser weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iii) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that the petitioner was a 71 year old
Legislative Assistant. She never lost any time from work and ultimately stopped treating as of 5/3/18.
Petitioner continues to work full duty for respondent, and did not state when she plans of retiring. Her primary

complaint is difficulty raising her right arm to the side, and lifting it overhead. She reports decreased strength in
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her right arm. She experiences shooting pains through her right shoulder when typing or moving it certain ways
daily. Despite these complaints, petitioner only reported that with respect to her work duties she has difficulty

filing and typing. Petitioner was never given any permanent restrictions. For these reasons the arbitrator gives
some weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner’s future earnings capacity, the arbitrator notes that
petitioner was released to full duty work without restrictions. Petitioner testified she makes more money now
with respondent than she did on the date of injury. The arbitrator finds no credible evidence to support a finding

that petitioner’s future earnings capacity has been negatively impacted by this injury. Therefore, the arbitrator
gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical
records, the Arbitrator finds the petitioner sustained an injury to her right shoulder and right side. Immediately

after the injury petitioner sustained multiple contusions, and had right hip and right shoulder pain. All of

petitioner’s injuries, except her right shoulder, seemed to have resolved by 3/13/17. From that day through
5/3/18 petitioner only treated for her right shoulder. Petitioner underwent conservative treatment that included
injections and physical therapy. When petitioner was discharged from care on 5/3/18 she reported that her
symptoms had improved significantly. As of that date, she reported that she felt a pop during therapy and has
not had any pain since then. She reported continued pain with activity away from the body, overhead, and at

night with sleeping. Purves’ impression was right shoulder impingement syndrome, now resolved.

Petitioner she still has difficulty raising her right elbow out to the side of her body to shoulder level, and
difficulty brushing and combing her hair. She stated that she cannot lift her right arm ovérhead, and cannot
open a jar with her right hand. She testified that when she does filing at work she uses hef left hand/arm more
than her right. Petitioner cannot sleep on her right side, and has aches and pains when she does something

wrong. Petitioner reported shooting pains through her shoulder when typing or moving it certain ways daily.
Petitioner is right hand dominant.

Based on thie above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner sustained a 5% loss
of use of her person as a whole pursuant to Section 8(d)2 of the Act.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILL ) [ ] Reverse [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
D PTD/Fatal denied
I:I Modify None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Robert Machak,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 17 WC 5080

Joliet Staffing, LLC,

20IWCC0258

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causation, medical
expenses, and temporary total disability, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts
the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission
further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any,
pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 111.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794
(1980).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed 9/24/18, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $25,000.00, The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

-

MAY 1 - 2020 o
DATED: AN A
TIT:pmo thomas J. Tyrrell)
0 3/24/20 A

Rt i

Kathryn A. Doerries







S ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
\ NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

MACHAK, ROBERT Case# 17WC005080

Employee/Petitioner
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On 9/24/2018, an arbitration decisjon on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is gncﬁ;ed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 2.29% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the

. date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1727 AW OFFICES OF MARK N LEE LTD
KEVIN J MORRISSON

1101 S SECOND ST

SPRINGFIELD, IL 62704

0766 HENNESSY & ROACH PC
MITZI WESTERHOFF

140 S DEARBORN ST SUITE 700
CHICAGO, IL 60603



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

)SS.
COUNTY OF WILL )

[ ] mjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2)

[ | Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)

Robert Machak

Employee/Petitioner

Case # 17 WC 005080

V.

Joliet Staffing, L1.C

EnplyaReporin 20IWCCOR58

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gregory Dollison, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

New Lenox, lllineis on August 10, 2018. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

Consolidated cases:

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an émployeeuempioyer relationship?
C. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?
E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
F Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

G

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
J.

| Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
p ary P
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[1TPD [ ] Maintenance TTD
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
O.[ |Other

ICArbDeclb) 2/10 100 W. Randelph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee.il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Raclford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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" On the date of accident, 10/21/2016, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $371.25; the average weekly wage was $371.25.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 31 years of age, single with 1 dependent children.

Respondent has rot paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $6,010.72 for TTD, § for TPD, $ for maintenance, and
$ for other benefits, for a total credit of $6,010.72.

Respondent is entitled to a credit for amounts paid under Section 8(j) of the Act.
ORDER

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services listed in Petitioner’s Exhibit #5, as provided in

Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act and per the stipulation of the parties, subject to any credit pursuant to Section
8()-

Respondent shall authorize the treatment as prescribed by Dr, Templin.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $253.00/week for 84 6/7 weeks,
commencing 10/22/2016 — 10/29/2016, and 1/2/2017 — 8/10/2018 as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

;&7w7,624% -

" Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDecl9(b)

SEP 24 2018 2



Attachment to Arbitrator Decision
(17 WC 5080)

Findings of Facts 201WCCc0258

Petitioner testified that on October 21, 2016, he was employed with Jolict Staffing as a fork lift operator.
Petitioner stated that he injured himself while lifting a pallet from the ground in a deep freezer. Petitioner
testified he was squatting down and picking up pallets. Petitioner testified that the pallets in question weighed
35 to 40 pounds. Petitioner testified that while lifting one of these pallets which had frozen to the ground, he
felt an immediate sharp pain in his lower back. Petitioner stated that he advised his supervisor that he was “sore
and hurt.” He continued working that day while experiencing increased pain. Petitioner stated “I thought I could

work through it.” Petitioner stated that he ultimately notified Respondent (Jacob) of the October 21, 2016
occurrence who then sent him to Physicians Immediate Care.

Records submitted show Petitioner presented to Physicians Immediate Care on October 27, 2016, with a
reported date of injury of October 21, 2016. It was documented in that note that Petitioner denied back pain
prior to the reported injury. Petitioner reported that he hurt his back while stacking pallets at work. Petitioner’s
complaints consisted of low back pain that radiated into his right leg. Numbness and tingling was also noted.
Petitioner was diagnosed with sprain of ligaments of the Jumbar spine. He was prescribed medication, placed on
restricted sit down work only and advised to return on November 3, 2016. (PX 1)

Petitioner returned on November 3, 2016, Petitioner reported improvement to his symptoms. His

reported pain scale was 2-5/10 depending on movement. Physical therapy was prescribed and his work
restrictions were continued. (PX 1)

Petitioner continued treating at Physicians Immediate Care. By November 25, 2016, Petitioner reported
that he had been working ‘within his restrictions and his pain is usually at 2-3/10 and doing well. Petitioner was
ordered to continue physical therapy and his restrictions were upgraded to no lifting or pushing and pulling
greater than35 lbs. On December 2, 2016, Petitioner reported his condition has been stagnant for 2-3 weeks. He
completed physical therapy and reports pain of 3/10 that increased with bending/twisting to a sharp pain. He

also complained of pain radiating down his right posterior thigh with numbness and tingling. Petitioner’s
restrictions were modified and an MRI was ordered. (PX 1)

On December 12, 2016, Petitioner reported no change but now he had left leg pain. Petitioner also
reported that his legs had given out on him several times going up stairs. Radiculopathy, lumbar region was
added to his diagnosis. A MRI was again requested and his work restrictions were continued. On January 2,
2017, Petitioner was still reporting pain with his right leg giving out. The requested MRI was pending awaiting

approval. His restrictions were continued and a referral was made to Dr. Khana at Physicians Immediate Care in
Bolingbrook. (PX 1) '

Petitioner saw Dr. Khana on January 25, 2017. Petitioner’s reported pain scale was 2-3/10 at rest and 5-
6/10 with certain movements. Also noted was that Petitioner had been off work. An examination revealed pain
in the right paraspinal muscle with spasm and tenderness. Also noted was abnormal heel-toe ambulation. Dr.

Khana added muscle spasm to the diagnosis and imposed sit down work only, The doctor also noted that a MRI
was needed “ASAP” to rule out disc protrusion. (PX 1)

The MRI was carried out that same day at Smart Choice MRI. The impression was that Petitioner had
disc bulge at 12-L.3 with central disc extrusion/herniation. At13-L4 there was a noted disc bulge which
displaced that left L4 nerve root. At L4-L5 there is a disc bulge with protrusion/herniation which affects the
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thecal sac and slightly contacts the left L5 nerve root. At L5-S1 there is a disc bulge with protrusions/herniation
which displaces the right S1 nerve root. (PX 1)

On February 1, 2017, Petitioner attended a follow up after his MRI with complaints of numbness down
his right leg. Petitioner was informed of multiple disc protrusions/herniations and to consult with Dr. Samir
Sharma for possible injections. Petitioner work restriction was continued. (PX 1)

At Respondent’s request, Petitioner underwent a Section 12 examination with Steven Dr. Mather on
April 6,2017. According to Dr. Mather, Petitioner presented with complaints of low back pain with some
radiation to the right lateral thigh with occasional numbness and tingling in his feet. Petitioner also conveyed
that his leg gives out. Dr. Mather noted Petitioner reported that he never had prior low back pain and never had
problems with his spine. On examination, Dr. Mather noted Petitioner was 6°-1” and weighed 309 pounds.
Petitioner extended 10 degrees and forward flexed 10 degrees because of lower back pain. Petitioner had
tenderness in the right side of his lumbar spine around the 13-4 and L4-5 region. No spasm was present. Dr.
Mather noted Petitioner reported pain complaints with simulated axial rotation but none with axial compression.
The doctor indicated Petitioner reported considerable low back pain complaints with any hip range of motion of
the right hip and minimal complaints with rotation of the left hip in the supine position. He indicated supine
straight leg raising caused Petitioner to complain of severe back pain without leg pain with straight leg raising.
Dr. Mather further noted that Petitioner complained of considerable lower back pain with simultaneous hip and
knee flexion on the right and none on the left. In summary Dr. Mather stated Petitioner had pain complaints with
restricted range of motion of the lumbar spine, pain in lower back as opposed to radicular. He indicated
Petitioner had positive Waddell findings, pain with simulated axial rotation, and a difference between his seated
and supine straight leg raising. Dr. Mather noted that he reviewed Petitioner’s x-rays taken on October 27, 2016
as well as the MRI taken on January 25, 2017. After performing his examination and reviewing medical
documentation, Dr. Mather impression was 1.) lumbar strain and 2.) obesity with lumbar spondylosis. Dr.
Mather opined that Petitioner’s care and treatment to date was reasonable. He noted Petitioner’s MRI showed
what appeared to be pre-existing lumbar degenerative disk disease. He indicated the MRI strongly suggest these
were calcified disk protrusions and not acute disk herniations or acute disk protrusions. The doctor
recommended obtaining a CT scan to better evaluate the overall pathology. The doctor stated that given the lack
of clinical findings, Petitioner did not sustain a structural injury to the lumbar spine, but rather there was a
simple soft tissue strain. He stated that if the CT scan showed calcified disk protrusions, same would reaffirm

that Petitioner sustained a lumbar strain and not a structural injury. Until the CT scan was completed, the doctor
felt Petitioner could work with a 30-pound weight restriction. (RX1)

The recommended CT scan was carried out on April 11, 2017. The impression was multilevel lumbar
spondylosis with most significant findings at 1.3-4, .4-5 and 1L5-S1. It was noted that no definite acute lumbar

spine abnormality was seen, but, the possibility of disc herniation and soft tissue, including ligamentous, injury
could not be entirely excluded. (PX 1)

Petitioner returned to Physician Immediate Care on May 10, 2017. Petitioner’s back complaints
continued. Petitioner was again directed to treat with Dr. Sharma and his work restrictions were continued. (PX

1)

On May 17, 2017 Dr. Mather issued an addendum opinion after reviewing the CT scan. Dr. Mather
stated the CT scan confirmed his suspicion that Petitioner had calcified disk bulges. The doctor stated, “[a]ll the
disk bulges are really calcified spondylitic changes. There were no acute disk herniations or protrusions present.
These are all preexisting spondylitic degenerative changes. These are all common even in young patients who
are obese...” The doctor noted that “...even though the radiologist feels there is some lateral recess stenosis and
some foraminal stenosis throughout the spine, this patient did not have radicular pain at the time I saw him, just
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lower back pain and occasional tingling in the lower extremities.” He concluded that the Petitioner had
recovered from his lumbar strain, reached MMI, and could go back to work in a full duty capacity. (RX 2)

On May 17, 2017, Petitioner reported to Dr. Sharma for the first time. He reported 5 out of 10 pain with
pain that radiates into his right buttock and posterior and lateral right thigh. Dr. Sharma reviewed his MRI and
reported same demonstrated rightward protrusions at L5-S1 with right S1 displacement. An examination
revealed limited range of motion with 10 degrees extension and 30 degrees flexion. His right straight leg raising
was positive. His facet Joading was in the right region for axial low back pain. The Valsalva maneuver and right
Fabere test were also positive. Dr. Sherma assessed 1.) low back pain and 2.) lumbosacral radiculitis. Dr.

Sharma excused Petitioner from work and a trans-foraminal epidural injection of the right L5, S1 was
recommended and carried out. (PX 2) -

Petitioner testified that Respondent offered full duty return to work after Dr. Mather’s examination. He
stated that he did not return as Dr. Sharma prescribed off work.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Sharma on June 26, 2017 with continued low back pain and radiculopathy.
According to Dr. Sharma, Petitioner reported some pain relief after the injection. His symptoms had improved
since his last visit. Dr. Sherma assessed 1.) low back pain; 2.) lumbosacral radiculitis; and 3.) radicular

syndrome of lower limbs. The doctor kept Petitioner off work and a second trans-foraminal injection on the
right L5, S1 was carried out. (PX 2)

Petitioner saw Dr. Sharma again on August 3, 2017. At that visit, Petitioner reported that the injection
provided a 30% relief of pain. Petitioner also reported overall improvement in the right leg but noticed pain in
the upper leg. An examination revealed Petitioner’s range of motion was 20 degrees with extension and 40
degrees with pain with flexion. He had a positive right straight leg raise and his facet loading was in the right

region for axial low back pain. Dr. Sharma released Petitioner to restricted work, light duty. The doctor also
referred Petitioner to an orthopedist. (PX 2) '

On September 19, 2017, Petitioner consulted with Dr. Cary Templin. Petitioner reported that he had
pain that extended into his right leg. Dr. Templin noted Petitioner’s prior medical history was significant for no
history of back problems “of this nature.” Dr. Templin performed an examination. The doctor noted increased
pain with cough to the right buttocks. Hip and knee range of motion was negative for pain. His straight leg raise
was positive on the right at about 45-50 degrees, negative on the left. Lumbar flexion was 60 degrees, extension
to 5 degrees with increasing pain on flexion. Dr. Templin reviewed the MRI which he indicated demonstrated
there was moderately severe stenosis at L.2-L3 due to central disc protrusion and degenerative change. L3-L4
level showed left lateral recess stenosis. At 1.5-S1 he noted a rightward disc herniation that impinges on the
right S1 nerve root. Dr. Templin assessed right L5-S1 herniated disc causing a right S1 radiculopathy as a direct
result of Petitioner’s work injury. The doctor felt Petitioner “...has made persistent complaints of lower back
pain extending into the right leg consistent with such an injury.” Dr. Templin recommended a 15-S1
laminectomy and discectomy and returned Petitioner to work with a 35-pound lifting restriction. (PX3)

Petitioner testified that he did not undergo the prescribed surgery as Respondent denied authorization

and he had no insurance. Petitioner stated that in June 2018, he had a sneezing incident which resulted in back
spasms and an emergency room visit.

On May 25, 2018, Dr. Templin was deposed regarding his September 19, 2017, date of treatment. Dr.
Templin testified that he had seen Petitioner at the referral of Dr. Sharma. Dr. Templin testified that he obtained
a history from Petitioner that he was injured in October 0f 2016 when he was lifting a heavy pallet and felt
lower back pain that extended onto the right leg. The doctor stated that he reviewed the January 25, 2017 MRI
which he thought demonstrated moderate stenosis at 1.2-L.3 with central disc protrusion and degenerative
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changes. He noted there was some lateral recess stenosis on the left at L3-1.4. At 1.4-5 there was mild
degenerative change and at L5-S1 there was a rightward disc herniation impinging on the right S1 nerve root.
Dr. Templin stated that he performed an examination wherein Petitioner was able to perform heel to gait
without problems. Petitioner complained of pain with coughing. He had a positive straight leg raise on the right
at 45degrees and his reflexes were diminished symmetrically. When asked if Petitioner’s symptomology
presentation, the MRI images and his physical exam were all consistent, the doctor replied, “Yes. He
complained of lower back pain extending into the right buttock and posterior thigh which was consistent with an
L5-S1 herniation with SI impingement.” The doctor provided that he thought Petitioner had undergone
exhaustive nonoperative care and as a result, a discectomy at 1.5-81 would be reasonable. (PX 4, pp. 6-8)

During the deposition, Dr. Templin was presented with the following hypothetical:

“Doctor, I want you to assume that Mr. Machak prior to 10/22 of 2016 had a fairly
aymptomatic lower back. And on that date, he was working for Respondent and

was — or moving pallets from a deep freezer. And he had done a number of these.

He estimates they weigh 35 to 40 pounds. On one of these pallets, he was bending
using his knees, not necessarily completely over, bending down kind of in a squatting
position. He began to lift a pallet which he described as being frozen or kind of frozen
to the floor due to some excess condensation. And when he was lifting the pallet, he

felt a pop in his back and essentially became symptomatic. He reported his injury and
started conservative treatment.”

Dr. Templin testified that based on the hypothetical and his examination, Petitioner’s mechanism of
injury could have aggravated/caused Petitioner’s lower back condition to the point surgery became necessary
and proper. Dr. Templin stated that bending forward and lifting loads makes the discs subject to a herniation

especially in the face of degenerative changes. Dr. Templin stated that he placed Petitioner on a 35-pound
weight restriction until the surgery is performed. (PX 4, pp. 7-10, 18-19)

On cross-examination, Dr. Templin testified that he did not review the CT scan previously taken. The
doctor stated that a CT scan can provide information as whether there is calcification within a herniation. He
stated the calcification will tell you that it’s been there longer. He however indicated that it does not affect his
diagnosis in regards to his recommended treatment. The doctor stated, “This gentlemen, for instance, has
pressure on his S1 nerve root regardless of whether it’s calcified or not. That is the proximate cause of his pain
and dysfunction. And, therefore, the treatment is the same.” (PX 4, pp. 12-13)

Records submitted show Petitioner returned to Dr. Templin on June 7, 2018. Dr. Templin noted he
previously recommended surgical intervention which had not been approved. At that visit, Petitioner reported
worsening of his pain that now extended into his bilateral legs. Petitioner was reporting a pain scale of 7 out of
10. He also complained of foot drop which had been present for the previous seven (7) to ten (10) days.
Petitioner also reported that he went to the emergency room at Silver Cross the previous Friday when he
underwent a CT scan. Dr. Templin noted that he reviewed the CT scan which was taken at Silver Cross on June
1,2018. The doctor indicated same demonstrated multilevel spondylotic change with a congenital stenosis. Also
noted was calcified discs at the L2-3, 13-4 and L4-5 levels with at least moderate stenosis. Dr. Templin assessed
spinal stenosis and continued back and leg pain after a work injury. Also noted was that Petitioner displayed a
foot drop bilaterally. Dr. Templin recommended a follow up MRI and issned an off work status. The
recommended MRI was completed on June 13, 2018 demonstrating congenitally slender appearing spinal canal

in conjunction with lumbar spondylosis from 1.2-3 to L5-S1 resulting in areas of central narrowing and neural
foraminal stenosis. (PX 3) - = : : :
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Petitioner returned to Dr. Templin on June 20, 2018. Dr. Templin reviewed MRI stating same revealed
severe spinal stenosis at the 12-3 and 13-4 with a left sided disc protrusion at 13-4 and L4-5 impinging on the
14 and L5 nerve root. Also noted was a right paracentral disc protrusion at L5-S1. Dr. Templin assessed
ongoing and increasing low back pain with radiculopathy with underlying multilevel spinal stenosis at L2-3, 1.3-
4 and a left paracentral disc herniation at L4-5 and a right paracentral disc herniation at L5-S1. Dr. Templin
again recommended surgical intervention in the form of a 1.2-4 lumbar laminotomy, L.4-5 laminotomy, and right
L.5-S1 laminotomy to address stenosis and radicular symptoms. An EMG was also recommended to better
assess Petitioner’s numbness and weakness. Lastly, Petitioner was again restricted from work. (PX 3)

On July 12, 2018, Petitioner underwent a second Section 12 examination with Dr. Mather at
Respondent’s request. In his report dated same, Dr. Mather noted Petitioner complaints consisted of bilateral
lower back pain traveling down to the feet and the inability to walk on his heels or toes due to weakness and
some numbness in both feet. Dr. Mather noted that Petitioner reported that he fell in his front yard after his legs
gave out due to back pain on December 17, 2017. The incident required a visit to emergency room. Petitioner
also conveyed that he had another visit to the emergency room on May 31, 2018 after a sneezing fit. The doctor
stated Petitioner reported the episode resulted in severe bilateral leg pain and bilateral drop feet. (RX 3)

Dr. Mather compared both the MRI from January 2017 with the MRI from June 2018 and opined they
were identical. The doctor also provided that he reviewed an MRI from September 2, 2011 which had an
indication for low back and leg pain. According to Dr. Mather, the report demonstrated central disk protrusion
L.2-3, left L3-4 Paramedian disk herniation, left L4-5 paramedian disk herniation, L5-S1 central disk protrusion
with moderate to severe bilateral foraminal stenosis. The doctor indicated the follow-up MRI from January 2017
showed no real changes when comparing the radiclogy readings. Similarly, Dr. Mather compared the April 11,

2017 CT and the June 1, 2018 CT indicating that they both indicted the same pathology, neither showing nerve
- compression.

After performing an examination, Dr. Mather opined that Petitioner sustained a lumbar strain as a result
of the work injury of October 21, 2016. He stated that Petitioner’s ongoing complaints of lower back pain and
functional complaints of weakness and numbness could not be corroborated by straight leg raising, physical
examination, reflex testing and corroboration of the medical records. He felt Petitioner’s symptoms appear to be
psychogenic in origin. Dr. Mather commented that Petitioner’s MRI shows calcified disks that cannot herniate.
He also stated the disks are not the type of disks that cause sudden weakness of plantar flexion or dorsiflexion.
The doctor opined that Petitioner's treating records demonstrate inconsistent examinations where he had no
difficulty with plantar flexion and that Petitioner’s ongoing complaints could not been seen as valid. Dr. Mather
opined that Petitioner’s *“...ongoing complaints appear to be functional in nature, not organic. They are not
related to his preexisting pathology or the events of October 21, 2016.” The doctor opined that a decompressive
procedure is not reasonable or necessary to alleviate Petitioner’s condition which is related to preexisting
pathology and not the alleged accident date. The doctor also opined that a L5-S1 laminectomy discectomy,
removing a calcified disk was not in Petitioner’s best interest. Dr. Mather stated that given the calcified nature
of the disks, same would not be related to the accident. He noted that the June 2018 CT scan did not show
nereve compression at L4 or S1 and therefore a decompression procedure was not indicated. Lastly, the doctor
opined that Petitioner had reached MMI as of his addendum report dated May 17, 2017. (RX 3)

Petitioner testified regarding the sneezing incident. He stated that he woke up sneezing in the middle of
the night, He indicated that he noticed pain radiating down his leg and that he had difficulty walking. He
indicated that prior to the incident, he was at “relatively normal pain levels.” After the incident, he had increased
pain down his leg with spasms. Petitioner stated that currently, his pain levels had returned to the levels
(baseline) he experienced prior to the sneezing incident. He also stated that his foot drop is not as prevalent.
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In regard to disputed issue (F), Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury,
the Arbitrator finds the following:

Petitioner sustained an undisputed accident on October 21, 2016 while lifting a paliet which had frozen
to the ground and experiencing. Petitioner felt an immediate sharp pain in his lower back. Ultimately, Petitioner
notified Respondent of the October 21, 2016 occurrence and was sent to Physicians Immediate Care. Records
submitted show Petitioner presented to Physicians Immediate Care on October 27, 2016 with complaints of low
back pain that radiated into his right leg. Numbness and tingling was also noted. Petitioner also denied back
pain prior to the reported injury. Petitioner was diagnosed with sprain of ligaments of the lumbar spine.

Petitioner continued treating at Physicians Immediate Care. Physical therapy and an MRI was prescribed.
By January 2, 2017, a referral was made to Dr. Khana also at Physicians Imunediate Care. Petitioner saw Dr.
Khana on January 25, 2017. An examination revealed pain in the right paraspinal muscle with spasm and
tendemess. Also noted was abnormal heel-toe ambulation. Dr. Khana added muscle spasm to the diagnosis and
noted that a MRI was needed “ASAP” to rule out disc protrusion. The MRI was carried out that same day and
the impression was that Petitioner had disc bulge at L2-L3 with central disc extrusion/hemiation. AtL3-1.4
there was a noted disc bulge which displaced that left L4 nerve root. At L4-L5 there is a disc bulge with
protrusion/herniation which affects the thecal sac and slightly contacts the left L5 nerve root. At 1L.5-S1 there
was a disc bulge with protrusions/herniation which displaces the right S1 nerve root. Thereafter, Petitioner was

informed he had multiple disc protrusions/herniations and was referred to Dr. Samir Sharma for possible
injections.

Petitioner eventually saw Dr. Sharma on May 17, 2017. The doctor reviewed the MRI and reported same
demonstrated rightward protrusions at L5-S1 with right S1 displacement. Dr. Sharma documented positive
findings which included limited range of motion with 10 degrees extension and 30 degrees flexion. Petitioner’s
right straight leg raising was positive and his facet loading was in the right region for axial low back pain. Dr.
Sherma assessed 1.) low back pain and 2.) lumbosacral radiculitis. Dr. Sharma ultimately performed two (2)
trans-foraminal epidural injection of the right L5, S1. Petitioner reported 30% relief of pain. However, because
of continuing complaints and positive findings, the doctor referred Petitioner to an orthopedist.

On September 19, 2017, Petitioner consulted with Dr. Cary Templin. The doctor noted positive findings
and reviewed the MRI which he indicated demonstrated there was moderately severe stenosis at L2-L.3 due to
central disc protrusion and degenerative change. L3-L4 level showed left lateral recess stenosis. AtL5-S1 he
noted a rightward disc herniation that impinges on the right S1 nerve root. Dr. Templin assessed right L5-S1
herniated disc causing a right S1 radiculopathy as a direct result of Petitioner’s work injury. The doctor felt
Petitioner “...has made persistent complaints of lower back pain extending into the right leg consistent with
such an injury.” Dr. Templin recommended a 1.5-S1 laminectomy and discectomy.

At Respondent’s request, Petitioner attended two Section 12 examination with Dr. Mather. At the initial
Section 12 examination on April 6, 2017, Dr. Mather’s impression was 1.) lumbar strain and 2.) obesity with
lumbar spondylosis. Dr. Mather opined that Petitioner’s care and treatment to date was reasonable. He noted
Petitioner’s MRI showed what appeared to be pre-existing fumbar degenerative disk disease. He indicated the
MRI strongly suggest these were calcified disk protrusions and not acute disk herniations or acute disk
protrusions. The doctor recommended obtaining a CT scan to better evaluate the overall pathology. The doctor
stated that given the lack of clinical findings, Petitioner did not sustain a structural injury to the lumbar spine,
but rather there was a simple soft tissue strain. He stated that if the CT scan showed calcified disk protrusions,
same would reaffirm that Petitioner sustained a lumbar strain and not a structural injury.

The recommended CT scan was éarried out on April 11,2017. On May 17, 2017 Dr. Mather issued an
addendum opinion indicating the CT scan confirmed his suspicion that Petitioner had calcified disk bulges. The
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doctor stated, ‘[a}ll the disk bulges are really calcified spondylitic changes. There were no acute disk herniations
or protrusions present. These are all preexisting spondylitic degenerative changes. These are all common even in
young patients who are obese...” The doctor noted that “...even though the radiologist feels there is some lateral
recess stenosis and some foraminal stenosis throughout the spine, this patient did not have radicular pain at the
time I saw him, just lower back pain and occasional tingling in the lower extremities.” He concluded that the

Petitioner had recovered from his lumbar strain, reached MMI, and could go back to work in a full duty
capacity.

On July 12, 2018, Petitioner underwent the second Section 12 examination with Dr. Mather. In his
report, Dr. Mather noted that he compared both the MRI from January 2017 with the MRI from June 2018 and
opined they were identical. Similarly, Dr. Mather compared the April 11,2017 CT and the June 1, 2018 CT
indicating that they both indicted the same pathology, neither showing nerve compression. After performing an
examination, Dr. Mather opined that Petitioner sustained a lumbar strain as a result of the work injury of
October 21, 2016. He stated that Petitioner’s ongoing complaints of lower back pain and functional complaints
of weakness and numbness could not be corroborated by straight leg raising, physical examination, reflex testing
and corroboration of the medical records. He felt Petitioner’s symptoms appear to be psychogenic in origin. Dr.
Mather commented that Petitioner’s MRI shows calcified disks that cannot herniate. Dr. Mather opined that
Petitioner’s “...ongoing complaints appear to be functional in nature, not organic. They are not related to his

preexisting pathology or the events of October 21, 2016.” Dr. Mather stated that given the calcified nature of
the disks, same would not be related to the accident.

Petitioner’s treating orthopedist, Dr. Templin, also offered a causation opinion in this matter. Dr.
Templin testified that he reviewed the January 25, 2017 MRI which he thought demonstrated moderate stenosis
at L2-L.3 with central disc protrusion and degenerative changes. He noted there was some lateral recess stenosis
on the left at L.3-L4. At L4-5 there was mild degenerative change and at L5-S1 there was a ri ghtward disc
herniation impinging on the right S1 nerve root. Dr. Templin testified that Petitioner’s symptomology
presentation, the MRI images and his physical exam were all consistent. Specifically, he stated that Petitioner’s
complaints of lower back pain extending into the right buttock and posterior thigh were consistent with an L5-
S1 hemiation with SI impingement. Dr. Templin was also presented with a lengthy hypothetical which was
similar in nature to the testimony of Petitioner at the time of trial. Afier considering the hypothetical, the doctor

testified that based on the hypothetical and his examination, Petitioner’s mechanism of injury certainly could
have aggravated/caused Petitioner’s lower back condition.

Dr. Templin’s records show that he also reviewed the CT scan which was taken at Silver Cross on June
1, 2018, The doctor indicated same demonstrated multilevel spondylotic change with a congenital stenosis. The
doctor also noted, as did Dr, Mather, that there was calcification at the 1L2-3, 13-4 and L4-5 levels. Dr. Templin
also noted the CT scan demonstrated at least moderate stenosis. During his testimony, Dr. Templin stated that
calcification will tell you that it’s been there longer. He however indicated that it does not affect his diagnosis.
The doctor stated, “This gentlemen, for instance, has pressure on his S1 nerve root regardless of whether it’s
calcified or not. That is the proximate cause of his pain and dysfunction. And, therefore, the treatment is the
same.” Dr. Templin assesses spinal stenosis and continued back and leg pain after a work injury.

The Arbitrator notes that Respondent initially sent Petitioner to Physician Immediate Care for treatment.
All care and recommendations for treatment has been rendered by the initial care giver, Physician Immediate

Care, and its chain of referrals. During his testimony, Petitioner appeared both credible and truthful concerning
his injury and his current condition, '

The Arbitrator finds the opinions of Dr. Templin to be more persuasive than those of Dr. Mather. Dr.
Mather first notes that Petitioner complained of pain radiating down his leg. Petitioner reported low back pain
with some radiation to the right lateral thigh with occasional numbness and tingling in his feet. Petitioner also
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conveyed that his leg gives out. In his next report, Dr. Mather , while commenting on the CT scan findings,
stated, “...even thongh the radiologist feels there is some lateral recess stenosis and some foraminal stenosis
throughout the spine, this patient did not have radicular pain at the time I saw him, just lower back pain and
occasional tingling in the lower extremities.” Dr. Mather’s findings concerning Petitioner’s symptoms, MRI,
and treatment recommendation are inconsistent with the findings of Dr. Sharma, Dr. Khana and Dr. Templin.
The medical records are replete with Petitioner complaints referencing pain going down his right leg. His
complaints have remained fairly consistent throughout his long treatment. At no point did any of Petitioner’s
treating physician question Petitioner’s symptoms or correlation with their exams. In fact, Dr. Templin
specifically testified that Petitioner’s symptoms were consistent with Dr. Templin’s exam and his diagnostic
studies. Lastly, both Dr. Templin and Dr. Mather agree Petitioner had calcified disks. Dr. Mather stated that
given the calcified nature of the disks, same would not be related to the accident. The doctor did not offer an
opinion as to whether or not the accident could have aggravated the pre-existing condition. Conversely, Dr.
Templin stated that the calcification does not affect his diagnosis. He stated that Petitioner has pressure on his
S1 nerve root regardless of whether it’s calcified or not and that same is the proximate cause of his pain and

dysfunction. As noted above, Dr. Templin opined that the mechanism of injury could have certainly aggravated
Petitioner’s underlying pre-existing condition.

Based on all the above, the Arbitrator finds that a causal relationship exists between Petitioner’s
complained condition of ill-being and the accident occurring on October 21, 2016.

In regard to disputed issues (J.) Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable
and necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services; and (K) Is Petitioner entitled fo any prospective medical care, the Arbitrator finds the following:

Respondent’s argument regarding medical expenses stems from its dispute regarding liability. Having
found in favor of Petitioner with respect to causation, the Arbitrator finds that all treatment to date is reasonable
and necessary to treat his injury which occurred on October 21, 2016. As such, Respondent shall pay the
medical expenses listed in Petitioner’s Exhibit #5. Respondent shall receive a credit for bills paid. Further,

having relied on the opinions of Dr. Templin the Arbitrator finds that Respondent shall authorize the treatment
as prescribed by Dr. Templin.

In regard to disputed issues (L) What temporary benefits (I'TD) are in dispute, the Arbitrator finds the
following:

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled TTD benefits for the weeks of 10/22/2016 — 10/29/2016,
and 1/2/2017 — 8/10/2018. Petitioner has never been released from medical care. Records presented at trial
show Petitioner was consistently held off work or restricted since his injury. Respondent has not accommodated
any light duty restrictions since January of 2017. Therefore, having found in favor of Petitioner in regards to

causation and prospective medical, the Arbitrator also awards the above dates subject to Respondent’s credit for
TTD paid.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) l:l Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF KANE ) D Reverse I:I Second Injury Fund (§8(e}!8)
D PTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modify |E None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Ana Ramirez,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 16 WC 11352
Sherman Hospital,

Ceondont 20IWCC0259

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given fo
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causation, medical expenses,
temporary total disability and nature and extent, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms
and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, with changes as stated herein, said decision being
attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Findings of Fact

The Commission notes that Petitioner proceeded to trial in this matter on a pro se basis.
Ms. Ramirez, a 44-year old housekeeper, testified through an interpreter that “{o]n the day of the
accident [2/9/16], we always in a hurry and cleaning a lot of rooms. That’s how the accident
happened. But they have turned their back on me since then.” (T.14). Petitioner stated that “...
they don’t worry for anything about the employees. They don’t care how I feel. They never give
me the opportunity to work in light duty. The don’t want me there until I'm 100 percent, and I
want to go back to work. I don’t want to be depending on anybody even if I had my pains in my
back. I have seen a lot of doctors and my condition, I made — I would last as much as a year with
this pain.” (T.14-15).

On cross examination, Petitioner indicated that after her injury at work her supervisor
took her in a wheelchair to the emergency room. (T.15). She agreed they examined her, took x-
rays and “... injected me, and I was there about two hours.” (T.16). She indicated that they then
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sent her to a smaller facility associated with Sherman where she treated through 3/8/16. (T.16-
17). Petitioner claimed that the clinic then sent her to see chiropractor Dr, Cascino, who she saw
on 3/16/16. (T.17). She agreed that he examined her and sent her for an MRI, which was
performed at Sherman Hospital on 3/25/16. (T.17).

In an Advocate Occupational Health “Emergency Department Note” dated 2/9/16, it was
recorded that “[t]he presents following fall. The onset was just prior to arrival. The fall was
described as slipped. The location where the incident occurred was at work. Location: back.
The character of symptoms is pain, no swelling, not tingling and not numbness. The degree at
present is minimal. The exacerbating factor is changing position. The relieving factor is none.”
(PX1). X-rays of the lumbar spine taken at that time revealed “... mild osteopenia.
Straightening of lumbar spine is nonspecific. Vertebral body heights and disc spaces are
preserved. Early spondylosis is seen at L2-L4 levels with minimal marginal osteophyte
formation. There is also mild facet septac at L4-S1 levels. No evidence of acute fracture or
subluxation is seen.” (PX1). Petitioner was diagnosed with lumbar strain and lumbar contusion,
prescribed Flexeril, Naprosyn and Tylenol with Codeine #3 and instructed to follow up with her
primary care provider. (PX1).

In an Advocate Sherman Quitpatient Center “Work Status/Treatment Report” dated 2/9/16
it was noted that the patient was restricted from work until seen by occupational health with no
lifting over 10 pounds. (PX1). The diagnosis was lumbosacral strain/contusion. (PX1).

In an Advocate Sherman Occupational Health “Work Status Discharge Instructions”
report dated 2/12/16 it was noted that the patient could return to work on that date with
restrictions of no lifting, bending, climbing, pushing or pulling and no work above shoulders.
(PX1). The diagnosis was acute lumbar strain and contusion. (PX1).

In an Advocate Sherman Occupational Health “Work Status Discharge Instructions”
report dated 2/16/16 it was noted that the patient could return to work on that date with
restrictions of sitting only. (PX1). The diagnosis was “back pain s/p fall.” (PX1). The same
restriction was noted in a similar report dated 2/23/16. (PX1).

In an Advocate Sherman Occupational Health “Work Status Discharge Instructions”
report dated 3/1/16 it was noted that the patient could return to work on that date with restrictions
regarding maximum lifting of 10 pounds, frequent lifting and bending and
sitting/standing/walking 50% of the time. (PX1). The same restriction was noted in a similar
report dated 3/8/16. (PX1).

In an office note dated 3/16/16, Dr. Christopher Cascino at Elgin-Bamrington
Neurosurgery recorded that Petitioner presented “... with a history of thoracolumbar junction
and lumbar spine pain that goes to the top of both buttocks bilaterally. This occurred after a fall
on February 9" of 2016, She notes no wrap-around chest wall pain. She notes no radiating leg
pain. She notes no weakness in the legs, changes in gait, or changes in bowel/bladder function.
She notes no saddle numbness, She says, however, that with physical therapy over the last few
weeks, and since her fall in February, her symptoms are no better. She says they are exactly the
same as they were at their start.” (PX1). Following his examination, Dr. Cascino’s impression
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was “1.) significant thoracolumbar junction and lumbar spine pain that has not improved over 5
weeks. I'm worried about an occult compression fracture. I’ve ordered an MRI and STIR
images. 2.) Intergluteal pain, could be coccygeal in nature. There’s an AP and lateral coceyx x-
ray ordered as well.” (PX1). Dr. Cascino noted that “I have a feeling this is muscular and my
workup may be negative. However, given the persistent nature of the patient’s symptoms and

her inability to return to work and lack of any improvement at all, I think it’s appropriate.”
(PX1).

X-rays of the lumbar spine performed on 3/25/16 showed that “[t]he heights of the
vertebral bodies and the intervertebral disk spaces are well maintained. The alignment is
anatomic. There is no evidence of fracture or other bony abnormality. There is limited range of
motion with flexion and extension. No significant subluxation is identified.” (PX1).

An MRI of the lumbar spine performed on 3/25/16 showed that “[t}he alignment of the
lumbar spine is normal. No signal abnormalities are seen in the visualized osseous structures.
No disc pathology is identified. There are no findings of spinal stenosis or nerve root
encroachment at any level. There is no abnormality at the level of the conus medullaris.” (PX1).
The impression was “[n]egative MRI examination of the Jumbar spine.” (PX1).

In an office note dated 4/4/16, Dr. Cascino noted that an MRI as well as x-rays of the
lumbar spine performed on 3/25/16 were normal and that studies of the sacrum and coccyx done
on the same date did not show a fracture, (PX1). Dr. Cascino indicated that Petitioner was “...
walking around well without any difficulty. She says, however, that her pain is unchanged. She
needs approval from Worker’s Compensation, but I would recommend follow-up with a pain
clinic doctor. I don’t have any specific recommendations based on my exam and my neurologic
workup.” (PX1). In an addendum to this report, Dr. Cascino stated that he spoke to the nurse and
“... explained that the patient has no limitations from my standpoint as the MRI scans and x-rays
were all normal. However, the patient states that she’s in too much pain to return to work, I
therefore will rewrite her work restrictions, and she’s to be reassessed by the pain clinic doctor if
that’s the next doctor who sees her and if that’s approved by Worker’s Compensation.” (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that she returned to Dr. Cascino on 4/4/16. (T.18). When asked whether
she told him at that time that she was in too much pain to return to work, Petitioner stated: “I
didn’t tell him because of the pain [ couldn’t go back to work. He’s the one that told me there’s
been over a month without work, But when I went back with him, he did tell me I could not
work.” (T.18). When asked the same question again, Petitioner replied: “I did not mention to
him about work. My pain was all day even without work.” (T.18). When asked a third time she
responded: “I don’t remember telling him, I don’t remember telling.” (T.18). She agreed that
she never went back to Dr. Cascino, noting that “[h]e didn’t want me. He sent me to put some
injections in my back.” (T.18-19).

Petitioner agreed that she initially hired attorney Bradley Dworkin, and that she signed
that document (presumably the Application for Adjustment of Claim) on 4/7/16. (T.19). She
also agreed that Mr. Dworkin sent her to a doctor, but that ... the doctor never saw me. If was
just therapy, and I didn’t like that because I wanted to know the specialist doctor.” (T.19). She
agreed that he (presumably Mr. Dworkin) sent her to Dr. Jain. (T.19). However, she maintained
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that “[t]hey didn’t want me to see the doctor, just the therapy.” (T.20). She mdlcated that she
never saw Dr. Jain, just the therapist. (1.20).

In a “Patient Status Form” dated 4/13/16, Dr. Neeraj Jain indicated that the patient may
not return to work based on a diagnosis of lumbar strain and contusion. (PX1). Petitioner was
likewise restricted from work in “Patient Status Form[s]” dated 5/4/16 and 6/1/16. (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that she subsequently fired Mr. Dworkin and hired Mr. Romaker. (T.20-
21). She noted Mr. Romaker sent her to Windy City Pain Management, where Drs. Saldanha,
Pontinen and Erickson work. (T.20-21). She agreed that they sent her for an MRI at Edgebrook
Radiology on 5/16/16. (T.22). She also noted that she did not have any injections at Windy City
because “[ilnsurance didn’t let them do anything.” (T.22). She then agreed that she declined the
injections because she was afraid to gain weight due to “[t]he steroids they put in...” (T.22).

An MRI of the sacrum and coccyx performed on 5/16/16 was interpreted as
“lu]nremarkable MRI of the sacrum, coccyx, and sacroiliac. There is no disparity between either
side and no focal bony or soft tissue abnormalities are seen.” (PX1).

Petitioner agreed after she saw these doctors she saw her family physician, Dr. Astacio,
(T.22). She noted that “I see him quite often.” (T.22). However, she indicated she did not
“precisely” see him for her back, noting that “[i}t was because of depression.” (T.22-23). She
disputed the date of the EMG ordered by Dr. Astacio was on 6/6, noting that “fh]e sent me to
have those done when my leg started to get numb, but that was[n’t] until September.” (T.23).

When asked if she saw him for her injury, Petitioner stated: “Him — I would tell him everything.”
(T.23).

In an “Independent Medical Evaluation” report dated 6/10/16, Dr. Stanford Tack stated
that “[blJased on my review of the verbal history, physical examination, provided medical
records, it is my opinion that the appropriate diagnosis for the patient relative to the occupational
incident of February 9, 2016, [is] lumbar strain, lumbosacral contusion.” (PX1). He noted that
“[oln physical examination performed on June 10, 2016, there are no significant objective
physical findings. Nonorganic physical findings include hypersensitivity in the lumbosacral
region as well as nonphysiologic complaints of back pain with stabilized range of motion of the
right and left hips.” (PX1). He indicated that the objective findings do not correlate with her
subjective complaints. (PX1). He also stated that “[i]t is my opinion that the diagnosis of lumbar
strain and lumbosacral contusion would be related to the incident of February 9, 2016” and that
“... the initial treatment provided through the Emergency Department and Occupational
Medicine at Sherman Hospital was reasonable and appropriate. It is also my opinion that due to
the patient’s lack of improvement, the initial evaluation by Dr. Cascino was medically necessary
and appropriate. However, after demonstration of no response to symptomatic treatment as well
as physical therapy in addition to normal diagnostic imaging, it is my opinion that at that point
all subsequent treatment was medically unnecessary as no objective basis for continuation of
treatment has been identified. [t is my opinion that the recommendations of the Windy City Pain
Management physician, Dr. Saldanha, are not medical{ly] necessary or appropriate. It is also my
opinion that the treatments dispensed and recommended by Dr. Robert Erickson as described in
the verbal history by the patient would be medically necessary [sic] and inappropriate. It should
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be particularly noted that there is no evidence to support use of durable medical equipment for
this diagnosis including use of ice machines or TENS units and that topical creams have not been
demonstrated to be appropriate management of low back pain conditions.” (PX1). Dr. Tack was

also of the opinion that Petitioner had reached MMI and did not require additional medical
intervention. (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that the insurance company sent her to see Dr. Tack on 6/10. (T.23).
She noted that she then “... started to see [neurosurgeon Dr. Matthew Ross at Midwest
Neurosurgery and Spine Specialists] with my insurance.” (T.23). When asked whether she was
referred to Dr. Ross by a friend, Petitioner responded: “No. Nobody. I looked in the computer,
and I wanted him to review the disc.” (T.23-24). She agreed that Dr. Ross reviewed the MRI,
noting that “... he hardly could see anything. That good thing that I didn’t let them inject me
because where they were going to put it, he couldn’t see anything,” (T.24).

In an office note dated 6/20/16, Dr. Ross noted that “Ms. Ramirez’s low back pain is
most likely due to a lumbosacral strain. We discussed treatment options. [ suggested she
undergo more intense physical training in a work conditioning program. She may benefit from
the use of Lidoderm patches to help control the local muscular pain. I would also recommend an
updated MRI in a closed unit. Ms. Ramirez is not capable of returning to work when she is
enrolled in a 5-day per week work conditioning program. The patient will return for a followup
after completion of her work conditioning.” (PX1).

In a letter to Petitioner dated 6/29/16, Robert McDade, Senior Resolution Manager at
Gallagher Bassett, noted that based on Dr. Tack’s report, Ms. Ramirez was “... considered to be
at the maximum medical improvement under this workers’ compensation claim and no further
treatment or indemnity benefits will be authorized.” (PX1). Petitioner acknowledged receiving
this letter informing her that the insurance company was stopping her benefits. (T.24-25).

A lumbar MRI performed on 7/10/16 revealed “[cJonus medullaris terminates at the mid
L2 level, at the lower limits of normal. Straightening of normal lumbar lordosis. Overall bone
marrow signal is normal. No bone marrow edema. Vertebral body heights and disc space
heights are preserved. No paravertebral soft tissue abnormality. T12-L1, L1-1.2, L2-L3, and L3-
L4: Unremarkable. L4-L5: Slight disc bulge, mild ligamentum thickening, and slight facet
enlargement. No stenosis. L5-S1: Minimal disc bulge, no stenosis.” (PX1).

In an office note dated 7/15/16, Dr. Ross indicated that the MRI scan was of “excellent
quality” and “...does not show any evidence of disk herniation or nerve impingement. There is
the slightest evidence of disk bulging at the 1.4-5 and L5-S1 levels. The study is almost normal.”
(PX1). Dr. Ross concluded that “Ms. Ramirez’s back pain is most likely due to lumbosacral and
sacroiliac strains. It is unlikely due to disk pathology. I have recommended that she proceed
with a right sacroiliac joint block and steroid injection. I specifically instructed the pain
specialist to block the intra-articular space and overlying muscle attachments separately. The
injection can serve both diagnostic as well as potentially therapeutic purposes. Ms. Ramirez is
capable of working on a light duty basis. Specifically, she may lift up to 10 pounds. Bending,
squatting, and stooping activities should be performed as tolerated. The patient will be returning
for a followup visit after completion of her S joint injection.” (PX1).
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In an office note dated 8/30/16, Dr. Ross noted that “Ms. Ramirez’s failure to improve
with the sacroiliac joint block suggests that her pain is not due to sacroiliitis or sacroiliac strain.
She does not have any evidence of nerve impingement that would explain her perceived altered
sensation over her legs. There is no surgical treatment that would likely improve her condition.
As a result, 1T have recommended that the patient be evaluated by a specialist in Physical
Medicine and Rehabilitation... In the meantime, Ms. Ramirez is capable of working only in a
light duty basis. T will increase her lifting to 15 pounds in accordance with her demonstrated
performance during the functional capacity evaluation.” (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that she saw Dr. Ross on 7/15, to bring him the MRI disc, and again on
8/30. (T.25). She likewise agreed that Dr, Ross told her she did not need surgery and told her to
see Dr. Kruger at Marianjoy. (T.25). However, she noted that this “... didn’t work., They gave
me some patches. I continued taking my pain medicine, the one for inflammation, and it didn’t
do any good.” (T.25). However, she indicated that she never went to Marianjoy and instead went
to Dr. Graf at the [llinois Spine Institute. (T.26). When asked if she got his name off the internet
as well, she stated: “Not precisely because that’s the route and then there is offices there. Very
big one. I made the appointment.” (T.26). She agreed she found him on her own. (T.26).

In Illinois Spine Institute “New Patient Notes” dated 9/2/16, Dr. Carl Graf noted that he
“. .. personally reviewed an MRI scan of the lumbar spine. Overall this is normal. Demonstrate
some mild straightening of the normal lordosis, no disc herniation, nerve root compression or
otherwise.” (PX1). Dr. Graf indicated that the patient presented with ““... the majority of low
back pain with some vague radiating leg pain. I had a long discussion with her today regarding
her symptoms. They seem to be facet in origin. [ did review some recent injection reports which
indicated that she was undergoing sacroiliac joint injections. I recommended facet medial

branch blocks to her... If she has a good response, she would be a candidate for a rhizotomy.”
(PX1).

In an EMG/Nerve Conduction Study report dated 9/9/16 the impression was “[n]ormal
electromyography and nerve conduction study of both lower extremities.” (RX12).

Petitioner indicated that she returned to Dr. Astacio on 9/6 “[clause my feet would go
numb.” (T.27). She agreed she had the EMG at St. Joseph’s Hospital on 9/9, and that she went
to the Mayo Clinic in October following a friend’s recommendation. (1.27). She indicated that
she saw a “nerves specialist” at Mayo two times and they gave the MRI disk to the radiologists.

(T.27). She noted that they did another EMG of her left leg, which was the worst of the two.
(T.27-28).

In a Mayo Clinic “Neurology Specialty Evaluation” report dated 10/10/16, Petitioner was
diagnosed with 1) low back pain, post-fall; 2) history of lower limb fatigue and paresthesias; and
3)} occasional hand paresthesias, question of carpal tunnel syndrome. (PX1). An MRI of the
lumbar spine performed on that date revealed “[m]ildly heterogeneous marrow, within limits for
age. Multilevel lumbar spondylosis with disc desiccation, mild facet arthropathy, and fatty
atrophy of paraspinal muscles. No significant canal or foraminal stenosis. In particular, there is
no mechanical compression of the traversing or exiting LS nerve roots. Peripheral causes of
impingement are not excluded, and could be evaluated with lumbar neurography. Conus
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medullaris terminates at L2. Cauda equina nerve roots have a normal appearance. Rectus
abdominis diastasis.” (PX1). X-rays of the pelvis with sacro-iliac taken at that time were
interpreted as showing “[mlild lumbar facet arthritis. Degenerative change in both SI joints.
The lumbar spine and pelvis are otherwise negative.” (PX1).

An EMG performed at the Mayo Clinic on 10/13/16 was interpreted as normal with no
electrophysiologic evidence of a left LS or St radiculopathy. (PX1).

In a Mayo Clinic “Neurology Subsequent Visit” record dated 10/14/16, Petitioner was
diagnosed with 1) chronic low back pain; 2) lumbar spondylosis and mild facet arthropathy, in
the setting of normal neurological assessment; and 3) DJID, sacroiliac joints.” (PX1). The
physician, Dr. M. Milone, noted that “I reassured Mrs. Ramirez about the normal neurological
findings and lack of evidence for nerve root compression or injury. The spondylosis and facet

arthropathy can be source of pain and, in this regard, 1 defer recommendations to the Spine
physician.” (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that after the Mayo Clinic she went back to the Illinois Spine Institute
where she saw a different doctor, Dr. Lami. (T.28). She noted that her “personal” doctor had
recommended him. (T.28). She indicated that she did not want to see Dr. Graf “... because he
told me the only thing he could do was block the nerves in my back and I was scared. 1 wanted
another opinion from Lami.” (T.28).

In an Illinois Spine Institute office note dated 10/21/16, Dr. Babak Lami noted that “I
reviewed her lumbar MRI which is fairly benign. I do not see any indications for surgery or
further injections. My recommendation is physical therapy, home exercise program and work
restrictions.” (PX1). Dr. Lami’s diagnosis was spondylosis without myelopathy or
radiculopathy, lumbosacral region. (PX1).

In a letter addressed “[tjo whom it may concern” dated 11/7/16, Dr. Astacio noted that
Petitioner “... has been a patient of MarCon Medical Partners for some time and at this time is
being treated for multiple conditions of depression with possible fibromyalgia, back pain with
sciatica. She is currently taking Cymbalta 60 mg daily with relief from her symptoms. She

continues to seek care for back pain from other medical providers due to a work related fall.”
(PX1).

Petitioner agreed that she had also seen a doctor in Mexico, Enrique Felipe Vazquez
Avalos. (T.29). She noted that “I had not gone on vacation a whole year because [ can’t sit for a
long time and when I arrived there, because I was three hours on the plane, I was really sick
cause 1 couldn’t even walk because of sitting.” (T.29). When asked who sent her there,
Petitioner replied: “My family. And there is also an area where I go, too.” (T.29). She indicated
that she was in Mexico for ten days, and that has been the only trip she has taken from 2/9
through today. (T.29-30). She agreed she flew both ways. (T.30).

In a “[tJo whom it may concern” letter by Dr. Felipe Enrique Vazquez Avalos, franslated
on 2/9/17, it was noted that Petitioner presented to him on 12/27/16 at which time he assessed
her and took an x-ray. (PX1). He indicated that he treated her with anti-inflammatories and pain
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relievers and suggested she “... submit to dynamic flouroscopia to determinfe] the level of
movability of the coccyx it [sic] necessary in this case. I also recommend[ed] she does [sic] a
nuclear magnetic resanacia [sic] to rate the lumbar vertebra.” (PX1).

Petitioner agreed that she also saw a Dr. Prpa in Racine, Wisconsin, (T.30). She noted
that “[h]e’s [an] orthopedist and a spine specialist” and that she got his name from the internet.
(T.30). The Commission notes that it does not appear that any records from Dr. Prpa were
introduced into evidence. Petitioner indicated that since she visited Dr. Prpa she had seen her
personal doctor, Dr. Astocio, about two times. (T.30-31).

Petitioner stated that she has not returned to work for Respondent “yet” and that she has
not looked for work anywhere else “[blecause I want to return there as a part-timer.” (T.31). She
noted that “[mly time was full time, but [ would like to try a couple days a week if I don’t feel
too bad from by back.” (T.31). She indicated that before the injury she worked eight hours a
day, 40 hours a week, but that she wants to work less “... because of what happens now. I'm
afraid as to how I'm going to feel. But in time if I feel better, I do want to work because [ like to
work all the time. If you see in my income taxes last year, I worked a lot of overtime.” (T.31-
32). When asked again if she had looked for work anywhere else since, she responded: “No.
How am I going to?” (T.32).

When asked by the Arbitrator if there was anything else she wished to add, Petitioner
testified that “... all I want to ask is for you to consider me consideration |[sic] because I can see
the lawyers and the companies, they just utilize us when we’re good. When I had my health,

they didn’t want me, And now they going to — they give me bad faces because I’'m not going to
be working as fast as the others.” (T.32-33).

Conclusions of Law

It is a well-settled principle that when a claimant seeks TTD benefits, the dispositive
inquiry is whether the claimant's condition has stabilized, i.e., whether the claimant has reached
maximum medical improvement. Interstate Scaffolding, Inc. v. Ill. Workers' Comp. Commission,
236 1. 2d 132, 142, 923 N.E.2d 266, 271 (2010). TTD compensation is provided for in §8(b) of
the Workers' Compensation Act, which provides that “[wleekly compensation *** shall be paid
*** as long as the total temporary incapacity lasts,” which the courts have interpreted to mean
that an employee is temporarily totally incapacitated from the time an injury incapacitates her for
work until such time as she is as far recovered or restored as the permanent character of his
injury will permit. Interstate Scaffolding, Inc., 923 N.E.2d at 272.

In the present case, the Arbitrator found that Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled
from February 16, 2016 through June 29, 2016, or the date that Dr. Tack’s report was forwarded
to Petitioner. (Arb.Dec. [Addendum], p.3). The Commission agrees with the Arbitrator’s
determination that Petitioner had reached MMI and required no further medical treatment with
respect to her work-related injury based on the opinion of Dr. Tack following his examination on
June 10, 2016. However, the Commission finds that the period of TTD actually commenced on
February 9, 2016 (not February 16, 2016) given the Advocate Sherman Outpatient Center “Work
Status/Treatment Report” on that date which noted Petitioner was restricted from work until seen
by occupational health with no lifting over 10 pounds. (PX1). Thereafter, the record shows that
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on February 12, 2016 occupational health issued a “Work Status Discharge Instructions” report
that found Petitioner could return to work on that date with restrictions of no lifting, bending,
climbing, pushing or pulling and no work above shoulders. (PX1). While Petitioner did not
specifically address whether she requested accommodated work within her restrictions at that
time, there is no evidence to suggest that as a housekeeper Respondent was in any way ready,
willing and able to accommodate her along these lines,

Accordingly, the Commission finds that Petitioner was temporarily totally disabied from
February 9, 2016 through June 29, 2016, for a period of 20-1/7 weeks (including the additional
leap year day in 2016).

All else -- including the Arbitrator’s determinations as to causation, medical expenses
and nature and extent -- is otherwise affirmed and adopted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Arbitrator’s decision
dated 3/2/17 is affirmed and adopted with changes as stated herein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $364.91 per week for a period of 20-1/7 weeks, from 2/9/16 through 6/29/16, that
being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $328.42 per week for a period of 10 weeks, as provided in §8(d)2 of the Act, for the

reason that the injuries sustained caused permanent partial disability to the extent of 2% person-
as-a-whole.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury;
provided that Respondent shall hold Petitioner harmless from any claims and demands by any
providers of the benefits for which Respondent is receiving credit under this order.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n} of the Act, if any.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $4,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

bATED.  MAY 1- 2020

o0: 3/24/20 . _ y ]
TIT: pmo )

|
Thomas J. Tyrre‘ﬂ'
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Kathryn A. Doerries

Maria E, Portela







ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
 NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

RAMIREZ, ANA - Case# 16WC011352

Employae/Petitioner
SHERMAN HO#PlTAL | | 2 0 I w C C 0 2 5 9
Employerllf{es'ponderat‘ S '

On 3/2/2017, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.67% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day

before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue. ' S ‘

A copy of this decision is mailed to the féilbwing'parties:'

0000 RAMIREZ, ANA
875 PARKWAY AVE
ELGIN, IL 60120

1109 GAROFALO SCHREIBER STORM
SCOTT SCHREIBER '

55 W WACKER DR 10TH FL,

CHICAGO, IL. 60601 '
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o STATEO%F;?‘E»‘INOQ i,j ;ﬁ }5’?’ e Lﬁ D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)8S. ' [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(2)

COUNTY OF KANE ) [ second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBFTRATION DECISION -
ANA RAMIREZ . Case # 16 WC 11352
Employee/Petitioner
v. Consolidated cases:
SHERMAN HOSPITAL

Employer/Respondent 2 0 I W C C 0 2 5 9 ,

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Heaﬁng was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gerald Granada, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Geneva, on 2/10/17.. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on
the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. [” | Was Respondent operating under and-subject to the Hlinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases.Act?

[ ] Was theresan employee-employer relationship?

[__1Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

. L] What was i date of the accident?

] Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causaily related to the injury?

[_] What were Petitioner's earnings?

[__] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

[ ] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[ 1 Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? IHas Respondent
paid all appropiate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

. [X] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[1TPD {1 Maintenance | TTD

L. What is the nature and exient of the injury?

M. [_1Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. [ ]1s Respondent due any credit?

O. [_|Other ___

~rmTmammya®

W

ICArbDee 2/10 100 W. Randelph Sireet #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www iwce fl.gov
Downstarte offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 21 7/785-7084
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On 2/8/16, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $28,462.72; the average weekly wage was $547.36.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 44 years of age, single with dependent children.

PeQ@ner has received all reasonable a}?ndnecessaly medical services.

‘1,.{‘ M, € EJ? . U e 2l
Respondent has paiah all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $7,037.57 for TTD,$  forTPD,$  for maintenance, and $

for
other benefits, for a fotal credit of $7,037.57.

Respondent is entitled to acreditof $  under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $364.91/week for 19 2/7 weeks,
commencing 2/16/16 through 6/29/16, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $328.42/week for 10 weeks, because
the injuries sustained caused the 2% loss of the person as a whole, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;

however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, mterest shall not
accrue.

Signature of Arhitrator ) Date

Ana Ramirez v. Shermum Hospltal, 16 WC 11352 - ICArbDec p. 2

MAR 2 - 2017
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FINDINGS OF FACT

This claim involves a Petitioner alleging that she sustained an injury while working for the Respondent on
February 9, 2016. Respondent disputes Petitioner’s claims based on the following issues at trial: 1) causation,
2) TTD and 3) nature and extent. Petifioner initially signed an Application for Adjustment of Claim on April 7,
2016, which was originally filed by attorney Bradley Dworkin. {RX 16) Shortly thereafter, the Petitioner
terminated the services of Mir. Dworkin and hired attorney Charles Romaker who filed a Substitution of
Attorney. (RX 17) Subsequently, the Petitioner terminated Mr. Romaker’s services. Petitioner proceeded to

hearing pro se despite numerous recommendations made by the Arbitrator at pnor pre trials and on the trial-
date. She testified via a Spanish translator

The pariies stipulated that the Petitioner was injured while working for the Respondent on February 9, 2016. At
trial, the Petitioner was allowed to make a statement regarding her injuries. She testified briefly about her

accident on February 9, 2016 and basically complained of how she had been i:reated by her employer and still
had pain.

On cross-examination, counsel for Respondent elicited dates of treatment from various providers and how the
petitioner came to see each provider. The Petitioner testified that she initially reported to the emergency room -
of Sherman Hospital. A neurclogical examination was benign with no near deficits. X-rays of the back and ribs
were negative for fractures. The diagnosis was a lumbar strain and contusion. The emergency room physician

advised her to take medication and follow up with her personal care physician (PCP). She was released to
restricted duty. {RX 1)

The Petitioner next sought treatment at the Occupational Clinic. She was scen on multiple 6ccasions through
March 8, 2016. Their records reflect that she received medication and was referred for physical therapy. She

was released to restricted duty at these visits. She was referred to Dr. Christopher Cascino, a neurosurgeon. (RX
1)

On March 16, 2016, the Petitioner saw Dr. Cascino. (RX 3) Dr. Cascino wanted to rule out a fracture of the
coccyx and suggested x-rays and an MRIL. On March 25, 2016, the Petitioner underwent an MRI of the
lumbosacral spine, which was negative. (RX 2) X-rays of the coccyx were also negative. When she returned to
Dr. Cascino on April 4, 2016, he noted that both the x-rays and MRI normal. His record for that visit indicated
that from his standpoint, she had no limitations. However, because she stated that she “was in too much pain to

return to work™, he suggested she see a pain doctor. She was not scheduled for any follow up with Dr. Cascino.
(RX3)

The Petitioner hired attomey Bradley Dworkin and signed her Application on April 7, 2016. (Arbs 2, RX 16)
She testified that she was referred to Dr. Jain by Mr. Dworkin, but may have seen his therapist. Dr. Jain is her
first doctor choice. She indicated that she did not like him and wanted 1o see a specialist.

Shortly thereatter, the Petitioner fired Mr. Dworkin and hired attorney Chasles Romaker. (RX 17) According to
the Petitioner, Mr. Romaker referred her to Windy City where she saw at least three different doctors including
Drs. Soldana, Pointen and Erickson. Windy City was her second doctor choice. Records from her visit on May
4, 2016 indicate that she was not experiencing any weakness, numbness or tingling. - She did ‘complain of
radiating pain. An examination revealed negative straight leg raising : and 5/5 strepgth, with no sensory deficit.
She did have subjective tenderness. Despite an essentially normal examination, except for her subjective
complaints of tenderness and pain, the doctors recommended facet injections, medications, off work status and
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another MRI. (RX'5) She underwent the MRI at Edgebrook, which was normal. (RX 6) She declined the
imjections, as she was concerned about gaining weight.

On June 6, 2016, the Petitioner reported to Dr. Astacio, her PCP who had treated her in the past for other
conditions. This was her third doctor choice. He suggested that she bring her MRI and x-rays for his review.
He also recommended an EMG. (PX GROUP 1)

The Petitioner underwent an independent medical evaluation with Dr. Tack on June 10, 2016 at the request of
the Respondent. This examination was also normal and Dr. Tack opined that the Petitioner did not require any

further care after her treatment with Dr. Cascino. He felt she had reached maximum medical improvement and .

could return to work without restriction. (RX 7) The Petitioner never attempted to return to her full duty job at
Sherman or elsewhere. On June 29, 2016, a letier was sent to the Petitioner advising her that benefits were
terminated based upon her release to return to full duty (RX 8)

Apparently dissatistied with her treatment at Windy City, she next sought treatment with Dr. Matthew Ross,
another neurosurgeon on June 30, 2016. She stated that she obtained the name of Dr. Ross from the Internet.
Dr. Ross was her fourth doctor choice. He reviewed the May 16, 2016 MRI and stated that it was normal. He

diagnosed a lumbar strain. Dr. Ross recommended: a closed MRI, physical thesapy, Lidoderm patches and
work conditioning. (RX 10)

Respondent secured two Utilization Reviews (UR). The UR dated July 13, 2016 indicated non-certification for

a VascuTherm cold therapy unit. The second UR on July 20, 2016 indicated non-ceriification for the compound
Lidoderm Patches. (RX 15)

On July 10, 2016, the Petitioner underwent a closed MRI at Cadence/DelNor Hospital. The report revealed
minimal bulges without stenosis. (PX 9) At her follow up visit on July 15, 2016, Dr. Ross opined that the study
was “almost normal with the slightest evidence of disc bulging at L 4-5 and L5-S1. There was no evidence of
disc herniation or nerve impingement.” He suggested sacroiliac blocks and restricted duty. (RX 10)

The Petitioner returned __td Dr. Ross on Aug.ust 30, 2016. He noted she had undergone a sacroiliac injection
without any improvement and therefore concluded that her problem was neither sacroiliitis nor a sacral strain.
She also noted that therapy, the patches and medication did not work. Dr. Ross did not feel she was a surgical

candidate. He referr_ed her to Marianjoy to see Dr. Krieger, a physical medicine specialist. It is unclear if she
ever reported to Marianjoy. (RX 10)

The Petitioner sought out yet another physician on the Internet, Dr. Michael Graf. Dr. Graf is her fifth doctor
choice, His examjnation was essentially normal. However, given her complaints of pain, he recommended
fac;et medial branch blocks. She did not return o Dr. Graf. (RX 14)

On September 6, 2016, the Petitioner returned 1o Dr. Astacio. He referred the Petitioner for an EMG, which
was performed at St. Joseph Hospital on September 9, 2016. 1i was an entirely normal examination. (RX 12)

The Petitioner also reported to the Mayo Clinic. Their records indicate she was self-referred while the Petitioner
testified a friend had recommended this provider — which became her sixth doctor choice. X-rays at the Mayo
Clinic revealed degenerative changes but were otherwise normal. The doctor reviewed the MRI noting only
slightly bulges of the discs. The Petitioner was referred for another EMG on October 13, 2016 for her left leg,
That test was also normal with no evidence of radicidopathy. (RX 13)
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The Petitioner next sought treatment from Dr. Lami. While Dr. Lami is in the same practice as Dr. Graf, she
was not referred to him by Dr. Graf but chose Dr. Lami because she did not Iike Dr. Graf’s recommendations
and at the referral of her PCP. Dr. Lami is her seventh doctor choice. Dr. Lami reviewed the MRI and

commented that no surgery was needed. He suggested a home exercise program and therapy. (PX 14) The
Petitioner never returned to Dr. Lami.

In December 2016, the Petitioner traveled to Mexico. She traveled by plane and testified this was a three hour
flight. She stated that she had pain in her back. In Mexico she saw a Dr. Enrique Felipe Vasquez Avalos on
December 27, 2016 through a referral from a friend. Dr. Avalos is her eighth doctor choice. His report is in

Spanish. She also testified that she saw Dr. Brambo Prpa, a physician in Racine, Wisconsin on January 14,
2017. Dr. Prpa is her ninth doctor choice. (PX GROUP 1)

The Petitioner testified that she never returned to Advocate nor did she attempt to look for work anywhere else
throughout her course of care. At the time of trial, she indicated that she wanted to return 1o work part time and
wanted to work less as she was afraid of how she would feel.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. With regafd to the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner’s diagnosed lower back strain is
causally related to her February 9, 2016 work accident. This finding is supported by the medical evidence and
the Petitioner’s testimony eliciied during her cross-cxamination.

2. With regard to the issue of TTD, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from
February 16, 2016 up to June 25, 2016, a period of 19 and 2/7 weeks. Prior to her IME with Dr. Tack, a number
of medical providers gave the Pefitioner restrictions on her return to work. Dr, Tack examined the Petitioner on
June 10, 2016 and opined that the Petitioner required no further care, was at MMI and could return to work
without restrictions. That report was sent to the Petitioner June 29, 2016. The Arbitrator finds the opinion of

Dr. Tack to be credible and supported by the multiple MRI’s, EMG’s and negative findings at multiple
examinations by the numerous treating doctors involved.

The Arbitrator further finds that any recommendations for lost time and/or restricted duty after the independent
medical evaluation are not supported by any objective medical evidence. The sole basis for those restrictions
was the Petitioner’s subjective complaints of pain, which were unfounded given the lack of any objective
findings. It is unclear whether several of her treating doctors ever had the benefit of a prior doctor’s records and
findings, thereby leading to similar recommendations and repeat diagnostics.

3. With regard 1o the issue of pature and extent, the Arbitrator notes that pursuant to Section 8.1b of the Act, for
accidental injuries occurring after September 1, 2011, permanent partial disability shall be established using five
enumerated criteria, with no single factor being the sole determinant of disability. Per 820 TLCS 305/8.1b(b),
the criteria to be considered are as follows: (i) the reported level of impairment pursuant to subsection ()
[AMA “Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment”]; (ii) the occupation of the injured employee; (iii)
the age of the employee at the time of the injury; (iv) the employee's future earning capacity; and (v) evidence

of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. Applying this standard to this claim, the Arbitrator
makes the following findings listed below.
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(1) Impairment. No level of impairment was offered into evidence and therefore, the Arbitrator gives no weight
to this factor.

(11) Occupation. Petitioner testified that she performed housckeeping duties for the Respondent, and although
the Petitioner never returned to this job, there was no evidence offered indicating that she could not retumn to her
previous occupation nor did Petitioner ever attempt to return to her job despite the normal physical examination
findings from her various physicians. The Arbitrator gives this factor considerable weight.

(i) Age. Petitioner was 44 years old at the time of her accident. Given the evidence in this case, Petitioner’s
age did not factor significantly in this case.

(iv) Future Earning Capacity. There was no evidence presented regarding Petitioner’s future earning capacity
and therefore the Arbitrator give this factor no weight.

(v) Evidence of Disability. There was evidence of disability corroborated by the medical evidence, which
showed that the Petitioner sustained a lower back strain for which she underwent multiple examinations and
tests — all of which were essentially normal. Nevertheless, Petitioner continued to complain of pain despite all
the normal objective findings. The Arbitrator finds persuasive the opinions of Dr. Tack on this matter, since

many of the treating physicians were in agreement with Dr. Tack’s findings. The Arbitrator gives this factor
significant weight.

Considering all of the factors required under Section 8.1(b), as well as the Petitioner’s irial testimony and the
medical evidence, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner has suffered the permanent and partial loss of use of
the person as a whole to the extent of 2% thereof due to her injury.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF LAKE ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
& Modify Down @ None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Mike Gabriel,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 15 WC 24061
ot 20IWCC0260
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by Respondent herein and notice given to all
parties, the Commission, after considering the issue of nature and extent, and being advised of the
facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and
adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

In the interest of efficiency, the Commission primarily relies on the Arbitrator’s detailed
recitation of facts. The Commission finds Petitioner sustained permanent disabilities due to the
July 11, 2015, work incident. An August 27, 2015, lumbar MRI had the following impression:
small midline disc herniation at L.4-5 with mild encroachment on the LS nerve roots bilaterally;
moderate-sized midline and right paramedian disc herniation at L5-S1 with encroachment on the
S1 nerve roots bilaterally, right more than left; and degenerative change with no additional sign of
significant spinal canal compromise or nerve root encroachment. Dr. Yuk diagnosed degenerative
lumbar spine disease and a right L5-S1 disc herniation. Dr. Yuk did not believe Petitioner was a
surgical candidate and recommended Petitioner continue to undergo conservative treatment. When
Petitioner’s complaints did not improve with pain medication, Dr. Yuk recommended a trial of

lumbar ESIs. Petitioner underwent a series of bilateral ESIs at I.5-S1 and injections in the right SI
joint in late 2015.

A February 2016 lumbar MRI had the impression of mild central stenosis at 1.3-4 and L4-
5, and at 1.5-S1 a small disc protrusion slightly left para-median without compressing any neural
elements. Dr. Yuk confirmed that Petitioner was not a candidate for surgical intervention. An April
15, 2016, FCE was deemed valid and determined Petitioner met only 60.71% of his job demands.
The evaluator noted that Petitioner’s job requirements were at the medium/heavy duty level;
however, Petitioner was only able to perform at the medium demand level. The evaluator wrote,
“If the client is able to have accommodations [to] perform activity at the occasional basis, and
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lifting only in the medium physical demand level (under 40 1bs. for this paﬁent), that patient could
begin to gradually return to work...”

Petitioner last visited Dr. Fliman on April 28, 2016. On that date, Petitioner reported an
improved tolerance to standing and less numbness and tingling with medication. He was using a
TENS unit each day for symptom relief and still had occasional pain radiating into his buttocks
and thighs. Petitioner also reported a constant ache over the low back radiating into the bilateral
hip and groin area. Petitioner also complained of occasional numbness and tingling radiating from
the right buttock down to the posterior lateral thigh and posterior calf. Dr. Fliman released
Petitioner to return to work with the 40 lb. lifting restriction identified in the FCE. She placed
Petitioner at MMI and noted that Petitioner might continue to use Neurontin for treatment of
paresthesias and may eventually taper over a course of several weeks. Petitioner sought no further
treatment relating to this work injury.

After carefully considering the totality of the evidence, the Commission finds Petitioner
sustained a 15% loss of use of the whole person. In so finding, the Commission assigns less weight
to factor (ii) of Section 8.1b(b)}—the occupation of the injured employee. The valid FCE revealed
Petitioner fell short of meeting all the official physical demands of his job. Pursuant to that FCE,
Dr. Fliman prescribed a permanent lifting restriction of 40 lbs. Petitioner returned to work full duty
in April 2016; however, it is undisputed that he was able to receive assistance when lifting heavy
items when necessary. He continued to work in his normal position as a millwork department
manager with minor adjustments for approximately a year before he decided to pursue a different
career. While Petitioner testified that he changed careers in order to find something less physically
demanding, there is no evidence that any doctor ever recommended a change in careers, During
the almost year that he continued to work for Respondent after achieving MMI, Petitioner sought
no additional medical treatment and did not complain to any doctors about his ongoing low back
symptoms. Furthermore, the Commission finds there is no evidence that Petitioner was unable to
find another job in his original profession within his permanent lifting restriction. Instead,
Petitioner independently decided he wanted to pursue a more sedentary job.

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission find Petitioner’s eventual job change was not
related to the July 11, 2015, work incident. Thus, after weighing the five factors pursuant to Section
8.1b of the Act, the Commission finds Petitioner sustained a 15% loss of use of the whole person.

The Commission otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed July 23, 2019, is modified as stated herein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall pay to Petitioner permanent partial
disability benefits of $369.93 for 75 weeks, because Petitioner’s injuries caused 15% loss of use
of the whole person, as provided for in §8(d)2 of the Act.

—~IT-1S-FURTHER-ORDERED-that Respondent-shall-have-ereditfor-all-asmounts-paid; if -
any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent pay to Petitioner interest pursuant to §19(n)
of the Act, if any.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $27,900.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  MAY 1 - 2020 W
d: 4/7120 ") A

TIT/ids Thomas J L})S/rre]y

51 ]
Pesia_ E e, efha
Maria E Portela

.....

Kathryn A. Doerries
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Lake ) [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Michael Gabriel Case # 15 WC 24061
Employee/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases:
Menards

Emplover/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to
each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Jessica A. Hegarty, Arbitrator of the
Commission, in the city of Waukegan, Illinois on 3/20/19. After reviewing all of the evidence
presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below and attaches those
findings to this document.

- DISPUTED ISSUES

A. E] Was Respondent operating under and subject to the [llinois Workers' Compensation or
Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. L__] Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by
Respondent?

: D What was the date of the accident?
D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

T o ™M m O

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

. D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

.

J. [:] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has
Respondent

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. D What temporary benefits are in dispute?
D TPD D Maintenance D TTD

L. @ What is the nature and extent of the in jury?



R
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M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

TCArbDecFatal 2710 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago. IL 60601 312814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.hvec il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309:671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 7/11/15, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is causally related to the acéident.

In the year pl.*ecécfin:g:t'hé.i_njufsf, Petitibn'er'eamed $32,060.60; the average weekly wage was $616.55.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 36 years of age, married with 3 dependent children.

Petitioner has received-all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $410.62 for TTD, $10.844.86 for TPD, N/A for maintenance,
and N/A for other benefits, for a total credit of $11,255.48.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $7,397.65 for overpayment of TPD.
'ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent disability benefits consistent with the Arbitrator’s finding
that Petitioner’s injuries caused the 25% loss of the person as a whole, as provided in Section 8 (d) 2 of
the Act. (See the attached Addendum for the Arbitrator’s analysis pursuant to the Act).

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered
as the decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the
Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of
payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest
shall not accrue.

S L Mpilly
" : 7/22/19

Signature of Arbitrator Date

IC.ArbDecFatai p.2 JUL 2 3 2019

(S}
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

MIKE GABRIEL, )
Petitioner, )
)
}
V8. ) No. 15 WC 24061
)
) '
MENARDS ) 0 T g 6 0
Respondent. ) 2 A5 @ C ' 2

ADDENDUM TO THE DECISION OF THE ARBITRATOR .
Findings of Fact -

The Petitioner was hired by Respondent in 1999. On the accident date, the Petitioner’s job title was
Millwright Department Manager which involved occasional lifting up to 50 pounds, 25 pounds
frequently, and 10 pounds constantly.

The parties stipulated the Petitioner was injured in a work-related accident on 7/11/15 (Arb. 1}. On that

date, while lifting an acrylic pallet weighing 50-75 pounds, Petitioner noticed the onset of pain in his
lumbar spine.

On 7/12/15, the Petitioner presented to Centegra Hospital with a history of pain in the lumbosacral
spine after lifting a pallet. (PX 1). Lumbar x-rays were normal. Petitioner was started on Ibuprofen,
Flexeril and administered an injection of Toradol. Petitioner returned 3 days later when he was given a
Medrol Dosepak and referred to Dr. Margarite Fliman. (PX 1).

On 7/20/15, Dr. Margarite Fliman at Centegra Physician Care noted a history of lumbar radiculopathy
to the left foot after lifting a 50-60 pound pallet at work. (PX 3). Petitioner reported feeling 90% better
but reported occasional numbness in his hips. A history of degenerative disc disease and lumbar spinal
stenosis for which Petitioner had previously treated with therapy and epidural steroid injections was
noted. Petitioner reportedly was asymptomatic prior to the accident date at issue for two years. On
exam, Dr. Fliman noted tenderness to palpation over the left lower lumbosacral paraspinals and right
upper buttock. Lumbar flexion caused pain radiating into the right posterior thigh while lumbar
extension to a lesser degree exacerbated this pain. Straight leg raise increased right buttock pain and
diminished right Achilles reflex was noted. Dr. Fliman noted a diagnosis of lumbar radiculopathy,
ordered an MRI, provided a lumbar brace and issued a 5 pound work restriction. (Id.).

The Respondent accommodated the restrictions and the Petitioner returned to limited duty within said
restrictions on 7/20/15.

On 8/11/15, Petitioner returned to Dr. Fliman with a history of increased weakness in the right leg after
working 2-3 hours, increased numbness and tingling radiating from the right buttock down to the
posterior lateral thigh and calf, and constant burning over the right shin. The prior recommended MRI
and physical therapy was not authorized as of this date. On exam, lumbar flexion beyond 30 degrees
exacerbated pain radiating into the right posterior thigh while lumbar extension exacerbated this pain
to a lesser degree. Lower extremity strength was limited by pain with right hip flexion and weakness of
right plantar flexion when doing toe raises was noted. Light touch sensation was diminished over the

4
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right lateral thigh. Diminished right Achilles reflex was also noted. Straight leg raise bilaterally
increased Petitioner’s right buttock pain.

Dr. Fliman noted Petitioner’s worsening weakness and parasthesias were consistent with right S1
radiculopathy. (Id.). The doctor continued to recommend the MRI, noting Petitioner may require
epidural steroid injections. Petitioner was to continue with his current medications of Medrol
Tramadol, and Lansoprazole (Id.).

On8/27/15, the Petitioner underwent the MRI at MH Imaging. The following impressions were noted:

e . Small midline disc herniation at 1.4-L5 with mild encroachment on LS nerve roots
bilaterally;

* Moderate sized midline and right paramedian disc herniation at LS-S1 with
encroachment on the S1 nerve roots bilaterally, right greater than left;

¢ Degenerative change with no additional sign of spinal canal compromise or nerve root
encroachment (PX 2).

On 8/31/15, the Petitioner followed up with Dr. Fliman who noted complamts of brlateral radiating
buttocks pain, numbness and tingling radiating from the right buttock into the posterior lateral thlgh
and calf and constant burning over the rlght shrn (id.).

The doctor reviewed the recent MRI noting at L4-L5, a small midline disc herniation associated with
annular tear and mild encroachment of the bilateral L5 nerve roots. At L5-S1, annular tear with
moderate sized midline and right paramedian disk herniation was noted with moderate encroachment
ofthe L5 nerve root bllaterally and moderate bilateral facet hypertrophic changes.

On exam, Dr. Fliman noted similar findings to Petitioner’s prior exam. Petitioner’s restrictions were
continued and the doctor referred him to Dr. Antonio Yuk (neurosurgeon) for a surgical consult. Dr.
Fliman also referred Petitioner to Dr. Jing Liang, a physiatrist.

On 9/14/15, Dr. Antonio Yuk noted Petitioner presented with a history of back pain and bilateral hip
and calf burning after lifting a 50 pound pallet. (PX 4) The Petitioner reported pain alternating between
both hips and both calves, bilateral alternating numbness and tingling in his feet and frequent burning
in his right calf. (PX 4). The doctor noted the MRI scan showed “some disc bulges at multiple levels”.
(Id.). Dr. Yuk further noted “he does have a more specific disc herniation lateralizing toward the right
side at L5-S1. (Id.). Dr. Yuk noted no specific symptom or neurologic finding that required urgent
surgical intervention and recommended conservative treatment. Petitioner was released to work at his
current capacity. Petitioner indicated he preferred a non—s'nrgical treatment approach. (Id.).

On9/29/15, the Petltloner presented to Dr. Lzang who reviewed the MRI films, noting a significant dlsc
herniation at L5-St. The Petitioner reported a pain level of 7/10. Dr. Liang administered a
transforaminal epidural steroid injection (ESI) at L5-51 bilaterally and recommended physical therapy.

On 10/27/15, the Petitioner followed up with Dr. Liang reporting no relief from the prior ESL,
Suspecting the source of pain was in the Petitioner’s sacroiliac joint, Dr. Liang recommended a
diagnostic injection into that joint. He instructed the Petitioner to continue wrth the restrietions,
worklng no more than six hours per day. : :

On 12/ 1/ 15, Dr. anng noted the dlagnostrc ESI mdlcated that Petitioner’s sacrmhac joint may be the
pain source. . _ . _ _
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On 1/12/16, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Fliman’s office reporting noticed improvement in his lower
back and bilateral hips after participating in physical therapy. He reported 5/10 pain radiating
bilaterally into his buttocks after standing for more than several hours and occasional numbness and
tingling radiating from his right buttock into his posterior lateral thigh and calf. He reported receiving
a right sacroiliac joint injection on November 24, 2015 without improvement. A follow up injection to

the same area one month later provided some improvement. He continued to take Valium and Norco
for pain relief.

On exam, Dr. Fliman noted tenderness over the lower lumbosacral paraspinals and right buttock.
Lumbar flexion beyond 45 degrees exacerbated pain radiating into the right posterior thigh. Lumbar
extension was intact. Lower extremity strength was limited by pain for bilateral hip flexion 4 out of 5.
- Weakness of the right plantar flexion when doing toe raises was noted as was diminished light tough

sensation over the right lateral thigh, leg and foot and bilateral diminished Achilles reflexes. Straight
leg raise and FABERS were negative. (PX1).

Dr. Fliman recommended Petitioner continue with physical therapy for another month and if

symptoms stabilize, he would likely be at maximum medical improvement. (Id.). Work restrictions
were continued. (Id.).

The Petitioner was next seen by Dr. Liang on 1/14/16 reporting his pain level was at 5/10 and a 20%
improvement in his sacroiliac joint. Dr. Liang indicated the Petitioner may be a surgical candidate and
instrueted him to follow up with Dr. Fliman and Dr. Yuk.

The Petitioner underwent a second MRI on 2/19/16. The interpreting radiologist noted mild stenosis at
L3-L4 and Lgq-L5 and at L5-S1, and a small dise protrusion slightly left paramedian that did not
compress any neural elements.

On 2/25/16, Dr. Yuk reviewed the recent MRI scan and agreed with the radiologist’s description of
rather diffuse and mild structural findings. Dr. Yuk further noted the MRI scan did not “explain and
correlate” with Petitioner’s clinical course and response to conservative treatment including physical
therapy and three epidural steroid injections resulting in further increase in symptoms “not only on the
right but also on the left.” The doctor concluded he could not justify an operative procedure and

strongly recommended Petitioner seek additional opinions noting an independent medical evaluation
could, perhaps, be scheduled. {PX4). '

The Petitioner was next seen by Dr. Fliman on 3/3/16 at which time he reported symptoms of bilateral
lumbar radiculopathy now affectinig distribution of the L3 nerve as well with pain shooting from both
hips to his feet. (PX1) The doctor reviewed the MRI with Petitioner noting no evidence of significant
degenerative changes. The doctor ordered Petitioner to repeat use of a Medro! Dosepak and begin
taking Neurontin for treatment of parasthesias. Petitioner was referred for EMG/NCV to evaluate the
extent of radiculopathy and peripheral neuropathy. (PX1}).

On 3/29/16, Dr. Fliman noted Petitioner’s report of improved tolerance to standing up to 5 hours and
less numbness and tingling with Neurontin taken 3 times daily. (Id.). Petitioner complained of pain
radiating to the buttocks and thighs 6/10 in severity and constant aching over the lower back radiating
to the bilateral hip and groin area. Occasional numbness and tingling radiating from the right buttock
into the posterior lateral thigh and posterior calf. Dr. Fliman recounted the results of the 8/2015 MRI
and reviewed the 2/2016 MRI noting: at 1.3-L.4, a mild posterior disc bulge causing a mild degree of
central spinal stenosis; at L4-L5, a minimal posterior disc bulge and facet hypertrophy causing central

6
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spinal stenosis; at L5-S1, a small central protrusion of the disc slightly asymmetric to the left without
foraminal or spinal stenosis. (Id.). Dr. Fliman also reviewed the recent EMG noting mild slowing of the
conduction velocity which could be normal or suggest early peripheral neuropathy, however, without
evidence of lumbar sacral radiculopathy. (Id.). Dr Fliman noted the Petiioner had exhausted

conservative management and referred him for a Functional Capacity Exam (“FCE") noting he would
then be considered at MMI.

On 4/15/16, Petitioner underwent an FCE at Athletico. (PX 5). The evaluator stated that the Petitioner
put forth a maximum effort, noting he did not demonstrate the physical capabilities and tolerances to
perform all the essential job functions for Respondent. Petitioner had the most difficulty with bending
activities. The evaluator noted, “The farther down he has to bend and the heavier weight that he has to
lift, his mechanics decrease and the lift becomes unsafe”. The evaluator concluded Petitioner’s job -

demands were at a medium/heavy physical demand Jevel while Petitioner was able to perform activity
at the medium demand level.

The evaluator concluded the Petitioner was capable of performmg 60.71% of his pre—acc1dent job
demands with a 40 pound lifting restriction. (Id.)

On 4/28/16, Dr. Fliman noted Petitioner reported improved tolerance to standmg and symptom relief
with daily use of the TENS unit recently provided. He had less numbness and tingling with Neurontin
300 taken 3 tinies per day. He continued to have pain radiating down the buttocks and thighs
occasionally and a constant ache over his low back radiating to the bilateral hip and groin. Occasional
numbness and tingling radiating from the right buttock down into the posterior lateral thigh and

posterior calf was noted. Dr. Fliman reviewed the FCE and released the Petltloner to return to work, no
lifting over 40 pounds. (PX 1). :

Pursuant to Section 12, the Petitioner was examined by Dr. Frank Phillips of Midwest Orthopedics at
Rush on 6/16/16. Dr. Phillips reviewed the Petitioner’s medical records, the MRI images from 8/27/15,
and the MRI report of 2/25/16. His description of what the MRI images showed is significantly
different from that of the interpreting radiologist. Dr. Phillips noted a diagnosis of lumbar
strain/sprain with some underlying disc degeneration. Dr. Phillips commented that the Petitioner had
undergone appropriate conservative treatment and that his symptoms had essentially resolved. Dr.
Phillips noted the Petitioner was back working regular duty and there was no indication that he was not
capable of doing so. Dr. Phillips opined that the accident of 7/11/15, caused the diagnosis that he

entered, the Petitioner had reached MMI, and that he was capable of returning to his pre- aec1dent |
oceupation., (RX 1).

Dr. Phillips gave his evidence deposition on 3/27/18. With respect to his review of the images seen in
the MRI performed on 8/27/15, he testified they showed disc desiccation throughout the lumbar spine,

mild degeneration at 13-4, L4-5, and L5-51, a right disc protrusion at L4—5, and a nght sided bulge at
L3-4, with no 1mpmgement on the thecal sac. (d.).

~ Dr. Phillips characterized these findings as “very minor”. With respect to the EMG that was performed
on 3/15/16, Dr. Phillips testified the findings demonstrated no radiculopathy. Dr. Phillips stated a

diagnosis of lumbar strain, notmg the Pet;’aoner had reached MMI and could return to work full duty,
at his pre-accident job. : . .

The Petitioner resumed his full duty poéiﬁon asa mxllMEght department ménager ons/ 6/16 From
5/6/16 through 8/3/17 the Petitioner earned $64,095.57. He voluntarily resigned from his employment
with the respondent on 7/ 13/17, hIS last day of work was 8/3/ 17 Inthe “Voiuntary Separation”

7
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document the Petitioner completed on 7/13/17, Respondent’s Exhibit # 4, in response to the inquiry

“my reason for leaving”, the Petitioner wrote “taking a different career path with a new company,
Medline”.

Petitioner testified that before the accident at issue he had never been provided a permanent lifting
restriction of 40 pounds and did not have any problems lifting heavier items at work.

After the accident when he returned to work as a Millwright Manager, he had a permanent lifting

restriction of 40 pounds and wasn’t able to lift heavier items. He delegated these duties and relied on
help from outside his department.

Petitioner testified he left his job with Respondent because he wanted to find work that was easier on

his body and back, a desk job. On 8/3/17, he resigned from Respondent and began a new job, working
in the call center at Medline, a company that manufactures and sells medical supplies.

Petitioner has three children. Before the accident he had no problems playing with them. Now, he
cannot pick up his 4-year-old son and cannot play basketball with his kids or participate in intramural
basketball as he did prior to the accident. Activities that involve bending or lifting cause Petitioner to be
“mindful”. For pain he now uses a Tens unit and takes ibuprofen.

The Petitioner has not had any treatment for his lumbar strain since Dr. Fliman released him to return
to work on 4/28/16. -

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

F. 1S PETITIONER’S CURRENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED
TO THE INJURY?

The Arbitrator finds that Petitloner s current condltlon of 111-be1ng, as it relates to his lower back is
causally related to his work injury on July 11, 2015.

The - Findings of Fact, as stated above, are adopted herein. The Arbitrator notes that, although

Petitioner suffered an injury to his' lower back on 10/13/11, he recovered from that work i 1n3ury in
approximately eight (8) months and enjoyed good health for the next three years,” He worked in a full
duty capacity for Respondent from 6/12/12 through 7/11/15 and did not have any problems with his
lumbar spine. In addition, Petitioner did not receive any medical care for his lumbar spine and did not
miss any time from work due to lower back problems during that period. -

Both Petltloner and Respondent’s witness, Amanda Teschler, testified that Petitioner’s Job as a
millwork department manager coften involved lifting doors and windows and moving materials
weighing in excess of 40 pounds. The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s ablhty to perform this work

from 6/12/2012 through 7/11/ 15 without lower back probiems is persuasive evidence that Petitioner’s
lower back was in good health prior to the accident at issue.

The Arbitrator relies on the history provided by Petitioner to Dr. Margarita Fhman on July 20; 2015, in
support of her finding. Petitioner’s hlstory states:

-“ here for evaluation of low back pam with initial radiation to both legs after he lifted a

‘ 50—60 pound pallet on the job as a sales manager at Menards on July 11, 2015...After

 lifting a 60 pound pallet patient immediately felt lower back pain [rating] down to the

left foot. He presented to occupational health the following day with pain affecting both
hips and numbness and hnghng down into both feet.” (Petltxoner s Exhibit #1).

8
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Upon examination of Petitioner’s lumbar spine on 7/20/15, Dr. Fliman found, “tenderness to palpation
over the lower lumbosacral paraspinals and right upper buttock. Lumbar flexion exacerbates causes
pain radiating into the right posterior thigh. Lumbar extension to a lesser degree exacerbates his pain.”
{Petitioner’s Exhibit #1). '

Petitioner’s lumbar spine complaints aré consistently documented within his treating medical records
from Dr. Fliman, Dr. Liang, and Dr. Yuk from his work accident through his last appointment with Dr.
Fliman on 4/28/16. In addition, there is no evidence of any subsequent m}unes to Pe’atloner s lumbar
spine following his work accident on 7/11/2015. (PX1, 3, & 4). :

When Dr. Fliman evaluated Petitioner for the final time on April 28, 2016, she found:

“...tenderness to palpation over the lower lumbosacral paraspinals. Lumbar flexion
beyond 45° exacerbates mid lumbar pain. Lumbar extension limited by lower facet and
SI area pain. Lower extremity strength limited by pain for bilateral hip flexion at 4 out
of 5. Patient with difficulty heel walking. Patient has weakness of right plantar flexion
when he does toe raises. Light touch sensation diminished over the left lateral thigh
medial leg and foot. Patient has bilaterally diminished Achilles reflexes, Straight leg
raise bilaterally exacerbates low back pain, no clonus. FABERs bilaterally exacerbates
low back pain.” (PX1).

Based on a review of the above-referenced medical records, the Arbitrator finds ample evidence that
Petitioner’s lower back complaints immediately followed his work injury and continued thereafter.

Further, Respondent’s Section 12 medical examiner, Dr. Phillips, concluded that Petitioner suffered an
injury to his lumbar spine as a result of his work accident on July 11, 2015, and that the treatment he
received from Dr. Fliman, Dr. Liang, and Dr. Yuk, was reasonable and necessary as a result of his work
injury. (RX 1, Deposition Exhibit #2). :

For the reasons cited above, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner has proved, by a preponderance of
the evidence, that his condition of ill-being, as it relates to his lumbar spine, is causally related to his
work accident at issue.

L. WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE INJURY?
‘With regard to subsection (i) of §8.1b(b):

s No welght will be accorded to this factor as no permanent partial dlsablhty Impalrment report
and/or opinion was submitted into evidence. :

‘With regard to subsection (ii) of §8.1b(b), the occupation of the employee:

e The Petitioner was employed as a millwork department manager at the time of the accident. He
was required to lift and exert up to 50 pounds occasionally, up to 25 pounds of force frequently,
and up to 10 pounds of force constantly. He was also required to move, stand, sit, stoop, bend,
reach, twist, hft push and pull inventory and other objects. (RX2) :

. Accordlng to the FCE, Petltloner was incapable of performing approximately 40% of his pre-
accident job demands. Petitioner avoided work activities that exceeded his 40 pound lifting
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restriction such as stocking supplies and lifting heavy objects like doors and windows, Petitioner
delegated those tasks to co-workers or people outside of his department.

Petitioner was released to return to his prior job with a 40 pound lifting restriction by his
treating physician from Centegra. :

Although Petitioner did return to work for Respondent in that same position, there were several

_activities that were part of his job that required lifting in excess of Petitioner’'s permanent 40-

pound lifting restriction. This was confirmed by Respondent’s witness, Amanda Teschler.
Petitioner delegated those tasks that were in excess of his permanent work restrictions after
April 28, 2016, Therefore, while Petitioner was able to return to work for Respondent as a
millwork department manager as a result of said injury, his activities were modified.

On 8/3/17, Petitioner resigned from his position with Respondent in favor of a less physically
demanding desk job making less money, initially. Petitioner testified he wanted a job that was
easier on his back. :

The Arbitrator places a significant amount of weight on this factor.

With regard to subsection (iii) of §8.1b(b), the age of the Petitioner:

Petitioner was 36 years old at the time of the accident.

The Arbitrator lends greater weight to this factor because of Petitioner’s young age and the many years
he has left with which to live with the physical limitations and permanency due to the accident at issue.

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner’s future earnings capacity:

Petitioner credibly testified he left his job with Respondent as a millwork department manager
in favor of a less physically demanding job for less money at Medline as a customer service
representative, a sedentary desk job.

Initially, when he left Respondent’s employ, Petitioner suffered a decrease in wages due to lost
commissions, bonuses and profit sharing. At the hearing, however, Petitioner’s earnings with

his new employer has increased to an amount commensurate with his earnings while employed
by Respondent.

The Arbitrator gives lesser weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroborated by the
treating medical records:

Petitioner treated with Dr. Fliman from 7/20/15 until his release on 4/28/16 when Dr. Fliman
noted Petitioner’s report of improved tolerance to standing and symptom relief with daily use of
a TENS unit. Petitioner was taking Neurontin three times daily which decreased symptoms of
numbness and tingling. He reported occasional pain radiating down his buttocks and thighs and
a constant ache over his low back radiating bilaterally to his hips and groin and occasional

numbness and tingling radiating from the right buttock down into his posterior lateral thigh
and posterior calf.

10
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» Upon examination of Petitioner on 4/28/16, Dr. Fliman noted that Petitioner exhibited
lumbar flexion beyond 45 degrees exacerbated Petitioner’s mid lumbar pain while lumbar
extension was limited by lower facet and SI area pain. Lower extremity strength was limited by
pain with bilateral hip flexion 4 out of 5. Petitioner had difficulty heel walking and weakness of
right plantar flexion when doing toe raises. Light touch sensation was diminished over the left
lateral medial thigh, medial leg and foot. Petitioner had bilaterally diminished Achilles reflexes
and straight leg raise bilaterally exacerbated his low back pain. Dr. Fliman further noted on
exam that FABERS bilaterally exacerbated Petitioner’s low back pain. (PX1).

e The FCE, performed at Athletico Physical Therapy on April 15, 2016 and deemed valid by the
evaluator, concluded the Petitioner did not demonstrate the physical capabilities and tolerances
necessary to perform all the essential job functions for his position as a millwork department
manager for Respondent. Petitioner had the most difficulty with bending activities. The
evaluator noted, “The farther down he has to bend and the heavier weight that he has to lift, his
mechanics decrease and the lift becomes unsafe”. The evaluator concluded Petitioner’s job
demands were at a medium/heavy physical demand level while Petitioner was able to perform
activity at the medium demand level and that the Petitioner was capable of performing 60.71%
of his pre-accident job demands with a 40 pound lifting restriction. (Id.)

e Dr. Fliman reviewed the results from the FCE and released the Petitioner to return to work with
a 40-pound lifting restriction. (PX 1).

e Petitioner now works a sedentary desk job and has modified his daily activities, especially
involving bending and lifting. He continues to use a TENS unit and takes Ibuprofen for pain. He
has three children. He testified he cannot pick up his four-year-old or play with his children as
he did prior to the accident at issue due to his physical limitations.

The Arbitrator finds the treating medical records are corroborative of Petitionet’s testimony regarding
permanency. The Arbitrator gives greater weight to this factor.

Based on the above factors, and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner
sustained permanent partial disability to the extent of 25% loss of use of loss of the person as a whole,
as provided in Section 8 (d) 2 of the Act.

11
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] pTD/Fatal denied
{E Modify Down None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Joseph Parr,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 19 WC 18610

University of [llinois,

- R0Iuccoe6l

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by both Respondent and Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issue of nature and extent,
and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and

otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof.

Petitioner is a building mechanic for Respondent. On December 13, 2017, he sustained a
significant right ankle injury after falling off a ladder. X-rays of the right ankle taken that same
day revealed a mildly comminuted mildly oblique fracture of the distal shaft of the fibula, a fracture
of the posterior malleolus of the tibia with a widening and disruption of the tibiotalar relationship,
and ankle mortise with posterior displacement of the talus relative to the tibia. The initial diagnoses
were an acute traumatic displaced bimalleolar (lateral/posterior) fracture of the right ankle and a
possible acute traumatic syndesmotic disruption of the right ankle. That night, Dr. Romine
performed surgery consisting of open reduction internal fixation of closed displaced right lateral
malleolus fracture and closed treatment without manipulation of the right posterior malleolus
fracture. As part of the surgery, Dr. Romine implanted screws and a Synthes 1/3 tubular plate was
inserted along the lateral aspect of the bone. The postoperative diagnosis was an acute traumatic
displaced bimalleolar (comminuted lateral malleolus, posterior malleolus) fracture of the right
lower leg.

On December 29, 2017, Dr. Romine examined Petitioner. X-rays of the right ankle showed
well-placed hardware spanning the comminuted lateral malleolus fracture and a nondisplaced
posterior malleolus fracture that remained well-reduced. Petitioner continued to regularly follow
up with Dr. Romine approximately once a month. In late February 2018, Petitioner began attending
physical therapy. Petitioner was discharged from therapy on June 6, 2018, with the therapist
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writing that Petitioner met all the established therapy goals. On June 8, 2018, Petitioner returned
to Dr. Romine and reported feeling that he could finally return to work full duty. Petitioner
complained of some continued swelling at the end of the day. Updated x-rays of the right ankle
showed the fractured lateral malleolus was well healed and the syndesmosis was intact without
widening. Dr. Romine cleared Petitioner to return to work full duty beginning June 13, 2618. Dr.
Romine examined Petitioner for a final time on July 6, 2018. Petitioner reported tolerating his
return to full duty work well. The doctor wrote:

“He feels very comfortable working full duty. He has done
extremely well postoperatively from a severe ankle fracture and
dislocation. He continues to have some swelling at the end of the
day but feels as though this is going to go away as well.”

The exam revealed minimal soft tissue swelling, full range of motion of the ankle, no tenderness
overlying the fractures, the hardware was palpable but nontender, there was normal ankle stability
without laxity, and strength at 5/5. Dr. Romine placed Petitioner at MMI and cleared him to
continue working without restrictions. He recommended an impairment rating and told Petitioner
that if the hardware becomes bothersome in the future, Petitioner may have it removed.

During the arbitration hearing, Petitioner testified that his treatment helped improve his
condition. He continues to work full duty without any restrictions. He testified that he still has
some symptoms and still has hardware in his right leg. Petitioner testified that he still has a bit of
swelling if he is on his feet all day. Petitioner testified that he sometimes gets “a knot right up at
the top where that plate is, and then just charley horses.” He testified that standing on a ladder for
prolonged periods or doing overhead work will make his right leg go numb. He testified that if he
rotates his right ankle the charley horses go away. He takes over the counter ibuprofen usually
twice a week. Petitioner testified that while he still raises cattle, he sometimes needs a little help
with certain tasks. He testified that the charley horses at times affect his sleep. He also complained
of a burning sensation in his right leg when it rains. Petitioner admitted that he has not returned to
Dr. Romine or sought any additional treatment relating to this injury since July 2018. He agreed
that his job as a building mechanic is strenuous and requires him to climb a lot of ladders and
stairs. He also does all the HVAC repairs, roofing repairs, concrete work, and general maintenance.

Petitioner testified that he is currently the only maintenance worker so he performs all his work
alone.

After carefully considering the evidence, including Petitioner’s testimony of ongoing
complaints, the Commission finds Petitioner sustained a 45% loss of use of the right foot. There
is no question that Petitioner sustained a significant injury due to the work accident. However, the
Commission finds Petitioner sustained an injury to his right ankle, not his right leg. Petitioner’s
fractures were located at the ankle joint and the implanted hardware does not extend far past the
joint, Furthermore, the numerous right ankle x-rays, operative report, office visit notes, and
physical therapy records support the Commission’s finding that Petitioner sustained a significant
injury to his right ankle only.

The Commission otherwise agrees with the Arbitrator’s evaluation pursuant to Section 8.1b
of the Act. Petitioner’s ankle injury required surgical intervention and several months of physical
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therapy. While Petitioner has not sought any medical treatment relating to this work injury, he
credibly testified that he continues to suffer chronic complaints. Petitioner still experiences
swelling in his lower leg if he stands for prolonged periods. He also at times experiences charley
horses in the leg near the top of the implanted hardware. Petitioner also occasionally notices
numbness in his right leg. Petitioner is still able o raise cattle, but he at times needs help with
certain tasks. However, there is also no dispute that Petitioner returned to his very physically
demanding job and has continued to work in his original position without any assistance. He
routinely climbs ladders and stairs, works on roofs, and even performs HVAC repairs. For the
forgoing reasons, the Commission finds Petitioner sustained a 45% loss of use of the right foot due
to the December 13, 2017, work incident.

The Commission otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed October 24, 2019, is modified as stated herein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall pay to Petitioner permanent partial
disability benefits of $531.50 for 75.15 weeks, because Petitioner’s injuries caused 45% loss of
use of the right foot, as provided for in §8(e) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall pay compensation that has accrued

from 07/06/2018 through 09/11/2019, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly
payments.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall have credit for all amounts paid, if
any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent pay to Petitioner interest pursuant to §19(n)
of the Act, if any.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

. ] ". ,
DATED: MAY 1 - 2020 7 !W
d: 4/7/20 § / -

TIT/ds Thomas J. Tyrfell
51 P

Ty

HMiosla_ Eme, Poeddo__
R

Kathryn A. Doerries







ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

£

PARR, JOSEPH Case# 19WC018610

Employee/Petitioner

unesmorumos 20 15 CC0261

On 10/24/2019, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 1.60% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day

before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.,

A copy of this decision is mailed to the féllowing parties:

0969 RICH RiCH & COOKSEY PC
THOMAS C RICH

6 EXECUTIVE DR SUITE 3
FAIRVIEW HTS, IL 62208

0734 HEYLROYSTER VOELKER & ALLEN
JOSEPH K GUYETTE
301 N NEIL ST SUITE 505

" CHAMPAIGN, IL 61824

1073 UNIVERSITY OF [LLINCIS
100 TRADE CENTER DR

SUITE 103

CHAMPAIGN, IL 61820

0904 STATE UNIVERSITY RETIREMT SYS CERTIFIED as a true and correct capy

PO BOX 2710 STATION A ' pursuant to 820 ILCS 305/ 14
CHAMPAIGN, IL. 61825

0CT 24 01

Brends ('Rourke, AssistatSecetrv
Hlisois Werkers' Comgpensation Commission
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STATE OF ILLENOIS )

)SS.
COUNTY OF Williamson )

D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d)
[ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

[ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None ofthe above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
NATURE AND EXTENT ONLY
Joseph Parr _ Case # 19 WC 18610
Employee/Petitioner
v. ' Consolidated cases: NJA

University of lllinois

~ 2015CC0261

The only disputed issue is the nature and extent of the injury. An dpplication for Adjustment of Claim was filed
in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable

Michael Nowak, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of Herrin, lllinois, on September 11, 2019. -By
stipulation, the parties agree:

On the date of accident, 12/13/2017, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, the relationship of employee and employer did exist between Petition er and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner sustained an accident thét arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $46,063.48, and the averaée weekly wage was $885.84.

At the time of injury, Petitioner was 35 years of age, single with 3 dependent children.

Necessary medical services and temporary compensation benefits have been or will be provided by
Respondent.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $All TTD paid for TTD, $- for TPD, $-- for maintenance, and $=- for
other benefits, for a total credit of $All paid.

ICArbDecN&E 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Tollfree 866/352-3033 Web site: www.iwce.il. gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings regarding the nature and
extent of the injury, and attaches the findings to this document.

ORDER

Based on the factors enumerated in §8.1b of the Act, which the Arbitrator addressed in the attached findings of -
fact and conclusions of law, and the record taken as a whole, Respondent shall pay Petitioner the sum of

$531.50/week for a further period of 86 weeks, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act, because the i injuries
sustained caused 40% loss of use of the right Ieg

Respondent shall pay Petitioner compensation that has accrued from 07/06/2018 through 09/11/2019, and
shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly payments.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a Petition for Review is filed within 30 days after receipt of this decision

»
and a review is perfected in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decisign of e&Q?mmlssmn

'-‘ ,,_," LR o

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commlsswn reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,

if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Yt

L

9/30/19

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICADDecN&E p.2

0CT 24 2000
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FINDINGS OF FACT

On the date of the accident, Petitioner was a 35 year-old building mechanic for Respondent at the
University of Illinois. (T. 10) The parties stipulated thathe sustained accidental injuries on December 13, 2017
when, while changing ballast out on a light, he slipped on the ladder and his leg went in between the rungs,
breaking his right lateral malleolus. (T. 11) He was immediately taken to Western Baptist Hospital, where he
was given x-rays and placed in a temporary cast. (T.11, 12; PX3) The x-rays showed distal fibula and tibia
fractures on the right, as well as a closed fracture of the right ankle, specifically the lateral malleolus. (PX3) Dr.
Spencer Romine performed emergency surgery the same day in the form of an open reduction internal fixation
of the closed displaced right lateral malleolus fracture and treatment without manipulation of Petitioner’s right

posterior malleolus fracture. /d. Following surgery, Petitioner was placed on bedrest and then prescribed
physical therapy. (PX3; PX4, 2/21/18; PXS)

At Arbitration, Petitioner showed the Arbitrator a six to seven inch scar for the parties to view,
indicating the location of the surgery. (T. 13) Despite the improvement resulting from surgery, Petitioner
testified that he still had all the implanted hardware in his lower leg and that he has a little bit of swelling if he is
on his feet all day. (T. 14) He has switched to lace-up boots, which help. /d. However, he gets aknot rightup at
the top of his plate implant and then experiences Charley horses. /d. This happens when he stands on a ladder
for any extended period of time, or when he is working overhead. Zd. During this activity, he notices numbness
in his leg and then it will quickly trigger Charley horses. /d.. When this happens, he rotates his ankle and
usually gets them to go away. Id. For his symptoms, Petitioner takes over-the-counter ibuprofen, depending on
his activity. (T. 14, 15) He also usesice in the evening. (T. 15) His hobby of raising cattle has been adversely
affected. Id. His sleep has also been adversely affected, as he wakes up with Charley horses. /4.

CONCLUSIONS

Issue (L): What is the nature and extent of the injury?

Puarsuant to §8.1b of the Act, permanent partial disability from injuries that occur after September 1,
2011 is to be established using the following criteria: (i) the reporied level of impairment pursuant to subsection
(a) of §8.1b of the Act; (ii) the occupation of the injured employee; (iii) the age of the employee at the time of
the injury; (iv) the employee’s future earning capacity; and (v) evidence of disability corroborated by the
treating medicalrecords. 820 ILCS 305/8.1b. The Act providesthat, “No single enumerated factor shall be the
sole determinant of disability.” 820 ILCS 305/8.1b(b)(v).

With regard to subsection (i) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that neither party submitted an impairment
rating. The Arbitrator therefore gives no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (ii) of §8.1b(b), the occupation of the employee, the Arbitrator notes that
Petitioner continues to work for Respondent as a building mechanic and, while he is able work full duty, he still
experiences symptoms, particularly when working on a ladder or doing overhead work. (T. 13, 14) The
Arbitrator therefore gives some weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iii) of §8.1b(b), the Arbitrator notes that : Petitioner was 35 years of age at
the time of his injury. (AX1) He is a younger individual and must live and work with his disability for an
Page 30f4
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extended_period 6T t‘if’?le."’?ufsﬁaﬂt’ to"“‘jo%eg v Southwest Airlines, 16 LTW.C.C. 0137 (2016) (wherein the
Commission concluded that greater weight should have been given to the fact that Petitioner was younger [46

years of age] and would have to work with his disability for an extended period of time. The Arbitrator
therefore gives greater weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (iv) of §8.1b(b), Petitioner’s future earnings capacity, the Arbitrator notes

there is no direct evidence of reduced earning capacity contained in the record. The Arbitrator therefore gives
no weight to this factor.

With regard to subsection (v) of §8.1b(b), evidence of disability corroboratedby the treating medical
records, the Arbitrator notes the Petitioner was a credible witness. As a result of his accidents, Petitioner
sustained a fractures of his right fibula and tibia, as well as a closed fracture of the right ankle, specifically the
lateral malleolus. (PX3) Petitioner underwent emergency surgery at Western Baptist Hospital the same day as
the injury in the form of an openreduction internal fixation of closed displaced right lateral malleolus fracture
and closed treatment without manipulation of the right posterior malleolus fracture. Id. He followed up several
times with his surgeon, Dr. Romines, and underwent several months of physical therapy following the injury.
(PX4,12/29/17-7/6/18; PXS5) Petitioner still has a plate in his leg from the surgery. (T. 14) He experiences some
- swelling if he is on his feet all day and he gets a knot above the plate. Id. He also experiences numbness
followed by Charley horses. Id. These occur when he stands on a ladder, stands for an extended period of time
or works overhead. Id. He also experiences Charley horses in the middle of the night, something that he had
never experienced prior to the accident. (T. 15) Due to the metal plate in his leg, he experiences burning in his
leg when itrains. (T. 15, 16) His hobby of raising cattle at home has been adversely affected, as he now must
watch what he does and requires help with same at times. (T. 15) To manage his ongoing symptoms, Petitioner

normally takes ibuprofen and uses ice on his leg twice a week. (T. 14, 15) The Arbitrator therefore gives
. greater weight to this factor.

Based on the above factors, and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained
permanent partial disability to the extent of 40% loss of use of the right leg pursuantto §8(e) of the Act.

Page 4 of 4
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes l:l Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) |:| Reverse D Second Injury Fund {§8(e)18)
D PTDy/Fatal denied
D Maodify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

James Watson,

Petitioner,

vs. NO: 17 WC 20345

City of Chicago,

Respondent 20IWCC0262

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issue of nature and extent, and being advised of
the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof,

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed September 26, 2019, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.






;2;2/5320345 20 IWC00262

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  MAY 1-2020 Wb@m%@ o

TIT:pmo Maria E. Portela

g:1 4/7/20 K’W ,L (i;

Kathryn A. Doerries

DISSENT

I dissent. [ disagree with the Arbitrator’s determination that Petitioner suffered no
permanent disability as a result of this undisputed accident. The evidence shows that on the date
of the incident Petitioner suffered contusions to his right elbow, right shoulder, right lower back
and right upper thigh when he was thrown from the machine he was operating. He was treated
conservatively, including a round of physical therapy, and was given restrictions which prevented
him from working for two weeks. He thereafter returned to full duty work as a hoisting engineer
and has suffered no new injuries since. He currently notices a “[njumb sensation in the elbow,
stiffness in the shoulder, lower back pain and stiffness in the upper right thigh” for which he takes
over-the-counter Tylenol three days a week. He also noted that he asks for assistance if he has to
lift anything heavy. He indicated that he did not have these problems before the 6/15/17 injury.

Based on the above, I believe Petitioner clearly sustained a compensable accident and
suffered permanent disability as a result thereof, albeit modest, and that the Arbitrator’s failure to
recognize as much amounted to reversable error.

Therefore, I would have awarded permanent partial d13ab1hty beneﬁts of 2% person-as-a-
whole pursuant to §8(d)2 of the Act. .

Thomas J. Tyrrew 7






ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

WATSON, JAMES | | Case# 17WC020345

CITYOFACi-IICAG'o - 20 IWCCOz 62 |
s 2044CC0262

On 9/26/2019, an arbitration decision on this case was ﬁled with the Iihnms Workers' Compensatxon
Commission in Chlcago a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Comxmssmn reviews this award 1nterest of 1. 86% shall accrue from the déte listed above to the day

before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in thJS-
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1759 MARTAY LAW OFFICE
WILLIAM H MARTAY

134 NLASALLE ST 9THFL
CHICAGO, IL 60602

0010  CIiTY OF CHICAGO ASST CORP COUN
LUCY HUANG

30 N LASALLE ST SUITE 800-

CHICAGD, IL. 60602
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ ] mjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)S8. D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

James Watson' | Case #17 WC 20345
V. Consolidated cases:
City of Chicago

hgciame 201I7CC0262

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Kurt Carlson, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Chicago, on July 19, 2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. |:| Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?
|:| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
le Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
E{] ‘What were Petitioner's earnings?
D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
What temporary benefits are in dispute?
JtpD (1 Maintenance []TTD
L. - What is the nature and extent of the injury? .
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. [ | Other

“mmQTEEOOW
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On 06/15/17, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of 111—bemg is causally related to the accident.
In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $98,949.76 ; the average weekly wage was $1,902.88.

Onft] the dage of accgdent Petitioner was, 4%‘8 years of age, married with 1 dependent child.

_ o
Petmoner has recewed aH teasonable and n necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of § for TTD, $2,537.30 for TPD, §

for maintenance, and $ for other
benefits, for a total credit of $2,537.30.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER
Petitioner suffered no permanent injuries as a result of the accident.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,

and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the
Commlsswn

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue frompthe date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if an
employee's appeal results in either no be gf a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

09-26-19
Date

Signgfluh of Arbitrsor

ICArbDec p.2
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James Watson v. City of Chicago 2 0 I Vi C C 0 2 6 2
17 WC 20345
Arbitrator Carlson

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It is stipulated to by the parties that Mr. James Watson (hereinafter referred to as
“Petitioner”) sustained an injury in the course and scope of his employment with the City of
Chicago (hefeinaﬁer referred to as “Respondent™). His job title was Hoisting Engineer for the
Depaftxhent of Transportation.

On June 15, 2017, Petitioner fell and injured his right elbow, shoulder back, and right
upper. thigh. Petitioner received treatment at US Health Works on the same day (Px.1). Physical
examination was within normal limits. X-rays of the rlght elbow were performed on the same
day, which revealed normal findings. Petitioner was diagnosed with contusion of the right elbow,
contusion of right back wall of thorax, and contusion of the right thigh. Petitioner was taken off
work and presdribéd with Naproxeﬁ and Flexeril. Dr. Beverly Deck recommended using ice and
heat and following up on June 16, 2017 (Px.1).

Petitioner attended follow-up visits on June 16, 2017 with Dr. Deck, and the doctor
recommended physiqél éherapy (Px.1).

Petitioner underwent physical therapy and attended another follow-up visit on June 22,
2017 (Px.1). _

On June 29, 2017, Pectitioner attended the last office visit with Dr. Deck. Petitioner
reported that his symptoms had improved. Examination of the upper extremities showed full
ranges of motion in the elbows. E_xaminatioﬁ of the lower extremities showed full ranges of
motion in the hips. Examination .of the spine revealed full ranges of motion in the lumbar
spine and negaﬁvé straight leg raisiﬁg. The neurological examination was completely normal
without any motor, sensory or reflex deficits (Px.1).

At the hearing, Petitioner testified that he bas had no new injuries to his right elbow,
shoulder, back, and upper thigh since his return to work. Petitioner stated he continues to
experience stiffness in the right shoulder, lower back, and upper thigh. Pefitioner takes
Tylonel about three days a week for the pain. Petitioner also acknowledges that he is not seeing

a doctor, and he does not have any upcoming appointment for his right elbow, shoulder, back,
and upper thigh. '
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

In regards to (F), “Is the Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being related to the injury?”
the Arbitrator finds:

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner has proven by the preponderance of the credible evidence
that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is causally related to his work accidents on June
15, 2017.

In regards to (G), “What were Petitioner’s earnings?” the Arbitrator finds:

The Arbitrator notes that the parties stipulate that Petitioner’s average weekly wage was
$1,902.88. However, the parties disagree with the regard to the information of Petitioner’s
earnings during the year preceding the injury. It was noted that Petitioner claims that his earnings
were $98,949.76 during the year preceding the injury, and Respondent claims that Petitioner’s
earnings were $60,073.85 during the year preceding the injury on the Request for Hearing form.

Petitioner testified he worked full time for the year preceding his injury which occurred
on June 15, 2017. Respondent submitted into evidence a document showing the calculation of
Petitioner’s earnings during the year preceding the injury and the average weekly wage (Rx.2).
Based on this document, it is unclear as to the variance between the average weekly wage noted
as $1,902.88 and the yearly wage noted as $60,073.85 (Rx.2). Based on Petitioner’s average
weekly wage of $1,902.88, the earnings for the preceding year should have been $98,949.76.

Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s earnings for the year preceding

Petitioner’s injury were $98,949.76 and the average weekly wage per Section 10 of the Act was
$1,902.88. ' ' '

In regards to (L), “What is the nature and extent of Petitioner’s injury?,” the Arbitrator
finds:

An AMA impairment rating was not done in this matter; however, Section 8.1(b) of the Act
requires consideration of five factors in determining permanent partial disability:

1. The reported level of impairment;
2. Petitioner’s occupation;
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3. Petitioner’s age at the fime of the injury;

4. Petitioner’s future earning capacity; and

5. Petitioner’s evidence of disability corroborated by treating medical records.

Section 8.1(b) also states, “No single factor shall be the sole determinant of disability. In
determining the level of disability, the relevance and weight of any factors used in addition to the
lIevel of impairment as reported by a physician must be examined.” The term “impairment” in
relation to the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment 6% Edition is not

synonymous with the term “disability” as it relates to the ultimate permanent partial disability
award.

1. The reported level of impairment

An AMA impairment rating was not done in this case. This does not preclude an award
for partial permanent disability.

2. Petitioner’s Occupation

On the date of the accident, Petitioner was a Hoisting Engineer for Department of

Transportation. He was able to return to work to his usual and customary position without

restrictions. This must be given great weight.

3. Petitioner’s age at the Hime of injury

Petitioner was 48 years old at the time of injury. Petitioner is still young, and he has a
greater likelihood of full recovery than an older worker who sustains the same injury. This is

relevant and should be given some weight.

4. Petitioner’s future earning capacity

~ Petitioner has no loss of earnings. Nothing in the record, including his testimony,
suggests that his future earning capacity has been affected by the injury sustained. Petitioner
testified that he is currently working in the same position, and he receives a wage increase after

his return to work. Again, great weight must be placed on this factor.

5. Petitioner’s evidence of disability corroborated by medical records

In evaluating the above factors, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is not entitled to an
award of permanency. Petitioner’s injuries were not severe, (he was diagnosed with contusions)

and he failed to prove that they are permanent. A review of the record reflects that claimant’s
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pain complaints generally appear to be disproportionate to the objective medical findings.

Petitioner’s right elbow, shoulder, back, and upper thigh pain complaints are referenced off and

on in the treating progress notes of his treating physician, Dr. Deck, but with little objective
evidence to support them. Dr. Deck’s physical examination findings were within normal limits.
Note, in particular, the examinations showed normal gait and station, normal strength, normal
ranges of motion, and normal sensation and reflexes. None of these examinations reflects
sensofy or reflex deficits. Petitioner was diagnosed with contusions of the right elbow, right back
wall of the thorax, and right thigh. Petitioner was off work for approximately two weeks from
June 16, 2019 through June 29, 2019, but this seems excessive in light of his minimal injuries.
His medical treatment was limited. He attended a total of five phy“sical therapy sessions for his
contusions. ‘

The record also shows that Petitioner's treatment and medication use has been generally
effective in alleviating his symptoms. Petitioner was able to return to work full duty and worked
in .the same job that he worked prior to this incident. The Arbitrator further notes that the
treatment that he has received has Been essentially routine and conservative in nature. Petitioner
had no surgical intervention, and none has been recommended. This evidence suggests that his
condition was not considered to be particularly serious or debilitating by Petitioner's treating
physician. The record shows that Petitioner made a complete recovery and returned to his usual
and customary position with no restriction. That must be given weight. The work injury has not
advérsely affected his position or salary. In fact, Petitioner receives a wage increase after his
return to work. Additionally, the medical record does not show that Petitioner has any future
medical appointment to address the alleged issues with his contused right elbow, back, shoulder,
and thigh.

Petitioner testified that since returning to work, he has had issues with his right elbow,
shoulder, back, and upper thigh. However, the medical evidence simply does not provide an
apparent reason for the extent of the Petitioner's allegedly difficulties with work activities. Thé
record shows that Petitioner’s subjective pain complaints are not consistent with the record, and
the nature and extent of his injury are not as severe as he has alleged.

No permanency award is rendered.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt {no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF MADISON ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18}
|_] PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS* COMPENSATION COMMISSION
LYNDA ODUM,
Petitioner,
Vs, NO: 17 WC 10430
CITY OF GRANITE CITY, 2 0 IWC C 0 2 6 3
Respondent. : :

DECISION AND QPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident and causation and being
advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed August 19, 2019 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

The bond requirement in Section 19(f)(2) is applicable only when “the Commission shall
have entered an award for the payment of money.” 820 ILCS 305/19(f)(2). Based upon the denial
of compensation herein, no bond is set by the Commission. The party commencing the
proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to
File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  MAY & - 2020 \3 ﬂ"\&w C'O?Fdw

L. Elizabeth Coppoletti

DiL
f:;;"? fog 1 5 jif:

D: 4/28/2020 Y .

Stephen Mathis e -

D. Douglas McCarthy

LEC/mck
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STATEOF ILLINOIS ) ] tnjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))

[ 1 Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(2))
COUNTY OF Madison ) (] second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)

@ None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Lynda Odum Case # 17 WC 10430
Employee/Petitioner '
2 . Consolidated cases: N/A

City of Granite City

Employer/Respondent 2 0 I W C C 0 2 6 3

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Michael Nowak, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Collinsville, on 1/15/2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DIS PUTED ISSUES

A. [ was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hlinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. [ Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

I D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

L

DX Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

What temporary benefits are in dispute?

] TPD ] Maintenance & TTD
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. []1s Respondent due any credit?
0. [ other

7~
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FINDINGS
On 3/1/2017 Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitiorier did nof sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of émp.loyment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is ot causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner carned $48,511.58: the average weekly wage was $932.92
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 54 years of age, married with 1 dependent children.

Petitioner Aas receiyed all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance. and $0 for other benefits, for a
total credit of $0.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDIR

Because Petitioner failed to prove that she sustained an accidental injury arising out of and in the course of her
employment or that her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome is causally connected to her work activities, Benefits are
denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,
and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.

STATEMINT OF INTERESTRATE 1f the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date fisted below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

4
4

Tl et

7
8/12/19
Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICAmbDec p. 2 AUG § 9 2019
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FINDINGS OF FACT

At the time of the alleged accident Petitioner was 54 years of age and right hand dominant. She had been
employed with Respondent as the Fire Chief's secretary for 32 years. She retired September 4, 2018. Petitioner
alleges that her work activities contributed to bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.

Petitioner testified that she worked eight hour days, five days per week. She took one hour for lunch, and
took only one cigarette break per day at work. She admitted to socializing with other firefighters about work

throughout the day. Petitioner had extended absences from work for a 2013 injury and a hysterectomy surgery.
She took medicine for hypertension. :

Petitioner testified her work activities required keyboarding, moussing, answering phones, paperwork and

lifting file boxes. She initially indicated the typing was pecking, but stated she also typed with both hands. Petitioner
testified no one assisted her with her work. :

Petitioner testified in November 2016 she developed a gradual onset of numbness and tingling in both
hands. She stated the symptoms were worse when typing and lifting boxes of files.

On March 1, 2017, Petitioner underwent nerve conduction studies that revealed bilateral carpal tunnel
syndrome. (Px. 1at9).

Andy Vitale from Apex Physical Therapy performed an Ergonomid Anélysis of Petitioner’s position from
May 31 until June 7, 2017. It included mstalling a keyghost keystroke capturing device on Petitioner’s computer.
Petitioner told Mr. Vitale she typed and used the mouse 6 hours per day. (Rx. 1 at 13). Mr. Vitale concluded that

based upon his observations and the keyghost data that Petitioner’s work activities were not a work related
muscoskelatal hazard. (Rx.1).

Vince Martinez testified for Respondent. He has been employed 32 years as a firefighter for Respondent
and the Fire Chief since August 2014, As Chief, he works at Firehouse 1 with Petitioner. He interacted daily with

Petitioner and was familiar with her work activities. Chief Martinez reviewed the report prepared by Mr. Vitale.
He testified it fairly depicted the amount of Petitioner’s work activities.

Kenneth Prazma testified for Respondent. He has been the Assistant Fire Chief since August 2014 and
works in Firehouse 1 with Petitioner. For the last couple years he took over for Petitioner creating the schedule for
firefighters, which required data input. He observed Petitioner take smoke breaks at work. He testified every
summer interns assisted Petitioner perform her work activities, including computer work.

On August 2, 2017, Petitioner came under the care of Dr. George Paletta. She related her carpal tunnet
syndrome to her work activities for Respondent. She stated the onset and worsening of symptoms occurred at
work. She admitted to intermittent symptoms at night. (Px. 2 at 10)

Dr. Paletta diagnosed bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome and recommended surgery. Dr. Paletta reviewed
Vitale report. He opined that Petitioner had risk factors for carpal tunnel including gender, age and hypertension.
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However, he felt based upon her job description that the work activities were a contributing factor to the carpal
tunnel syndrome. (Px. 2 at 11-12).

L(J;dtun\{i Granite City Fire Department 17 WC 16430

On September 12, 2017, Dr. Paletta performed a right carpal tunnel release. (Px. 3 at 3-4). On October
24, 2017, Dr..Paletta performed a left carpal tunnel release. (Px. 3 at 1-2). Dr. Paletta kept Petitioner off work or
on restrictions that Respondent did not accommodate until he released her to return to work full duty and placed
her at MMI January 2, 2018. (Px. 2 at 1).

Respondent secured a Section 12 examination with Dr. Evan Crandall April 5, 2018. Dr. Crandall, based
upon Petitioner’s history, the Vitale report, and job video, opined that her work activities for Respondent were not a
contributing factor to bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. He explained she had well known risk factors of age,
gender, menopause and smoking. He opined that she suffered a 2% impairment of each hand in accordance with
the 6! Edition AMA Guidelines. (Rx. 2).

Petitioner deposed Dr. Paletta on June 22, 2018, (Px. 4). Dr, Paletta testified that while Petitioner had risk
factors for carpal tunnel syndrome, including her gender, age and hypertension, it was his opinion the work
aclivitics over 32 years would be a contributing factor to her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome and need for surgery.
(Px. 4 at 10-11). Dr. Paletta explained carpal tunnel syndrome is multi-factorial and if Petitioner's history was
accurate about her work activities then it would have contributed to the condition. (Px. 4 at [7-19).

On cross examination, Dr. Paletta acknowledged her risk factors of age, gender, smoking and hypertension
irrespective of work could cause her carpal tunnel. (Px. 4 at 19). He conceded that Petitioner's work activities of
typing, mouse work and lifting files would have to be performed at least half of her work day or four hours for the
work activities to be a contributing factor to the carpal tunnel syndrome. (Px. 4 at 20-23). He testified that
answering phones and paperwork would not have anything to do with carpal tunnel syndrome. (Px. 4 at 22).

Respondent deposed Dr. Crandall June 26, 2018. (Rx. 2). Dr. Crandall identified Petitioner’s gender, age,
hypertension and smoking as the primary risk factors and the cause of her carpal tunnel syndrome. (Rx. 2 at 12-
14). He opined based upon her job description and the physical demands analysis that there was no relationship
between the carpal tunnel syndrome and work activities. (Rx. 2 at [3-14). He explained that according to the
keyghost analysis she typed the equivalent of 7.75 pages in one work week. (Rx. 2 at 10).

On cross examination, Dr. Crandall’s opined unless Petitioner performed four hours of continuous typmg or
40 times more than the keyghost captured that there was no causal relationship between her work activities and
carpal tunnel syndrome. (Rx. 2). He explained that the ergonomic analysis for typing and mouse work was
nowhere close to the threshold necessary to contribute to carpal tunnel syndrome. He testified that Petitioner
would have to type forty times the amount that was documented on the keystroke study for it to contribute to
carpal tunnel (Rx. 2 at 34, 39, 42-43).

Respondent deposed Andy Vitale August 24, 2018, (Rx. 1). Mr. Vitale is an occupational therapist. Half of
Mr. Vitale’s work involves performing ergonomic evaluations and working with employers to make positions more
ergonomically safe. (Rx. 1 at 4-6). Mr. Vitale performed an evaluation of Petitioner’s Job as the secretary for the
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Sramite City Fire Department <~ © 17 WC'10430

Granite City Fire Department. He installed the ghost key device on Petitioner’s computer May 31, 2017. It
measured her tying use through June 7, 2017. (Rx. 1 at 6-8). : -

M. Vitale explained the observations and history he took from Petitioner on June 7, 2017. (Rx. 1 at 8-9).
Based upon all the information he gathered, including repetitions, duration and postures, he input the observations
into several ergonomic tools. (Rx. 1 at 9). Each tool conc luded that Petitioner’s job activities as a secretary, and in
particularly the typing and mouse use, did not put her at risk for musculoskeletal injury. (Rx. 1 at 10-17). Mr. Vitale
explained that the lack of repetition and, more significantly, the lack of force explained the results of each tool.

On cross examination, Mr. Vitale acknowledged that his meésﬁrements were only taken on one particular
day and that if Petitioner typed more or used more force it could impact his opinfons. (Rx. 1 at 40).

CONCLUSIONS

issue (C): Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner’s employment by
. Respondent? ' : ' ' '

Issue (F): Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

An injury is accidental within the meaning of the Act if "a workman’s existing physical structure, whatever
it may be, gives way under the stress of his usual labor.” Laclede Steel. Co. v. Industrial Commission, 128
N.E.2d 718, 720 (11l 1955); General Electric Co. v. Industrial Commission, 433 N.E.2d 671, 672 (1lL 1982). Ina
repetitive  trauma case, issues of accident and causation are intertwined. Elizabeth Boettcher v. Spectrum
Property Group and First Merit Venture, 99 LLC. 0961 (1999). Accidental injury need not be the sole causative
factor, nor even the primary causative factor, as long as it is a causative factor in the resulting condition of ii-being.
Sisbro. Inc. v. Indus. Comm’n, 797 N.E.2d 665, 672-73 (1ll. 2003) (emphasis added). As in establishing accident,
to show causal connection Petitioner need only show that some act or phase of the employment was a causative
factor.of the resulting injury. Fierke v. Industrial Commission, 723 N.E.2d 846 (3rd Dist. 2000).

In Edward Hines Precision Components v. Indus. Comm'n, 825 N.E.2d 773, (2nd Dist. 2005). the Cowt
expressly stated, “There is no legal requirement that a certain percentage of the workday be spent on a task in
order to support a finding of repetitive trauma.” /d. at N.E.2d 780. Similarly, the Commission noted in Dorhesca
Randell v. St. Alexius Medical Center, 13 LW.C.C. 0135 (2013), a repetitive trauma claim, a claimant must show
that work activitics are a cause of his or her condition; the ciaimant does not have to establish that the work
activities are the sole or primary cause, and there is no requirement that a claimant must spend a certain amount of
time each day on a specific task before a finding of repetitive trauma can be made. Randell citing All Steel, Inc. v.
Indus. Comm’n, 582 N.E.2d 240 (2nd Dist. 1991) and Edward Hines supra.

The Appellate Court in City of Springfield v. lllinois Workers® Comp. Comm’n, 901 N.E.2d 1066 (4th
Dist., 2009) issued a favorable decision in a repetitive trauma case to a claimant whose work was “varied” but also
“repetitive” or “intensive” in that he used his hands, albeit for different task, for at least five (5) hours out of an
eight (8) hour work day. Id. “While [claimant’s] duties may not have been ‘repetitive’ in a sense that the same
thing was done over and over again as on an assembly Ine, the Commission finds that his duties required an
intensive use of his hands and arms and his injuries were certainly cumulative.” fd.
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In this case, the evidence shows that Petitioner was employed by Respondent as a secretary for 32 years.
Both Dr. Paletta and Dr. Crandall opined that in order for Petitioner’s job duties to have contributed to her carpal
tunnel syndrome she would have had to type and mouse at least four hours out of her day. The evidence, including
the ghost key findings which the Arb1tzat01 found sngnmcant mchcates that Petitioner did not type or key board at
least four hours out ofhe; Work day. ™ R R R

Based upon the foreg,omg and the record taken as a whole the Arbitrator finds Petitioner has failed to meet
her burden of establishing that she sustained an accident which arose out of and in the course of her employment
or that her current condition of ill-being is causally related to her employment.

Benefits are denied. All other issues are moot.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt {no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
l ) S8. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF MADISON ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
[ ] pTo/Fatal denied
g Modify @ None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
JEREMY BAKER,
Petitioner,
VSs. NO: 18 WC 36899
GRP MECHANICAL COMPANY,

Respondent 20IWCC0264

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed under Section 19(b) of the Act by the
Respondent herein and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of
causal connection, earnings, average weekly wage (AWW), temporary total disability (11D}
benefits, temporary partial disability (TPD) benefits, prospective medical, and credit, and being
advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and
otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings
for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Indus. Comm’n, 78 I11. 2d 327 (1980).

So that the record is clear, and there is no mistake as to the intentions or actions of the
Commission, we have considered the record in its entirety. We have reviewed the facts of the
matter, both from a legal and a medical/legal perspective. The Commission has considered all the
testimony, exhibits, pleadings, and arguments submitted by the parties. The Commission is not
bound by the Arbitrator’s findings. Our Supreme Court has long held that it is the Commission’s
province “to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve conflicts in the evidence, assign weight
to be accorded the evidence, and draw reasonable inferences from the evidence.” City of
Springfield v. Indus. Comm’n, 291 Ill. App. 3d 734, 740 (1997) (citing Kirkwood v. Indus.
Comm’n, 84 1ll. 2d 14, 20 (1981)). Interpretation of medical testimony is particularly within the
province of the Commission. A. Q. Smith Corp. v. Indus. Comm’n, 51 111 2d 533, 536-37 (1972).
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The Commission modifies down Petitioner’s average weekly wage of $3,289.09 to
$2,559.60. According to the Act, the average weekly wage “shall mean the actual earnings of the
employee in the employment in which he was working at the time of the injury.” 820 ILCS
305/10. At the time of Petitioner’s injury, Petitioner was hired to work “Six ten’s” or Monday
through Saturday, ten-hour days. (T.16-17). There is no dispute that overtime was mandatory.
Petitioner’s hourly rate was $42.66. (T.17). Based on the record in its entirety and the proof of
earnings adduced at arbitration, Petitioner’s average weekly wage did not extend beyond a 60-hour
work week at $42.66 per hour — for an average weekly wage of $2,559.60.

Based on that calculation, the Commission affirms the Arbitrator’s Order for TTD covering
March 16, 2018 through February 10, 2019, and May 15, 2019 through May 24, 2019 (48 6/7
weeks). Petitioner’s TTD rate remains subject to the maximum rate. Therefore, $1,463.80 x 48
6/7 weeks totals $71,521.27. Per the parties’ stipulation at arbitration, Respondent shall be given
a credit in the amount of $48,305.40 for TTD previously paid. The Commission modifies the
amount of TPD benefits, for the period of February 11, 2019 through May 14, 2019 (13 2/7
weeks), as follows:

-$2,559.60 x 13 2/7 = $34,017.08 - $26,404.88 (PX7) = $7,612.20
-$7,612.20 x 2/3 = $5,074.80

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator, filed July 8, 2019, is hereby modified as stated above, and otherwise affirmed and
adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner is entitled to
prospective medical treatment including, but not limited to, the MRI of Petitioner’s left knee and
further medical treatment as recommended by Dr. Darnell Blackmon.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $1,463.80 per week for 48 6/7 weeks,
commencing March 16, 2018 through February 10, 2019, and May 15, 2019 through May 24,
2019, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under Section 8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner temporary partial disability benefits of $5,074.80 for the period of time commencing
February 11, 2019 through May 14, 2019, as provided in Section 8(a) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall be given a
credit of $48,305.40 for temporary total disability benefits previously paid to Petitioner.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all other amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental

injury.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $28,400.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in the Circuit Court.

D. Douglas McCarthy

DDM/pm

a2 A, T, it

Stephen J. Mathis

S tlolti Coppdritt

L. Elizabeth Coppoletti
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

)SS.
COUNTY OF MADISON y

D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ I Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(e))

D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)

Jeremy Baker Case # 18 WC 36899
Employee/Petitioner - .

V. Consohdated cases: n/a

201WCC0264

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearmg was mailed to each party.
The matter was heard by the Honorable William R. Gallagher, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Collinsville, on May 24, 2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

GRP Mechanical Company
Employer/ Respond ent

DISPFTED ISSUES

A. |_]Was Respondent operating under and subject to the 1ilinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act? '

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causalty related to the injury?

G. What were Petitioner's earnings? ‘

H. D What was Petitioner’s age at the time of the accident?

I D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

J

D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. DX{]Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. @ What temporary benefits are in dispute?
> TPD [ IMaintenance DX T1TD
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. [:] Is Respondent due any credit?
O. D Other

JCArbDect9(b) 2/1G 100 W, Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312 Fi46617 Toli-frez 866:332-3033  Web site: www.iwee.il gov
Downstale offices: Collinsville 618:346-3430  Peoria 309°671-3819  Rockford 815:987-7292  Springfie I 2177785-7084
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FINDINGS

On the date of accident, March 15, 2018, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

‘On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner carned $6,578.17; the average weekly wage was $3,289.09.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 41 years of age, married with 5 dependent child{ren).

Respondent has paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a-credit of $48,305.40 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for
other benefits, for-atotal credit-of $48,305.40.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall authorize and pay for prospective medical treatment including. but not limited to. the MRI of
Petitioner’s left knee and further medical treatment as recommended by Dr. Darnell Blacknion.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $1.463.80 per week for 48 6/7 weeks
commencing March 16, 2018, through February 10, 2019, and May 15, 2019, through May 24, 2019, as provided
in Section 8(b) of the Act. -

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partiat disability benefits of $11,527.12 for the period of time
commencing February 11, 2019, through May 14, 2019. as provided in Section 8(a) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of medical
benetits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS  Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. :

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE  If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the
Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;
however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

William R. Gallagher, Arbitrafor Date
ICArbDec19(b)

JuL 8 - 2018
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Findings of Fact

Petitioner filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim which alleged he sustained an accidental
injury arising out of and in the course of his employment by Respondent on March 15, 2018.
According to the Application, Petitioner was "Cutting bolts and stepping down” and sustained an
injury to his "Left calf and Lefi knee" (Arbitrator’s Exhibit 2). This case was tried in a 19(b)
proceeding and Petitioner sought an order for payment of temporary total disability and
temporary partial disability benefits as well as prospective medical treatment. In regard to
temporary total disability benefits, Petitioner claimed he was entitled to payment of temporary
total disability benefits of 48 6/7 weeks, commencing March 16, 2018, through February 10,
2019, and May 15, 2019, through May 24, 2019 (the date of trial). In regard to temporary partial
disability benefits, Petitioner claimed he was entitled to temporary partial disability benefits of
13 2/7 weeks, commencing February 11, 2019, through May 14, 2019. Respondents disputed
liability on the basis of causal relationship and claimed the period of temporary total disability
benefits Petitioner was entitled to was 33 1/7 weeks, commencing March 16, 2018, through
November 2, 2018 (Arbitrator's Exhibit 1). : :

Petitioner and Respondent stipulated Petitioner sustained an injury to his left calf as a result of
the accident of March 15, 2018. Respondent disputed Petitioner's left knee condition was
causally related to the accident. The prospective medical treatment sought by Petitioner was an
MRI scan of Petitioner's left knee and whatever other treatment was determined to be appropriate
thereafter. There was also a dispute as to the appropriate method of computing Petitioner's
average weekly wage. Petitioner alleged the average weekly wage was $3,289.09. Respondent
alleged the average weekly wage was $1,513.49. At trial, counsel for Petitioner and Respondent
stipulated that the determination of the appropriate average weckly wage depended upon what
manner of computation was used under Section 10 of the Act (Arbitrator's Exhibit 1).

Petitioner worked for Respondent as a pipefitter and was hired out of the union hall. Petitioner
lives in Oklahoma and travels wherever work is available. Petitioner was hired by Respondent to
work on a special project at the Phillips 66 refinery in Wood River. The special project was
scheduled to last six weeks and Petitioner was hired to work at an hourly rate of $42.66, which

was higher than the normal hourly rate for pipefitters. Further, Petitioner was hired to work six
days a week, 10 hours a day. '

Petitioner started working for Respondent on February 28, 2018, and sustained the accident on
March 15, 2018, having worked for Respondent for 14 days. Petitioner tendered into evidence a
wage statement which showed Petitioner worked 154.2 hours from February 28, through March
15, 2018, and, at the straight time rate of $42.66 earned $6,578.17 (Petitioner's Exhibit 6).
Dividing that amount by two weeks computes to an average weekly wage of $3,289.09.

At trial, Petitioner testified that he chose to work at jobs that paid the highest hourly rate. Had
Petitioner not sustained the injury, he could have continued to work for Respondent at the hourly
rate of $42.66 for almost another four weeks. Petitioner stated that after completing the job for
Respondent, he was going to work at a job in California making $53.00 per hour.

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18 WC 36899
Page 1 ‘
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The standard hourly rate for a pipefitter employed by Respondent was $39.76. Respondent
tendered into evidence wage statements of two pipefitters employed by Respondent for the year
preceding the date of Petitioner's accident (Respondent's Exhibit 6). At trial, Petitioner and
Respondent stipulated those wage statements computed to an average weekly wage of $1,513.49.

Lenny Portell testified for Respondent in regard o the average weekly wage issue. Portell was
Respondent's safety supervisor. He agreed Petitioner was hired to work on a special project for
six days a week, 10 hours a day; however, upon completion of the project all of the pipefitters
who were regular employees ol Respondent would go back to a 40 hour work week at the
standard hourly rate.

On March 15, 2018, Petitioner had just cut some bolts with a torch and, when he stepped down
off of a wooden box, he felt a "snap" in his left calf and fell to the ground. Petitioner testified that
thereafter he was unable to put any weight on his left leg.

Petitioner was initially evaluated at Midwest Occupational Medicine on March 16, 2018, by
Lynn Brown, a Nurse Practitioner. At that time, Petitioner complained of pain in his left calf
especially with weight bearing/movement. NP Brown opined Petitioner had sustained a probable
plantaris tendon rupture versus gastroc tear. She ordered an MRI scan (Petitioner's Exhibit 1),

The MRI was performed on March 19, 2018, According to the radiologist, the MRI revealed a
Grade 2 intramuscular injury/partial tearing of the distal medial head of the gastrocnemius
(Petitioner's Exhibit 2).

Petitioner was again seen by NP Brown on March 20, 2018. She reviewed the MR and agreed it
revealed a tear of the gastrocnemius. NP Brown applied an Ace wrap and walking boot
(Petitioner's Exhibit 1).

Petitioner returned to his home in Oklahoma and sought medical treatment from Dr. Darnell
Blackmon, an orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Blackmon initially evaluated Petitioner on April 11, 2018,
At that time, Petitioner advised Dr. Blackmon of the work-related accident. Dr. Blackmon also
diagnosed Petitioner with a tear of the gastrocnemius and applied a cast which he anticipated
would remain in place for four weeks (Petitioner's Exhibit 4),

Dr. Blackmon subsequently saw Petitioner on May 9, 2018, and removed the cast and applied a
boot. He also ordered physical therapy (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

Dr. Blackimon next saw Petitioner on June 6, and July 10, 2018. On those occasions, he ordered
additional physical therapy (Petitioner’s Exhibit 4).

Petitioner received physical therapy from May 12, through October 22, 2018. In the physical
therapy record of July 25, 2018, Petitioner advised his leg was getting stronger and he was able
to walk, but still had balance/pain issues on uneven surfaces. In the physical therapy record of
August 1, 2018, Petitioner noted his left knee hurt, especially when he knelt (Petitioner's Exhibit
5). This was the first time Petitioner complained of any symptoms referable to the left knee,

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18§ WC 36899
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When Petitioner was seen by Dr. Blackmon on August 14, 2018, Petitioner advised him he was
having left knee pain. Dr. Blackmon's record of that date noted that at the time of the accident,
Petitioner had injured his left calf and was not able to ambulate on his left leg. Dr. Blackmon's
medical records noted "He does admit that he is not certain of when the pain started in his knee,
but he did notice it once he started to ambulate and put pressure on in the knee.... As he
continues to recover from calf and is able to weight bear more, the knee becomes worse." In that
record, Dr. Blackmon addressed the issue of causality and noted Petitioner had sustained a
forceful injury which tore the gastrocnemius muscle and would have been enough force to
possibly tear a meniscus. Specifically, Dr. Blackmon's record of that date noted "It is
understandable that this was not reported in the initial visit as the pain in the calf could have
certainly been more distracting” (Petitioner's Exhibit 5). '

At the direction of Respondent, Petitioner was examined by Dr. William Gillock, and
occupational medicine specialist, on September 13, 2018. In connection with his examination of
Petitioner, Dr. Gillock reviewed medical records provided to him by Respondent. Dr. Gillock
opined Petitioner's left knee condition was not work-related because there was no objective
evidence of a work-related injury and the sole cause of Petitioner's condition was not his
employment (Respondent's Exhibit 2). ' ' ’

When Dr. Blackmon saw Petitioner on September 20, 2018, he noted Petitioner's calf was better.
However, Petitioner continued to have instability in the left leg and Dr. Blackmon was not
willing to release Petitioner to return to work because he feared that if Petitioner worked on a
height, he might fall. Dr. Blackmon restated his opinion Petitioner's left knee condition was
related to the accident and recommended an MRI scan (Petitioner's Exhibit 5).

Petitioner was last seen by Dr. Blackmon on October 18, 2018. At that time, Dr. Blackmon
opined Petitioner's left calf injury had resolved. However, Dr. Blackmon would not give
Petitioner a release return to work without restrictions as Petitioner's left leg was still unstable
because of the knee condition and Petitioner had to work on heights. Dr. Blackmon released
Petitioner to return to work, but with restrictions of no squatting, kneeling, crawling and no

climbing ladders or walking on any heights until the knee condition was addressed (Petitioner's
Exhibit 4).

In his record of October 18, 2018, Dr. Blackmon reaffirmed his opinion Petitioner's left knee
condition was related to the accident at work. He again described it as a "distracting injury” and
noted it was very common that one would not notice knee symptoms until he started weight
bearing (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

At the direction of Respondent, Dr. Gillock prepared a supplemental report dated October 30,
2018. He reaffirmed his opinion Petitioner's left knee condition was not work-related. Further, he
opined Petitioner was at MMI and able to return to work without restrictions in regard to his
work-related injury (Respondent's Exhibit 3).

Jererny Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18 WC 36899
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Petitioner was able to return to work for another employer on February 11, 2019. Petitioner
worked as a pipe fitter; however, the work was within the restr ictions imposed by Dr. Blackmon
because Petitioner did not have to work at heights or on uneven surfaces. Petitioner worked at
this job through the May 14, 2019, a period of 13 2/7 wecks, At that time, Petitioner stated he
had to quit because of his left knee pain. Petitioner tendered into ewdenoe his pay stub.which
noted Petitioner had earned $26,404.88 (Petitioner's Exhibit 7). :

Dr. Blackmon was deposed on April 3, 2019, and his deposition testimony was received into
evidence at trial. On direct examination. Dr. Blackmon's testimony was consistent with his
medical records and he reaffirmed the opinions contained therein. Dr. Blackmon testified the
work restrictions he imposed on Petitioner on September 20, 2018, were in regard to Petitioner's
left knee and Petitioner was at MMI in regard to the left calf as of October 18, 2018 (Petitioner's
Exhibit 3; pp 23-24).

In regard fo Petitioner’s left knee condition, Dr. Blackmon testified Petitioner sustained a
meniscal tear as a result of the accident. In explaining this opinion, Dr. Blackmon noted the torn
gastroc was a painful injury to sustain which would have been a “distracting injury” and
Petitioner did not notice knee symptoms until he started weight beari ing. In regard to Petitioner
not complaining of any knee symptoms until August, 2018, Dr. Blackman obscrved this
coincided with Petitioner's beginning to bear weight on the feft leg. In regard to the mechanics of
the injury, Dr. Blackman stated that if one stepped down with enough force to tear the gastroc, it
would also be enough force to tear the meniscus (Petitioner's Exhibit 3; pp 27-30).

On cross-examination, Dr. Blackman agreed Petitioner did not report any twisting of the knee
when he sustained the accident, However, Dr. Blackman also stated that the typical mechanics is
a step and then a pivot or step, He noted people have been walking, stepped off of a curb, and
torn a meniscus (Petitioner's Exhibit 3; p 38).

Dr. Gillock was deposed on April 30, 2019, and his deposition testimony was received into
evidence at trial. On direct examination, Dr. Gillock's testimony was consistent with his medical
reports and he reaffirmed the opinions contained therein. In regard to the cause of Petitioner's
knee condition, Dr. Gillock testified it was not related to Petitioner's employment primarily
because Petitioner did not report any twisting injury to the knee (Respondent's Exhibit 1; pp 10,
19).

On cross-examination, Dr. Gitlock testified that 90% to 95% of his practice consists of
performing legal examinations, most of which are done at the request of employers or insurance
companies. Dr. Gillock also agreed he had never performed any knee surgeries (Respondent's
Exhibit 1; pp 24-25).

At trial, Petitioner testified he continues to have left knee pain and is still subject to the work
restrictions imposed by Dr. Blackmon. Other than the aforestated period of time that Petitioner
worked with restrictions, he has not been able to work since the date of accident. Petitioner wants
to proceed with the MRI and, if indicated, further treatment as recommended by Dr. Blackmon,

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18 WC 36899
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Conclusions of Law

In regard to disputed issue (F) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Atbitrator concludes Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is causally related to the
accident of March 15, 2018.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

There was no dispute Petitioner sustained a work-related accident on March 15, 2018, which
caused a tear of the left gastrocnemius muscle.

Petitioner's primary treating physician, Dr. Blackmon, an orthopedic surgeon, opined Petitioner's
left knee condition was related to the accident of March 15, 2018. Dr. Blackmon described the
gastroc tear as being a "distracting injury" which would cause one not to notice knee symptoms
until he started weight-bearing. Petitioner did not begin to complain of knee symptoms until
August, 2018, which was concurrent with his beginning weight-bearing. Further, Dr. Blackmon

also noted that if Petitioner stepped with enough force to cause a gastroc tear, this could also be
enough force to tear a meniscus. :

Respondent's Section 12 examiner, Dr. Gillock, opined the accident of March 15, 2018, did not
cause Petitioner's left knee condition, primarily because Petitioner did not report a twisting
injury. However, Dr. Gillock is an occupational medicine specialist, not an orthopedic surgeon,
and has never performed knee surgeries. Further, Dr. Gillock's practice consists almost
exclusively of performing legal examinations for employers and insurance companies.

Given the preceding, the Arbitrator finds the opinion of Dr. Blackmon to be more persuasive
than that of Dr. Gillock in regard to causality.

In regard to disputed issue (G) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:
The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner had an average weekly wage of $3,289.09.
In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

Section 10 of the Act specifies four methods for determining the average weekly wage of a
Petitioner. This was specifically noted by the Supreme Court in Sylvester v. Industrial
Commission, 756 N.E.2d 822, 826 (1ll. 2001).

The first method is for an employee who has consistently worked for the employer at least one
year. The average weekly wage is computed by taking the employee’s earnings, excluding
overtime and bonus, and dividing by 52. The second method is for an employee who has
consistently worked for an employer for at least one year, but who has missed five or more days
of work during the year. The average weekly wage is computed by taking the employee's
camings, excluding overtime and bonus, and dividing by 52 minus the number of days/weeks the

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18 WC 36899
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employee missed work. Obviously, neither of these methods of computing the average weekly
wage are applicable in this case.

The third method of computing the average weekly wage is for an employee who has worked for
the employer less than one year. In this instance, the employee's total earnings, excluding
~ overtime and bonus, are divided by the numbei of weeks/days the employee worked for the
employer. This is the method of computation of the average weekly wage that has been used by
Petitioner's counsel.

The fourth method of computing the employee's average weekly wage is when the employment
refationship is so short or casual that it is impractical to use one of the first three methods. In this
situation, the average weckly wage is computed by using the average weekly wage of a similarly
situated employee for the year preceding the date of accident. This is the method of computing
the average weekly wage has been used by Respondent's counsel.

There was no question that Petitioner worked for Respondent for 14 days and had an average
weekly wage of $3,289.09. Petitioner was hired to work for Respondent on a special project for
specific period of time, six weeks, and work six days a week, 10 hours a day.

The Arbitrator finds Petitioner's employment by Respondent was not of such a short duration or
so casual that it is impractical to computc his average weekly wage using method three.
Therefore it has been calculated using method three.

In regard to disputed issue (K) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner is entitled to prospective medical treatment including, but
not limited to the MRI of Petitioner's left knee as recommended by Dr. Blackmon, as well as
further treatment recommended by Dr. Blackmon depending on the MRI findings.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the tollowing:

There was no dispute that an MRI of Petitioner's feft knee is medically reasonable and necessary.
Dr, Blackmon has opined Petitioner sustained a torn meniscus and may have further treatment
recommendations once the MRI is performed.

In regard to disputed issue (L) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner is entitled to temporary total disability benefits of 48 6/7
weeks, commencing March 16, 2018, through February 10, 2019, and May 15, 2019, through
May 24, 2019,

The Arbitrator concludes Petitioner is entitled to temporary partial disability benefits of 13 2/7
weeks, commencing February 11, 2019, through May [4, 2019.

In support of these conclusions the Arbitrator notes the following:

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company | 18 WC 36899
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During the periods of temporary total disability, Petitioner has been subject to restrictions
because of both his left calf and left knee injuries which have prevented him from working in a
full and unrestricted capacity as a pipefitter.

During the period of time Petitioner was able fo return to work, he worked as a pipefitter, but in

less than a full and unrestricted capacity and during this period of time, Petitioner earned
$26,404.88.

The total temporary partial disability owed by Respondent to Petitioner is $1 1,527.12 which is
computed by $3,289.09 (average weekly wage) times 13 2/7 weeks which equals $43,695.56

minus $26,404.88 (amount actually earned) for a difference of $17,290.68, two thirds of which 1s
$11,527.12.

Vs

William R. Gallagher, Arbitrator

Jeremy Baker v. GRP Mechanical Company 18 WC 36899
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [E Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF MADISON ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
| || PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Jared Garrett,
Petitioner,

vs. No. 18 WC 32235

omene et s e i ) IWCCOR6O

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by Respondent herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, medical
expenses, prospective medical expenses, and employment relationship, being advised of the facts
and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings
for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 It.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 lil.Dec. 794 (1980).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed June 5, 2019, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has explred
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed. '

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shaltl
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court :

DATED: | .MAY. 6 ~ 2020 o M/ﬂp@

Mare Parker '

0-04/16/20 o M G{{(___
/e - b e’

68 : Barbara N. Flores

DISSENT

1 respectfully dlssent from the Decision of the Majority The Majorlty affirmed and
adopted the Decision of the Arbitrator who found Petitionér sustained his burden of proving he
was an employee of Respondent. 1 would have found that Petitioner did not sustain his burden of
proving he was an employee of Respondent reversed the Decision of the Arbitrator, and denied
cornpensatlon

The claimant has the burden of proving all aspects of their claim, including employment
relationship. A representative from Respondent, Ms. Free, testified that Respondent hires
various independent contractors to perform specific maintenance functions at the housing
complex it managed. She also testified that Petitioner was hired as an independent contractor to
perform specific maintenance duties. Both she and Petitioner testified that no other “employee”
at the complex could perform the specific tasks Petitioner did. They also agreed that all
employees were paid on the 1 and 15" of each month. However, Petitioner’s pay stubs show
that out of the total of 22 pay stubs submitted, eleven, or half of those payments, were made on
days other than the 1% and 15", In addition, the pay stubs indicate that Petitioner generally did
not work full 40-hour weeks for Respondent, Petitioner acknowledged that he was responsible
for his own taxes, Respondent issued Petitioner a W9 for tax purposes, and Petitioner received
no employment benefits such as vacation time, efc. In addition, Respondent had separate
checking accounts. One was used for payroll and the other was used to pay other expenses,
including outside vendors. Petitioner was paid through the account used for expenses other than
payroll.
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Petitioner also testified that prior to working for Respondent he was self-employed for
eight years rehabbing housing, which was the same type of work he was doing for Respondent.
Finally, the record shows that Petitioner did not work for Respondent every day but rather if a
problem arose for which he was needed, Respondent would phone or text him to come in to do
the work. No residents would contact him to perform maintenance work, Respondent did. These
factors all suggest an independent contractor relationship rather than an employment
relationship. .

For the reasons stated above, I would have found that Petitioner did not sustain his
burden of proving he was an employee of Respondent, reversed the Decision of the Arbitrator,
and denied compensation. Therefore, 1 respectfully dissent from the Decision of the Majority.

Deborah L. Simpson
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
s [_] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8())
COUNTY OF Madison ) [ second Injury Fund (58¢e}18)
Ngne of the above

. ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b) o
 Jared GARRETT ‘ | Case # 18 WC 32235
Employee/Petitioner:. :
V.o o - | Consolidated cases;
CHAD-NIC MANAGEMENT SERVICES. INC. LLC
“—-_——MMW

Emp!uycrf_i{éspor_:der_u : .

An App[icafi’on Jor Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Ed Lee, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Collinsville, on March 20, 2019. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes

findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. [ZI Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. @ Did an accideht occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. [] What was the date of the accident?

E. EI Was timély notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. @Is Petitioner's cuﬁent condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G. -l_—_l'_What were Petitioner's eérnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was ?etiiioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

I Were thé_.medical'services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
- paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. 'IS'__Peiitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?
L. E]'What' temporary benefits are in dispute?

-~ {JTtPD [ ] Maintenance X TTD
M. _Sh’ou'ld penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. I:] Is Respondent due any credit?
o. [[] Other ....._..____ o

I_C‘Arbbccl9(b) 210 1001V, Randolpls Street §8-200 €. hicago, 1L 60601 312:814-6611 Toll.free 866:352-3033 Web site: www. hwecdl gov
Downstaie offices Collinsville 618:346-3450  Peoria 3 09/671-3019  Rockfard 815987-7293 Springficld 217:785.7084
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On the date of accident, October 3, 2013 Respondent was operatmu under zmd subject to the provisions of
the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this _accideni was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Pétitioner' earned $31,200.00; the average weekly wage was $600.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 36 years of age, single with 3 dependent children,

Respondent has not patd alt reasonable and necessary charees for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0,00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for
other beneﬁts for a total crecht of $0.00.

Respc_mdent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Medical benefirs

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary med:ca! services, pursuant to the medical fee schedule, of
$35.41 to Petitioner for his out-of-pocket medical expenses, and $132,577.80, as itemized in
Petitioner's Exhibit 10,10 Pent:oner, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Rcspondent shall authorize and pay for Dr., Pet’s recommended medical treatment, inciuding but not limited to

physical therapy and possible surgery, pursuant to the medical fee schedule, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2
of the Act until Petitioner reached maximum medical improvement.

Temporary Total Disability

Respondent shail pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $400.00/week for 11 8/7 weeks,
commencing October 4, 2018 through December 26, 2018, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RuLES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,

and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Ruies, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.
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STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Norice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Lew 69y

Die

Signature of Arbitrator

1CABDec 19(h)

JUN 5 - 2018
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ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION 19(b) DECISION

[ARED GARRETT,

Employee/Petitioner,

v . Case#18WC 032235

CHAD-NIC MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC, LL. C.
Employer/ReSpondent '

MEMG_RANDUM OF 19{b} DECISION OF ARBITRATOR

FINDINGS OF FACT

Whlle accxdent " ’causatlon, pastand future ‘medical expenses,” “temporary total
disability” and "p_enalties" are also disputed issues in this Hearing pursuant to Sections
19(b) and B(a), the.de.terminative issue is whether Petitioner was an “employee” of
Respondent, as defined by the Act, when he sustained accidental injures on October 3,
2018. For purposes of this Decision, “Shiloh Commons” is ihe same legal entity as “Chad-
Nic Management Services, Inc,, L.L.C." (hereinafter, “Chad-Nic"). However, it is necessary to
refer to the two separately to fully explain Petitioner’s relationship with Chad-Nic. so the

eneric term, "Respondent” will not be used when differentiation is necessary,
p .

Chad-Nic, locally based in Mascoutah, lllinois, owns apartment complexes nationally,
including Shiloh Commons in Shiloh, Illincis. Jana Free, a 20 year employee and present
Regional Manager for Chad-Nic, testified that while she is not familiar with the day-to-day
operation of Shiloch Commons, an essential component of operating an apartment complex
includes picking-up trash from common areas, maintaining and replacing heating and air
conditioning units in common buildings and individual apaftment units, electrical

maintenance throughout the complex, wall and door repair in the common buildings and
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units, and repair and replacement of cabinets and fixtures in the individual units. To
perform these necessary, daily tasks, Shiloh Commons hires “Maintenance Techs” to
perform the work. For extraordinary work, such as sewer work or pest extermination,

outside vendors are called.

Pe'fi'tioner fs'36 yéars éid ar.x.d' bégén WGrking fof Shiloh Commons in August 2017
after completing a job application and submitting it to Shiloh Commons’ then Property
Manager, Ramah Crowell. Ms. Free testified that she could not locate a copy of the
application, but did provide a copy of federal tax form, W-9, signed by Petitioner on August
25,2017, that stated his status as “Individual/sole proprietdr or single-member L.L.C."

After completing the application, Petitioner was given two yellow shirts by Ms,
Crowell to wear while he worked and Petitioner began his tenure at the apartment
complex, working on average, 40 hours-a-week, from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday
through Friday, with a scheduled lunch break daily from 12:30 p.m. to 1:00 p.m. Chad-Nic
paid Petitioner $15.00 an hour for the time he worked at Shiloh and another Chad-Nic
apartment complex in Q'Fallon, Hlinois (as verified by pay-check stubs offered in evidence
by beth Petitioner and Respondent), and was paid overtime rates for weekly hours in

excess of 40 and bonus rates for work performed on weekends and holidays.

The Shiloh Common tenants were provided a telephone number to call in the event
.their individual units were in need of repairs. When that number was called, Manager
Crowell would call or text Petitioner and instruct him to immediately address the issue-
regardless of the time of day or night and regardless of whether it was on a weekend or
holiday. Petitioner was not allowed to hire additional help for any project, nor was he
allowed to decline any work. According to Petitioner, he would be fired if he did so. If his
cell phone was not operational during his normal work hours, he was required to report to

Manager Crowell’s office every hour or two during the work day for assignments.

Unless responding to a maintenance call as indicated above, Petitioner reported
each morning to Shiloh Commons at 8:30 a.m. when he was given a daily work sheet
prepared by Manager Crowell. The tasks listed thereon included everything from picking-

up trash in the common areas of the complex to electrical work, wall and door repair,
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cabinet repaxr and replacement te changing locks and heating and air conditioning repair.
Manager Crowell provided Petitioner with a master key granting him access to all buildings

and apartment units in Shiloh Commons for performing these services.

Petitioner was given access to a Shiloh Commons’ credit card that he would use
about three-times-a- week to purchase materials or supphes to perforim his work for the

apartment comp}ex

In addition to bemg given daily work sheets, Manager Croweli regularly gave him
“work orders” that Pet;ttoner explamed were requests by tenants for specific work to be
performed in their respectlve units. Petxtnoner was not permitted to declme any of these
requests as domg so would result in his zmmedlate termination, Pentzoner also tesnﬁed

that he could also be fired at any trme, for any reason

When Petitioner completed his assigned daily tasks, he would hand-write the hours
he worked ona time sheet and submit them to Manager Crowell. Atthe conclusion of a
partlcuiar Chad Nxc pay period Manager Crowell would forward the time sheets to Chad-
' NlC where they were caiculated by Chad Nic personnei by multiplymg the number of hours
Petltloner worked ciurmg that pay-penod by hls hourly rate of $15.00 (or
overtime/weekend /holaday rates when applicable). Chad-Nic would then i issue paychecks,
made payable to Petitioner, accordingly. At the time of his accident, Petitioner was paid by
Chad-Nic on the 1%t and 15% of the month (as was Chad-Nic Regional Manager, Free},and
Petitioner would pick-up his pay checks at the Chad-Nic office in Mascoutah.

In approximated January 2018, Petitioner was invited to attend, and did attend a
banquet held by Chad-Nic at its Mascoutah headquarters for its employees. The dinner and
festivities were paid for by Chad-Nic.

Copies of Petitioner’s available pay check stubs were submitted in evidence by both
Petitioner and Respondent, but are not representative of the enfire period Petitioner
worked for Shiloh Cdmmon's,- neither individually or collectively. The check stubs also lack
uniformity, as some of the stubs indicate pay periods, others reflect specific hours worked

and those hours mulitiplied by $15.00, some reflect overtime hours without specific pay
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rates, while still others reflect only a date and the amount of the check. Thus,itis
impossible to accurately determine how the amount of each individual pay check was
calculated, but it is apparent that Petitioner was paid at a base rate of $15.00 an hour for
his work. Nowhere on any of the pay check stubs is there any identifiable mdxcatxon of
Petitioner’s status as an employee, independent contractor, vendor or othervnse
Respondent produced a tax form 1099 that reﬂected payment of $8 752 SG to Petltloner for
the partial year worked during 20 17 |

Regional Manager Free testified that Petitioner was categorized as a “vendor” or
“outside contractor” by Chad-Nic. Petitioner testified that during the entire period he
worked for Shiloch Commons, from August 2017 through his accident date of October 3,
2018, no one on behalf of Chad-Nic or Shiloh Commons told him that he was notan
employee of Shiloh Commons. To the contrary, Petitioner testified that he believed he was

employed by Shiloh Commeons until after his work accident,

Shiloh Commons provided the tools for Petitioner's work, that were kept in a locked
- tool shed, to which Petitioner was provided a key. Shiloh Commons also published a
newsletter for its tenants that listed Ms. Crowell as Property Manager, listed the Assistant
Manager by name and job title, and published Petitioner's name with his job title of

Maintenance Tech.
While Petitioner worked for Shiloh Commons, he held no other employment.

Petitioner reported to work on October 3, 2018 and was given a daily work sheet by
Manager Crowell. One of the assigned tasks was to install a kitchen cabinet in one of the
units. The cabinet required cutting, and Manager Crowell provided Petitioner with a
circular saw for that purpose. While cutting the cabinet, the saw kicked-back, resultingin a
deep laceration of Petitioner’s dominant, right hand and wrist. Petitioner was transported
by ambulance to Belleville Memorial Hospital. After recording the history of Petitioner's
accident, taking X-rays of his hand and noting the exposed bone at his injury site, Petitioner

was airlifted by helicopter to Barnes-Jewish Hospital in St. Louis.
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Petitioner was adm:tted to Barnes-]ewrsh Hospital and underwent surgery that day
for the complex injury to hls right 15t web space, palm and carpai tunnel. Cabie graftmg for
complete laceration of the medial nerve was perfsrmed using sural nerve graft from
Petitioner's right calf. Cable grafting was also necessary due to laceration of the median
nerve to the thumb. Surgery was also required to release the carpai tunnel. In addition to
nerves bemg harvested from Petitioner’s right calf, the surgeon harvested live tissue from
his nght ankle After two days of hospitalization, Petitioner was dzscharged with

instructions to remain off work and to follow-up with his surgeon, Dr. Michael Pet.

Petitioner initially saw Dr. Pet post-operatively on October 10, 2018, He was
provided with a brace, his off-work status was continued, and he was referred to

Washington Unzversnty Occupanonai Therapy Petxtmner underwent the therapy and

testified that it 1mpreved his condxtzon

On November 5,2018,Dr. Pet performed another surgical procedure, this time
debndmg Petitioner’s wound of dead tissue under anesthesia. Dr. Pet last saw Petltioner
on December 26,20 18, at which tlme he allowed hxm to retum to work (with primary use
of his left hand, accordmg to Petitioner) and advised him that he may require additional
surgery to improve function in his injured hand. Additional therapy was recommended

and Petitioner'_s next follow-up appointment with Dr. Pet is scheduled for April 29, 2019.

Petitioner last received therapy in February 2()19 and testxﬁed that h:s

rehabilitation was dlscontmued due to his mablhty to pay for the treatment.

Because of the medical care Petiti_oner received for his work injury, medical bills
totaling $132,613.21 were generated by the providers referenced above. Of that amount,
Petitioner paid $35.41 and balance of $132,577.80 remains outstanding.

Excluding symptoms feferable to his right calf and right ankle graft sites, Petitioner
has lost sensation in his right hand, his right thumb and every finger on that hand. He has
little strength in the hand and is in constant pain. He demonstrated significant loss of
motion and dexterity in his thumb and fingers of the hand and testified that he would like

to undergo the additional treatment recommended by Dr. Pet.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Issue A, Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hlinois Workers'
Compensation or chugatignal Diseases Act?

- As is evident by Petitioner's atcident'described above, Respondent 'i's'a'ﬁ'eh'férphs'é
in which sharp edged cutting tools are used, so Respondent is automatacaliy operatmg
under the Illinois Workers' Compensatlon Act, pursuant to Section 3 (8) of the Act. 820
ILCS 305, Sec. 3 (8).

Issue B. Was there an employvee-employer relationship?

There is no one rule that has been or could be adopted to govern all cases where an

employee/employer relationship is in dispute. Rather, various factors have been discussed

to help identify when a person is an employee. O'Brien v. Industrial Comm’n, 48 111.2d 304
(1971} and Henry v. Indystrial Comm’'n, 412 lll. 279 (1952). Factors include: “Whether the

employer may control the manner in which the person performs the work; whether the
employer dictates the person’s schedule: whether the employer pays the person hourly;
whether the employer withholds income and Social Security taxes from the person’s
compensation; whether the employer may discharge the person at will, and; whether the

employer supplies the person with materials and equipment.” Robertson v. Industrial
Comm’n,, 225 1i.2d 159 (2007). However, the “right to contro!” is deemed the most

important factor in making the determination. Weir v. Industrial Comm’n, 318 L.App.3d
1117 (2002). “An independent contractor is defined by the level of control over the
manner of work performance.” Horowitz v, Holabird & Root, 212 1l.2d 1 (2004).

In this case, it is clear that Chad-Nic, through Shiloh Commons Property Manager,
Ramah Crowell, controlled the manner in which Petitioner performed his work. Petitioner
was given two yellow shirts by Manager Crowell to wear while he worked. Petitioner
worked regular hours, from 8:30 to 5:00 with a half-hour scheduled lunch break from
12:30 to 1:00, and was given a master key that allowed him access to every apartment in

the complex and access to all other locked rooms or buildings in the complex. Shiloh
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Commons pubhshed a newsletter for 1ts tenants that listed Petltloner name and )ob title as

“Maintenance Tech” for the complex.

When Shiloh Commons tenants needed repairs in their units, they called Manager
Crowell, who in turn, called or texted Petitioner with instructions to address the tenénts'
maintenance issues. Petitioner was not allowed to hire help for any projett, nor could he
decline any particular job. If his cell phone was not operational during his work day, he
was required to report to Manager Crowell's office at regular iﬁterva}s to receive work

instructions. While Petitioner worked for Shiloh Commons, he heid no other gmpioyzhent.

When Petlttoner was not respondmg toa partlcular mamtenance cali from a tenant,
he reported to Manager Crowell at the onset of each work day when he was gnven a dally
work sheet prepared by Manager Croweil that listed tasks to be completed ciurmg that day.
Manager Crowell also gave Pehtaoner work orders that directed him to perform various

_ maintenance pro}ects in the units.

Petltloner was not pald by the }ob or pro;ect Rather, he was pa:d a base rate of

; $15.00 an hours and pald overtime rates for time worked more than 40 hcurs aweek and
time worked on weekends and hohdays. When Petitloner completed his assngned tasks, he
was réqﬁired td comp’iefé déily time sheets by documehting the hrmrs he worked on lariy
given day, those hours then multlplled by his hourly rate of pay by Chad-Nic persannel
who would then issue paychecks on the 1%t and the 15% of each month the same dates on
which Chad-Nic’s other employees are paid. Petitioner would collect his checks at Chad-

Nic’s office. Nowhere on the paychecks is Petitioner categorized as a “independent

contractor” or otherwise.

Chad-Nic Regional Manager Free testified that the company categorized Petitioner
as a ‘'vendor” or “outside contractor.” While Petitioner signed federal tax W-9, provided by
Shiloh Manager Crowell when he completed his employment appllcation, that labeled him
as “Indmdual/sole prnpraetor or single-member L.L.C." and Chad-Nic prowded him with
federal tax form 1099 for the year 2017 Petitioner testified that he believed he wasan

employee during the entire time he worked for Shiloh Commons and no-one told him
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otherwise.” Chad-Nic also invited Petitioner, and he attended, a banquet held at Chad-Nic

headquarters for its employees.

Shiloh Commeons provided Petitioner tools for the work he performed for the

apartment com pkex, and Manager Croweli persona!ly gave him the c1rcular saw that caused

his i injury, He was pmmded akey to the compiex s tool room and was given access to a

Shiloh Commons’ credit card to purchase materials and supplies for the apartment

complex.

Applying the Robertson criteria to the facts here:

(1). Whether the emplaoyer may control the manner in which the person performs the
work? Shiloh Commons’ Manager Crowell dictated Petitioner’s schedule every day
he worked, either in person, by telephone call or text, daily work sheet or work
order relayed from a tenant. Itis clear that Shiloh Commons controlled the manner

in which Petitioner performed his work.

(2). Whether the employer dictates the person’s daily schedule? Petitioner was
required to report to work at Shiloh Commons at 8:30 a.m. on each work day and
was required to work until 5:00 p.n. A daily lunch break from 12:30 p.m. to 1:00
p.m. was alsé dictated by Shiloh Commons. Thus, it is readily apparent that Shiloh

Commons dictated Petitioner’s daily schedule.

{3). Whether the emplayer pays the person hourly? Petitioner was not paid by the
project or the job. He was paid $15.00 an hour with bonus pay for hours in excess of

forty hours a week and for work on holidays or weekends.

{(4). Whether the employer withheld income or Social Security taxes from the person’s

ernployment? Chad-Nic withheld neither.

(5). Whether the employer may discharge the person at will? Petitioner testified that
he could be fired at any time for any reason, or for no reason at all. Chad-Nic

General Manager Free did not contradict this testimony.
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(6). Whether the employer supplied the person with materials and equipment?
Petitioner was given access to a Shiloh Commons credit card that he regularly used
to purchase materials to perform his duties as a Maintenance Tech for Shiloh
Commons. Notonly was Petitioner given a key to the too! room for access to
equipment to perform hls work for Shiloh Commons, Shlloh Commons Manager

Crowell pmvaded htm with the very circular saw that caused hlS mjunes

Every Robertson criteria for determmmg Petitioner’s status dlctates that he was an
employee of Respondent at all times relevant herem except that Chad Nrc did not wnthhoid

mcome or Soaal Secunty taxes from hzs checks 225 L. Zd 159 [2007]

Consuiermg the above, I find that an employee-empioyer relatlonshap existed
between Petitioner and Respondent on Or:tober 3, 2018.

Issue C. Drd an accgdent ogcur that argse out of and in the course of Petttiong:: [

mp_logmgnt bg Respcndent?

Petxtioner was usmg a cxrcular saw, promded by Sha]oh Commons’ Manager Crowell,
cutting a kltchen cahmet ina Shtloh Commons apartment when the saw kicked back and
severely lacerated his right han_d. An accident did therefore occur that arose out of and in

the course of Petitioner's employment with Respondent.
Issue F. Is Petitioner’s current state of ill-bein'g caﬁsallg related to the injury?

Immediately following Petitioner's éccident, he was taken by ambulance fo a local
hospital and shortly thereafter airliftéd to Barnes-jewish Hospital Where he underwent
emergency surgery that day, Common senseanda chain-of-events analysis conclusively
dictates that Petitioner’s inj'uries were caused by his October 3, 2018 accident. “A chain of
events which demonstrates a previous condition of good health, an accident, and a
subsequent injury resuiting in disability may be sufficient circumstantial evidence to prove
a causal nexus between the accident and the employee’s injury.” International Harvester.
Industrial Comm'n, 93 1ii.2d 59, {1982). Petitioner’s current state of {ll-being is causally
related to his .Oct'oher 3,2018 work iﬁjury.
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sue |. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and -

necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical services?

There is no evuience of unreasonable or exaesswe treatment found in the record

and the treatment Petltwner has recewed since October 3, 2018 is dzrectiy reiated to hxs

right-hand injury.

Therefore, Respondent is hereby ordered to pay Petitioner the sum of $35.41 for his
out-of-pocket medical expenses and is further ordered to pay him the sum of $132,577.80
for outstanding medical bills listed in Petitioner’s Exhibit 10, pursuant to the Act’s Medical

Fee Schedule.

Issue K. What temporary benefits are in dispute?

Petiﬁoner was excused from work by either the Barnes-Jewish hospital personnel,
or by treating surgeon, Dr. Michael Pet from October 4, 2018 through December 26, 2018, a
period of 11 6/7 weeks. This period of total disability is supported by Petitioner's credible
testimony and the medical records in evidence. Respondent offered no evidence to
contradict Petitioner’s claimed period of temporary total disability. Therefore,
Respondent is ordered to pay Petitioner the sum of $4,742.80 ($400.00 per week for 3
period of 11 6/7 weeks), that being the period for which temporary total benefits are owed.

Issue K, Is Petitioner in Need of Prospective Medical Treatment?

Petitioner remains under active medical care with surgeon, Dr. Pet. He last saw Dr.
Peton December 26, 2018 and has a follow-up appointment on April 29, 2019. Dr. Pet has
recommended Petitioner undergo additional physical therapy for his hand, but Petitioner
has been unable to do so for lack of funds. Dr. Pet has also discussed future surgery to
improve the function of Petitioner’s hand. Petitioner testified that he would like to receive

the treatment Dr. Pet has recommended.

Considering all the evidence, I find that Petitioner is in need of prospective medical

treatment to cure and relieve the effects of his October 3, 2018 work injury. Respondent is

10
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therefore ordered to authorize Dr. Michael Pet's recommended treatment and ordered to
pay for that treatment pursuant to the Act's Medical Fee Schedule until Petitioner reaches

maximum medical improvement from his October 3, 2018 work related injury.

Issue M. Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

While it is clear that Petitioner was an employee of Respondent on October 3, 2018,
I cannot say that Respondent’s dispute of that issue was vexatious or in bad faith, given the
fourth Robertson factor. Therefore, Petitioner's request for penalties and attorney fees

pursuant to Sections 19(k), 19(1) and 16 of the Act are hereby denied.

et Loz

Edward Lee

11
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Eﬂ Affirm and adopt {no changes)

)} SS. D Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF PEORIA ) [ Ireverse

[ IModify

D Injured Workers’ Benefit
Fund (§4(d))

Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g)
[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PID/Fatal denied
None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Mary Fran Wessler,
Petitioner,

VS. No. 15 WC 22355

20IWCC0268

Peoria Public School District 150,
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by Respondent herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection, temporary total
disability, medical expenses, and permanent partial disability, and being advised of the facts and
law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part

hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that, the Decision of the

Arbitrator filed January 16, 2019, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to

Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.
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Pursuant ‘o §19(t)(2) of the Act no appeaI bond is set in thls case. The party

commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a
Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: MAY 6 - 2020

mp/wij
04/02/20
68

Barbara N. Flores

'DISSENT. IN PART AND CONCURRENCE IN PART

I respectfully dlssent in part from and concur in part w1th the Decision of the Majority.
The Majority affirmed and adopted the Decision of the Arb1trat0r who found Petitioner sustained
her burden of proving that a stipulated accident caused a condmon of ill-being of her right knee.
She awarded Petitioner 8&1/7 weeks of temporary total dlsabﬂ}ty (“TTD”) benefits and 96.75
weeks of permanent partial dxsablhty (“PPD”) benefits representing loss of 45% of the right leg.
I would have affirmed the Decision of the Arbitrator regarding accident, causation, and
temporary total disability. ‘However, I believe that the PPD award is excesswe based on the
excellent recovery Petitioner had after her surgeries. Therefore, I concur with the Decision of
the Majority regarding accident, causation, and TTD and dzssent from the Decision of the
Majority afﬁrmmg the Arbitrator’s PPD award.

Petitioner sustamed a stxpulated acmdent on September 11,2014 when a student collided
with her at work. She sustained a right-knee injury which resulted in surgery to repair a
meniscus tear. She also eventually had right-knee replacement surgery, which the Arbitrator
found was causally related to her work i mJury because it aggravated her pre- exzstmg degenerative
joint disease. -

To her credit, Petitioner testified that the surgery gave her back her life. She had no
problems with her right knee. She was able to return to work at her prior job at the same wage
and without restrictions. She also testified that she needed no ongoing treatment due to the work
accident. In my opinion, the award of loss of 45% of the right leg is excessive. Petitioner herself
testified she had no ongoing problems and the Arbitrator seems to have awarded PPD for
multiple surgeries and for overall “pain and suffering” which is not appropriate in Workers’
Compensation awards. Rather, the Commission is directed to award PPD based only on a
claimant’s actual degree of permanent disability. In looking at the entire record before us, I
believe a PPD award of 64.5 weeks, representing loss of the use of 30% of the right leg would be
appropriate here. Therefore, 1 dissent from the Decision of the Majority affirming the
Arbitrator’s PPD award representing loss of 45% of the right leg.
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For the reasons stated above, I concur with the Decision of the Majority regarding
accident, causation, TTD, and medical expenses. However, I dissent from the Decision of the

Majority affirming the Arbitrator’s PPD award.

Deborah L. Simpson
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STATE OF JLLINOIS ) [ ] mjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g}) '
COUNTY OF Peoria ) [ second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
Ei] None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION =~

ARBITRATION DECISION
MaryFran Wessler | Case # 15 WC 22355
Employee/Petitioner ' : _
v. Consolidated cases:  N/A

Peoria Public School Dist. 150
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party.
The matter was heard by the Honorable Melinda Rowe-Sullivan, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Peoria, on November 21, 2018. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Disecases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accid_ent occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's earnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

X] Were the medical services that were rovided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
p p
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

What temporary benefits are in dispute?
] TPD (] Maintenance DI TTD
@ What is the nature and extent of the injury?
. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
Is Respondent due any credit?
[ ] Other

ST aTmDmUOow
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FINDINGS

On September 11, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exi.st between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill—being is causally related to the accident.

Per the st1puia‘{10n of the parties, in the year preceding the injury Petitioner earned $36,224.69; the average weekly wage
was $928. 83 : :

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 58 years of age, married with 0 dspehdent child.

Respondent has not paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $1, 147 65 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, $0 in non-occupational indemnity
dxsabﬂﬂy benefits and $5 000.00 in other benefits (i.e., agreed PPD advancement), for a total credit of $6,147.65.

Respondent is entitled to a credit for medical bills paid in the amount of SALL. AMOUNTS PAID through its group medical
. pl_a_n for which credit may be allowed under Section 8(j) of the Act.

: ORDER
. Respondent shall pay the reasonable and necessary medical services as included in Petitioner’s Exhibit 10 as provided in
Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is to hold Petitioner harmless for any claims for reimbursement from any
health insurance provider and shall provide payment information to Petitioner relative to any credit due. Respondent is to
pay unpaid balances with regard to said medical expenses directly to Petitioner. Respondent shall pay any unpaid, related
* medical expenses according to the fee schedule and shall provide documentation with regard to said fee schedule payment

calculations to Petitioner. Respondent is entitled to a credit for all benefits paid under its group health plan under Section
8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $619.22/week for 8 4/7 weeks, for the timeframes of
April 9, 2015 through April 26, 2015 and March 23, 2017 through May 3, 2017, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $557.30/week for 96.75 weeks, because the injuries
sustained caused 45% loss of the right leg, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $1,147.65 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, $0 in non-occupational indemnity
disability benefits and $5,000.00 in other benefits (i.e., agreed PPD advancement), for a total credit of $6,147.65.

Respondent is entitled to a credit for medical bills paid in the amount of SALL AMOUNTS PAID through its group medical
plan for which credit may be allowed under Section 8(j) of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALSs Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,

and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.
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STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Dt neie iy Fome Sl 1111/19

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec p. 2
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ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

MaryEran Wessler Case # 15 WC 22355
Employee/Petitioner

V. Consolidated cases: N/A

Peoria Public School Dist. 150
Employer/Respondent

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION OF ARBITRATOR

FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner testified that she is 62 years old and that she began working for Respondent in 2003 as a
paraprofessional. Petitioner testified that while working for Respondent on September 11, 2014, she was
taking a lunch break with her co-workers in a classroom when they began to hear sounds across the hall.
She testified that the employees went to see what was going on and there had been a physical altercation
between two students. She testified that per protocol, they began to direct the students out of the classroom
and that one of the male students who had been involved in the altercation began to taunt a female student
involved in the altercation who was being restrained. She testified that she directed the male student to get
out of the classroom when the female student broke free and charged the male student, colliding with
Petitioner. She testified that she had her feet planted and her arms out and that when the female student hit
her body, she twisted her right knee and stumbled. She testified that security arrived and restrained the
students and that when leaving the classroom, she felt pain and instability in her right knee. She further
testifted that she informed the school secretary that day and decided not to file a formal claim because she

wanted to wait and see if the pain got better. She testified that the next morning when her knee was worse,
she reported it to the school secretary and was sent to IWIRC.

With regard to prior knee problems, Petitioner testified that she had problems with both of her
knees in the past. She testified that she went to her primary care physician who referred her to an orthopedic
physician, Dr. Orlevitch. She testified that she saw Dr. Orlevitch several times for both of her knees
between 2010 and 2013, and further testified that she had several injections as well as having had both of
her knees drained of fluid. She testified that Dr. Orlevitch also performed an arthroscopy procedure on her
right knee in July 2012, Petitioner further testified that her knees got better and that she did not require
any treatment from the last time that she was seen by Dr. Orlevitch on February 8, 2013 until the incident

at issue, which was approximately 19 months later. She also testified that she continued to work full duty
during this 19-month timeframe as well.

Petitioner testified that after the incident on September 11, 2014 but prior to the knee replacement
surgery having been performed, she had to travel to a conference in Las Vegas and had to switch planes in
Minneapolis. She testified that she required gate assistance and rode in a wheelchair because of the pain
she was experiencing in her right knee. She testified that approximately one year after the total knee
replacement was performed by Dr. Akeson, she was sent to Boston in May 2018 with work colleagues for
training and that on this particular trip, she needed no assistance and was able to carry her own bags and
walk from gate to gate without the need for any type of assistive device.
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Petitioner testified that she began seeing the physicians at IWIRC the day after her injury where
she received prescriptions, ice packs, a brace and physical therapy. She testified that she also had an MRI
performed, which showed a tear in her knee. She testified that she was then referred her to Dr. Akeson,
who recommended an arthroscopic surgery on her right knee which was performed on April 9, 2015. She
testified that after the scope, she continued to have constant pain that would wake her up at night and that
she was unable to go to the grocery store, do laundry or pick up her grandchildren. She testified that Dr.
Akeson ultimately recommended a knee replacement and that following the knee replacement and post-
operative physical therapy, her right knee was “great.” Petitioner denied having any trouble with her right
knee currently and when asked if she felt that the total knee replacement helped, Petitioner responded
affirmatively and stated that she got her life back. Petitioner further testified that she has not had any
problems with her left knee since her treatment ended with Dr. Orlevitch in 2013.

On cross examination, Petitioner agreed that after she returned to work after the total knee
replacement, she had been able to work in the same capacity as a paraprofessional for Respondent and that
she has not seen Dr. Akeson since she was released from his care.

On cross examination, Petitioner agreed that she and Dr. Orlevitch had talked about possibly
needing a total knee replacement down the road for both of her knees.

The transcript of the deposition of Dr. Jeffrey Akeson taken on August 24, 2016 was entered into
evidence at the time of arbitration as Petitioner’s Exhibit 1. Dr. Akeson testified that he is an orthopedic

surgeon and that half of his practice dealt with general pediatric orthopedics and that the other half was
general adult orthopedics. (PX1).

Dr. Akeson testified that he first saw Petitioner on February 6, 2015 and that she gave a history that
she had been a patient at Great Plains Orthopaedics, that she previously had an MRI scan, that she had a
scope done by Dr. Orlevitch and that she had had evidence of a meniscus tear and some joint surface
deterioration. He testified that Petitioner stated that her insurance had changed so she was changing groups,
that she stated that the scope was not fully successful, that she still had some degree of pain made worse by
certain activities, that most of her pain was medial and that occasionally the knee locked up on her. He
testified that on physical examination, Petitioner had a pretty good-sized amount of fluid in the knee joint
and tenderness along the medial joint line. He testified that the left knee was relatively normal in
appearance and that the right knee was much more swollen and tender, that Petitioner had pseudolaxity and
that she had good mobility. He testified that x-rays showed that there was some narrowing of the joint
space medially, worse on the right than the left, and that Petitioner was close to the point where her bone
was touching together, but that otherwise her x-ray findings were not remarkable. He testified that they
discussed various treatment options and conservative therapies and that he thought that given her age and
situation, it might be valuable to have another arthroscopic exam. (PX1).

Dr. Akeson testified that he scoped Petitioner on April 9%, which revealed that she had some
" damage to each side of her meniscus, medial and lateral but primarily medial-side damage, that she had
inflammation which he described as diffuse in most parts-of the joint and that there was wear behind her
kneecap with some bone showing behind her kneecap on the medial side of the joint. He testified that
Petitioner’s joint surfaces looked good on the lateral side but that she had some damage to the front half of
her lateral meniscus as well. He testified that his phiysician's assistant saw Petitioner again about two weeks
after the scope on April 22™ and that Petitioner seemed to be doing okay at that time. He testified that
Petitioner was still taking some Hydrocodone, that she had an effusion and that range of motion was
reasonably good. He testified that his physician's assistant aspirated Petitioner’s knee and gave her a
cortisone injection. He testified that Petitioner was again seen by his physician's assistant on May 13", at
which time she had some erythema anterior to the knee and that it appeared as if she might have some

2
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cellulitis, and that her knee joint itself seemed okay. He testified that Petitioner’s antibiotic was switched
as she had had some reaction to Keflex. He testified that Petitioner was seen approximately one week later
and that she was still hurting some, but that the erythema was gone at that point. He testified that Petitioner
was still slightly swollen, that she had good range of motion but was still having enough pain, and that they

talked about her having further surgery sometime which might be a pamai knee replacement on the right
knee. (PX1).

Dr. Akeson testified that Petitioner was recommended to undergo physical therapy after that and
she continued to have pain. He testified that Petitioner was functional and that she had been back to work
with some restrictions, but still felt significantly limited in her day to day activities. He testified that he
next saw Petitioner on June 11% at which time there were no signs of cellulitis, that she said her pain was
essentially the same as it had been before the most recent scope procedure mostly on the medial joint line,
and that she had a large effusion. He testified that Petitioner’s knee was asplrated of 150 ¢¢’s (which was
as much as he had ever aspirated from a person’s knee) and that she was again injected with cortisone. He
testified that when he saw Petitioner on October 21, 2015, she still had quite a bit of swelling and that she
had mentioned going back to IWIRC. He testified that Petitioner had been through all conservative options
and that she was still functioning poorly, and that he told her that she had to decide when she had reached
the point where she had to make a change. He testified that this was the last time that he saw Petitioner.

He testified that if Petitioner were in the same snuataon with the same complamts he wouid stﬂl be
recornmendmg surgery. (PXI) :

Dr Akeson testified that he had a comment in his notes about Pet1t1oner workmg light duty and
managing after the scope procedure and that he did not see any other reference to her work situation
subsequently He testifiéd that as far as he knew, he never had Petitioner totally off work. He test1ﬁed that
he did not remember the restrictions that were ‘placed. He testified that he was aware that Petitioner had
prior work done on both her left and right knees. He testified that in his review of Dr. Orlevitch’s records,
Petitioner had had some degree of knee symptoms for a few years previously starting in approxzmately_
2010 and that in 2012 she had a scope done on each of her knees with at that time relatively similar findings,
and that she had had MRI scans done which showed meniscal damage. (PXl)

When posed a hypothetical question asking him to assume that Pet;tioner 5 last office visit with Dr.
Oprlevitch was on February 8, 2013 and that she saw no one until September 11, 2014 when she twisted her
knee, Dr. Akeson testified that he believed that the surgery he had recommended would help her. Dr.
Akeson testified that Petitioner’s pain became worse after the fight so at least, by history, her
symptomatology was substantially worse than it had been a year before he saw her. When asked if he had
an opinion whether the incident with the fight triggered, caused or accelerated surgery on the right side, Dr.
Akeson responded that he thought it may have accelerated surgery but that he could not be 100% positive
to what extent. When asked whether Dr. Orlevitch made statements about how bad the arthritis was, Dr.
Akeson responded that in his operating report he described chondromalacia and to his recollection did not
describe any bone visible, but felt that there was enough of it to warrant him doing the chondroplasty portion
of his procedure. When asked if one had arthritis whether it made one more or less prone to injury when a
trauma was superimposed, Dr. Akeson responded that it probably made one more prone to at least having

pain after a trauma as opposed to a person with a normal knee. He testified that if Petitioner returned and
indicated that she wanted surgery, he would perform it. (PX1).

On cross examination, Dr. Akeson agreed that he was only provided one history of a potential work
accident, which occurred on September 11, 2014. He agreed that he had no evidence or any type of
information regarding any work accident pre-dating September 11, 2014, nor did he have any evidence or
indication of any accident occurring at work after September 11, 2014. He agreed that he really did not
know what happened at the time of the altercation on September 11, 2014 to Petitioner’s right or left knees.
He agreed that he knew that there was an altercation on that date according to Petitioner, and that he had to

L2
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rely on the patient’s accuracy in giving opinions in a case. He agteed that if that accuracy was not on point,
it could change his opinion on causation. (PX1).

On cross examination when asked if from what he knew according to his records whether he was
sure if the incident that Petitioner described to him had any effect on her right knee, Dr. Akeson responded
that all he could do was go by Petitioner’s history that she appeared to be doing better before and that
subsequent to what occurred at work, she had more pain which had persisted. He agreed that in looking at
- his medical records, there was no-indication of any type of twisting injury to the right kree. He agreed that

he knew that there was an altercation but that he did not know what effect it had on either the right or left
‘knee, but further testified that Petitioner said that she had been shoved out of thc way. He agreed that he
could not say what happened to either knee. (PX1).

On cross examination, Dr. Akeson agreed that he could not tell what stage or what the arthritis
looked like in the right knee on September 10, 2014, He agreed that we could assume that there was arthritis
in the knee on September 10, 2014, He agreed that he could not state what condition the meniscus was in
on September 10, 2014, (PX1).

‘On cross examination, Dr. Akeson agreed that doctors in this situation when talking about knee
replacements talked about their doing the replacement when the patient came forward and stated that they
needed it. He agreed that he encouraged patients, considering their age, jobs, and weight, to hold off as
long as possible before they did a knee replacement and that he agreed that he held that same philosophy
-in this case. (PX1).

On cross examination, Dr. Akeson testified that Petitioner at some point subsequent to the scopes
had the opinion that the scopes were not 100% successful based on her history. He agreed that Petitioner
informed him in her history that the scopes that were performed by Dr. Orlevitch had not been a full success.
He agreed that this led him to believe that Petitioner was still having pain after those procedures. (PX1).

On cross examination, Dr. Akeson agreed that his records indicated that Petitioner had fluid build-
up on the right knee leading up to the described work injury. He agreed that this would lead him to believe
that there was an active process in the knee when it came to a degenerative condition. He agreed that based
on that information, Petitioner may have needed a knee replacement prior to the work injury. He agreed
that according to Petitioner’s records she was symptomatic prior to the work injury and that she was having
fluid aspirated from the knee prior to the work injury, but that he did not know whether or not she was
actively freating. (PX1).

On cross examination, Dr. Akeson agreed that prior to the work injury Petitioner had had a surgery
done to the knee, that she had been provided a diagnosis by her orthopedic surgeon prior to the work injury,
that she had received treatment to the knee by an orthopedic surgeon prior to the injury, that she provided
a history of some fluid build-up after the surgery, that she provided him a history that the surgery did not
make her 100% better, that she was overwe;ght and that it was more likely than not that she probably needed
a knee replacement absent the work injury. He agreed that he had not seen Petitioner since October 2015
and that he could not say whether there had been any other new accidents to the knee since that timeframe.
He agreed that he could not say absolutely what Petitioner’s current condition of her knee was at that time.
He agreed that the arthritic condition in the knee could be aggravated by certain activities, that if at the time
of trial it was shown that she was engaged in gardening activity and she had an increase in symptoms, that
that could be aggravating her arthritic knee. He agreed that long walking while shopping in St. Louis was
the type of activity that could aggravate the knee, that picking up grandchildren was such an activity that
could aggravate the knee and that trying to get in fitness classes and performing aerobics or those types of
activities could aggravate the knee. (PX1).



On redirect, Dr. Akeson testified that he could not say, absent this accident, when if ever Petitioner
would have needed a knee replacement. He agreed that it was possible that Petitioner could need one and
that she go her life without replacing it. When asked whether he had reviewed or had any evidence that
Petitioner saw a doctor from when she stopped seeing Dr. Orlevitch until September 11, 2014, Dr. Akeson
responded that all he had was that she was referred from TWIRC but that he did not absolutely know that

she was seeing a doctor there. He testified that he did not have any records that the day before or shortly
before September 11, 2014 that Petitioner had fluid on the knee. (PXl)

The medical records of'XWIRC were entered into evidence at the time of arbitration as Petitioner’s
Exhibit 2. The records reflect that Petitioner was seen on September 12, 2014, at which time it was noted
that she was seen for an initial evaluation of her right knee. It was noted that Petitioner stated that the injury
occurred on September 11, 2014, that she was assisting students out of a classroom when a student bumped
into her causing her to lose her balance, and that she did not fall down. It was noted that Petitioner’s pain
was rated 7/10 at initial onset and was currently 5/10. It was noted that Petitioner described symptoms of
a sharp, burning sensation along the inner area of the right knee and under the kneecap, and that she had
been taking over-the-counter aspirin and applied ice for symptom relief. It was also noted that Petitioner
reported a history of multiple bilateral knee problems with surgery, that she stated that she had knee pain
everyday but that this felt different, and that she had noted increased swelling in the medial knee. The
assessment was noted to be that of a right knee MCL strain. Petitioner was dispensed vartous items
including a knee brace and a ThermalSoft Gel Cold/Hot Pack and was also dlspensed over-the-counter
Aleve. Pentmner was also returned to work w1th restrictions. (PX2)

The records of IW[RC reﬂect that Petitioner was seen on September 17,2014, at wh1ch t1me it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had improved since the last office visit. It was noted that Petitioner
stated that she still had pain that would primarily increase when using stairs or standing/sitting for prolonged
periods of time, and that she rated her current pain level at 4/10. It was noted that Petitioner was currently
taking over-the-counter Naproxen and Tylenol, that she continued hot/cold two times per evening, that she
was doing range of motion exercises and that she wore a knee brace as directed. It was also noted that
Petitioner stated that she was doing better but still had trouble with stairs and standing/sitting for too long,
and that she stated that she always had swelling. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee MCL
strain. Petitioner was recommended to continue the Tylenol, knee brace, ice/heat and range of motion
exercises. Petitioner was dispensed over-the-counter Aleve and was issued work restrictions. At the time
of the September 24, 2014 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had improved since
the last office visit. It was noted that Petitioner stated that she had a constant ache in her right knee with
increase in pain when using stairs or sitting/standing for prolonged periods of time, and that she rated her
current pain level at 2-3/10. It was noted that Petitioner was currently taking over-the-counter Tylenol and
Naproxen, that she continued hot/cold packs two times per evening, that she was doing range of motion
exercises and that she wore her knee brace as directed. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she was
doing well, that she reported aching slightly worse than normal with intermittent sharp, shooting pains with
certain movements, and that she continued to wear a brace. It was noted that Petitioner was ready to get
off restrictions. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee MCL strain, resolving. Petitioner was
recommended to continue the ice/heat, Naproxen and Tylenol, and to continue the knee brace at work.
Petitioner was also recommended to increase her exercise frequency to at least three times per day.
Petitioner-was allowed to return to work regular duty. (PX2). ’

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on October 1, 2014, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her knee was about the same but that the pain was worse when going down the
stairs. It was noted that Petitioner had tenderness medially and a “hotter” pain, that she used more ice than
heat but used heat as well, and that her knee had swelling but that she believed it was due to arthritis. It
was noted that Petitioner rated her current pain at 3/10 and that she was currently taking Naproxen and
Tylenol. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she was about the same as the last office visit, that she
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reported continued intermittent pain with certain movements, more with stair use but especially when going
down stairs, and that she stated that she was alternating Naproxen and aspirin and taking over-the-counter
Tylenol. It was also noted that Petitioner felt that she had more swelling than at the last office visit. The
assessment was noted to be that of right knee MCL strain and that with the continued pain and worsening
effusion, they would rule out new internal derangement with an MRL Petitioner was dispensed over-the-
counter Tylenol and was recommended to continue ice/heat, Tylenol, knee brace and exercises as
previously instructed. Petitioner was allowed to return to work regular duty. At the time of the October 8,
2014 visit, it was noted that Petitionier stated that her symptoms had stayed about the same, that she had her
MRI done and was there for the results; and that she was using ice/heat, wearing her brace and doing
exercises. It was noted that Petitioner rated her current pain level at 2/10 and that she was currently taking
Naproxen. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she still had the pain in the medial side of the right
knee. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear noted on MRI. Petitioner
was referred to orthopedics. Petitioner was also dispensed over-the-counter Naproxen and was

recommended to continue ice/heat, over-the-counter Tylenol, knee brace and exercises as previously
instructed. (PX2). :

. The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on October 22, 2014, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had worsened recently due to an increase in activity, that she rated
her current pain at 4/10, that she stated the pain increased with going down steps and that she described the
pain as sharp with tightness and buming. It was noted that Petitioner was currently taking Naproxen and
Tylenol and that she stated that she had not yet seen orthopedics due to not receiving prior medical records
from Great Plains. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she felt worse on that date, that she reported
that she had done a lot of walking over the weekend and believed the increased activity made the pain
worse, and that she was contacted by Midwest Orthopaedics and was awaiting transfer of records from
Great Plains prior to having a consultation scheduled. It was noted that Petitioner continued to have pain
with stairs, worse when going up, and that she denied any significant functional changes. The assessment
was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, awaiting orthopedic consultation, Petitioner was
dispensed Nabumetone and was recommended to continue ice/heat, bracing, over-the-counter Tvlenol and
gentle range of motion exercises as previously instructed. Petitioner was also allowed to return to work
without restrictions. At the time of the November 3, 2014 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her
symptoms had remained about the same since the last office visit, that she rated her current pain at 3/10,
that the pain was constant and would increase with overuse, and that the pain was least in the moming and
increased as the day went on. It was noted that Petitioner stated that at times the right knee would “lock
up” and feel unstable. that she was currently taking Naproxen and Tylenol, and that she was wearing the
brace as directed. It was also noted that Petitioner reported that after her medical records were received by
Midwest Orthopaedics and that her case was declined due to multiple previous knee surgeries by another
provider, The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear. It was noted that
Petitioner was to be referred to Great Plains Orthopedics due to multiple previous contacts. Petitioner was
dispensed Nabumetone and a ThermalSoft Gel Cold Pack. Petitioner was also referred to physical therapy
and was recommended to return to work withont restrictions. (PX2)

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on November 19, 2014, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had stayed about the same, that she was still having swelling and
sharp pain and felt that the knee was unstable and that she was waiting for an orthopedic appointment, It
was noted that Petitioner was using ice/heat and was wearing a knee brace during the day and that she rated
her pain at 3/10 and was currently taking Nabumetone. It was also noted that Petitioner had pain in the
medial knee and that her strength was improved. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial
meniscus tear, improving. It was noted that Petitioner was awaiting orthopedics and was recommended to
continue physical therapy. Petitioner was dispensed Nabumetone and was recommended to use heat and
wear her brace during exertion. Petitioner was allowed to return to work with no restrictions. At the time
of the December 3, 2014 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had improved and

6
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included achy, tight, and hot at the medlal knee, that the swelling was improved, that the sharp pain had
decreased but would return by the end of the day, and that she rated her current pain at 2-3/10. It was noted
.that Petitioner stated that she was still awaiting orthopedics and was currently taking Nabumetone, doing
exercises every hour, using a heat pack and wearing a knee brace. The assessment was noted to be that of
right knee medial meniscus tear, improving. Petitioner was noted to be awaiting orthopedics and was
recommended to continue physical therapy. Petitioner was dispensed Fast Freeze and was recommended

to continue ice/heat, to wear her brace durmg exertion, to continue Nabumetone and to retum to work full
duty. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on December 17, 2014, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had remained about the same, that she was becoming frustrated
with the little improvement that had occurred, that she stated that the pain got worse as the day went on and
- that she was still awaiting her orthopedics appointment. It was noted that Petitioner rated her current pain

at 2-3/10 and that she was currently taking Nabumetone. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that her
right knee locked up with rising occasionally, that she was able to prevent it by manipulating the back of
the knee, that she stated that she had had surgeries done on both knees and that they were both unstable arid
that she stated that she had degenerative joint disease in both knees. The assessment was noted to be that
of right knee medial meniscus tear, improving. Petitioner was noted to be awaiting orthopedics and was
recommended to hold physzcai therapy until after she saw orthopedics. Petitioner was recommended 10
continue Fast Freeze, to wear her brace during exertion and to returnto work full duty. Petitioner was also
dispensed Nabumetone. At the time of the December 30,.2014 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated she
had an appointment with Dr. Atkinson [sic] on January 14, 2014, that she stated that her symptoms had
remained about the same since her last office visit and included a constant ache in the medial right knee
with intermittent sharp pain with use, that she stated that the pain increased by the end:of the day with
swelling, and that the knee would almost lock up when going from a sit to stand position. It was noted that
Pctitio'ner rated her current pain at 2-3/10, that she was currently taking Nabumetone, that she was using
Icy/Hot as she was out of the Fast Freeze, that she was wearing a knee brace, that she was alternating
ice/heat packs and doing home exercises for the knee twice a day, and that she was currently working
regular duty. Tt was also noted that Petitioner continued to have a clicking sensation in the medial right
knee and pain with rotation. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear,
improving. Petitioner was recommended to follow-up with orthopedics, to continue home physical therapy,

to use heat, to use Fast Freeze, to take Naburnetone to wear her brace during exertion and to retumn to work
full duty. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petmoner was seen on January 8, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that all her symptoms remained and that they had not increased or decreased in
intensity. It was noted that Petitioner still had an ache medially which could occasionally become sharp
upon certain movements and usage, and that her appointment at Midwest Orthopaedics had been
rescheduled. It was noted that Petitioner was currently using Fast Freeze and taking Nabumetone, and that
she rated her current pain level at 2-3/10. It was also noted that Petitioner continued to have medial knee
pain with movement and that she had decreased range of motion due to pain. The assessment was noted to
be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, stable. Petitioner was recommended to follow-up with
orthopedics, perform range of motion exercises, use heat, take Nabumetone and return to work full duty.
Atthe time of the January 21, 2015 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her knee was not any better
or worse, that she still experienced an ache medially which at times became sharp depending on movement,
that she was to see orthopedics on February 6", that she stated that her knee had not displaced or locked up
foralmost a week and that she stated that she had good range of motion. It was noted that Petitioner applied
heat and ice, that she rated her current pain level at 2-3/10 and that she was currently taking Nabumetone.
The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, stable. Petitioner was

recommended to follow-up with orthopedics, perform range of motion exercises, use heat, take
Nabumetone and retum to work full duty. (PX2).
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The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on February 13, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had stayed about the same, that she had some stiffness, aches and
some burning pain at times, that she rated her current pain level at 4/10 and that she was currently taking
Nabumetone, using a gel pack and doing range of motion 2-3 times per day. It was noted that Petitioner
had seen an orthopedist and was waiting on approval of some type of surgical plan. It was also noted that
Petitioner continued to have pain in the medial knee, that she had pain at rest and with exertion, and that
wearing a brace helped It was also noted that there had been confusion and that Petitioner’s orthopedic

‘management had been on hold. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear,

stable. It was noted that Petitioner was to continue orthopedic referral and management and was to use
heat, perform range of motion exercises, continue Nabumetone, wear a brace and return to work full duty.

At the time of the March 2, 2015 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms ‘had included
soreness and tenderness, that she rated her current pain level at 2-3/10 and that she was currently taking
Nabumetone, applying heat, doing her range of motion and wearing a brace. It was noted that Petitioner
reported that she would have surgery on April 9%, The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial
meniscus tear, stable, Petitioner was recommended to follow-up with orthopedics, use heat, do range of
motion exercises, take Nabumetone and wear her brace. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on March 23, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had gotten worse, that she rated her current pain at 4/10, that she
was currently faking Nabumetone and was using heat, doing exercises and wearing her brace, and that she
was on regular work. It was also noted that Petitioner had had increased discomfort due to an altercation
with a student on March 13, 2015, and that she had increased pain and decreased range of motion in the
right knee. The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, stable. Petitioner was
noted to be scheduled for surgery on April 9%, that she was referred for physical therapy, that she was to
use heat, wear her brace, do range of motion exercises and take Nabumetone, and that she was to return to
work with no restrictions. At the time of the March 25, 2015 visit, it was noted that Petitioner was seen for
evaluation of her bilatera] knee strain, It was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had remained
the same since her last office visit and included constant aching in the right knee with tenderness and pain
above the knee to below the patella, that in the left knee her symptoms included constant tenderness above
the left knee to below the patella and along the medial and posterior knee, and that she stated that her range
of motion had improved. It was noted that Petitioner rated her current pain at 3-4/10, that she was currently
taking Nabumetone, using a heat pack and doing home exercises, and that she was cwrrently working her
regular job duties. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she still had a dull ache with rest 3-4/10 that
worsened with walking and was really bad with climbing down stairs, and that she had been doing her
exercises, applying ice and heat, taking Nabumetone and using Fast Freeze as suggested. The assessment
was noted to be that of (1) bilateral knee strain; (2) right knee medial meniscus tear, not related to this
injury. Petitioner was recommended to continue ice/heat, continue range of motion, continue Nabumetone
and return to work regular duty. Petitioner was also dispensed Fast Freeze. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on March 31, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had slightly improved, that she was still having very distinct sharp
pains right under her patella on her right knee and that she rated her current pain at 3/10 but that it could
spike up to 7/10 with certain movements. It was noted that Petitioner was currently taking Nabumetone
and applying heat which helped loosen the muscles, and that she stated that the Fast Freeze helped. It was
also noted that Petitioner’s pain predominantly was in the left knee medial and inferior to the patella, and
that her pain increased with exertion. The assessment was noted to be that of (1) bilateral knee strain,
improved; (2) right knee medial meniscus tear, not related to this injury. Petitioner was recommended to
use heat, continue physical therapy, take Nabumetone and return to work full duty. At the time of the April
13, 2015 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that since she just had surgery on April 9™, that it was too
soon to tell if her knee had improved or not, that she stated that she could bend her knee and put weight on
it, and that she rated her current pain at 4/10. It was noted that Petitioner was currently taking Nabumetone.



It was also noted that Petitioner still had moderate pain and edema with decreased range of motion, that she
still had a dressing in place and that she was using crutches for walking. The assessment was noted to be

that of right knee medial meniscus tear, stable. Petitioner was recommended to follow instructions with

orthopedics and follow-up with them as directed. Pet:tloner was also allowed to return to work with
restrictions. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on May 8, 2015, at which time it was noted
that she stated that her last orthopedics appointment was two weeks after surgery and that she was scheduled
to return at the end of May. Tt was noted that Petitioner stated that they drained her right knee but not as
much as they were able to, that she stated that she could bear more weight on her right knee now, and that
she stated that the pain increased as the day went on and by the evening the knee felt hot inside. "It was
noted that Petitioner rated her current pain level at 3/10, that she was currently taking Nabumetone, that she
had discontinued the knee brace due to it making her lower leg swell, and that she was on sedentary
restrictions. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that the right knee remained swollen on the lateral side
after a month, that she used an ice block all night on the knee, that she stated that it was 1mp0551ble to be
on sedentary duty and had to climb stairs occasionally, and that she had not yet started physical therapy.
The assessment was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, slowly improving. Petitioner was
recommended to follow instructions from orthopedics, follow-up with orthopedics as directed, retum to
work with restrictions and alternate ice/heat. At the time of the May 22, 2015 wisit, it was noted that
Petitioner stated that her last orthopedics appointment was two days ago due to havmg an infection, that
she was given an antibiotic and the infection had started to clear, and that she stated that the knee felt okay
right now but that the pain increased as the day went on. It was noted that Petitioner stated that when she
was bearing weight on her right knee it felt full, that she rated her current pain level at a constant 2-3/10,
and that she was currently alternating ice and heat when she was able. It was noted that Petitioner was
unsure when her next orthopedics appointment would be and that slie was told they were trying to decide
on the next form of treatment. It was also noted that Petitioner’s knee remained enlarged. The assessment
was noted to be that of right knee medial meniscus tear, infection resolving. Petitioner was recommended

to follow instructions from orthopedics, follow-up with orthopedics as directed, return to work with
restrictions and alternate ice/heat. (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on June 4, 2015, at which time it was noted
that she stated that her symptoms were the same since the last office visit, that she rated her current pain
level at 3/10 and that it could go up to a 5-6/10 if she was standing for a long period or walking, and that
she was currently taking no medication. It was also noted that Petitioner’s infection was gone but that she
still had the underlying 3/10 pain that went up to a 5-6/10 after standing for long periods or walking. The
assessment was noted to be that of (1) right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) right knee post-op infection; (3)
underlying right knee degenerative joint disease. It was noted that Petitioner was discussing total knee
replacement with orthopedics. Petitioner was recommended to follow instructions from orthopedics,
follow-up with orthopedics as directed, return to work with restrictions and continue ice/heat and range of
motion exercises. Petitioner was also dispensed Fast Freeze. At the time of the June 18, 2015 visit, it was
noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had improved since the last office visit, that she stated that
she saw orthopedics the week before and had had 150 cc’s of fluid drained from the right knee which
alleviated the pain, and that she rated her current pain at 1/10. It was noted that Petitioner was currently
taking Nabumetone and using ice/heat and Fast Freeze as directed, and that she had also started physical
therapy and had more sessions scheduled. The assessment was noted to be that of (1) right knee medial
meniscus tear; (2) degenerative joint disease, right knee. Petitioner was recommended to follow
instructions from orthopedics, follow-up with orthopedics as directed, return to work with restrictions,
continue ice/heat and range of motion exercises and continue Fast Freeze as needed. Petitioner was also
recommended to continue physical therapy. (PX2).
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The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on June 30, 2015, at which time it was noted
that she stated that her symptoms had included tenderness and swelling, that she rated her current pain at
2.5-3/10 and that she was currently doing physical therapy twice per week, doing range of motion daily and
using ice/heat for comfort. It was also noted that Petitioner still had swelling and some pain, and that she
stated that she had pain with physical therapy. The assessment was noted to be that of (1) right knee medial
meniscus tear; (2) degenerative joint disease, right knee. Petitioner was recommended to follow-up with
orthopedws as scheduled, to return to work with restrictions, and to continue physical therapy and her home
exercise program as directed, Petitioner was also' dispensed Nabuimetorsie.” At the time of the August 3,
2015 wisit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had remained the same since her last office
visit, that she rated her current pain at 3/10 with constant throbbing, that she was currently taking
Nabumetone and was doing physical therapy and that she stated that it was helping. It was also noted that
Petitioner still had trouble with full extension and full flexion. The assessmeént was noted to be that of (1)
right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) right knee degenerative joint disease. Petitioner was recommended to
follow-up with orthopedics as scheduled, to return to work with restrictions, to continue physical therapy
and home exercise program as directed, and to continue Nabumetone, (PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on August 27, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her symptoms had remained the same since her last office visit, that she rated her
current pain at 2-3/10 that would increase as the day progressed, that she continued to take Nabumetone as
directed and alternate ice/ heat, and that she continued to do physical therapy and a home exercise program
as directed. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that her knee was more stable and that she could do
more with the knee prior to surgery, that prior to surgery she could kneel, walk stairs and pick up her
grandchildren, and that after surgery she was very unsteady on her feet, was careful with rising and needed
to walk using her hands to steady herself. It was also noted that Petitioner was unable to kneel or squat and
required assistance when walking stairs, that she could not lift her grandchikdren or lift anything with weight
now and that she stated that her knee was constantly swollen. The assessment was noted to be that of (1)
right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) right knee degenerative joint disease. Petitioner was recommended to
follow-up with orthopedics as scheduled, to return to work with restrictions, and to continue physical
therapy and home exercise program as directed. Petitioner was also dispensed Nabumetone. At the time
of the September 23, 2015 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had included swelling
that got worse as the day progressed, some tenderness and a constant pain that was always there, and that
she stated that by the end of the day she had a grinding-like sensation in the knee. It was noted that Petitioner
rated her current pain at 2-3/10 but could increase to 6/10, and that she was currently taking Nabumetone,
doing her home exercise program and applying ice/heat. It was also noted that Petitioner reported progress
that had “stagnated” over the last few visits and that she was discussing joint replacement with orthopedics.
It was noted that Petitioner stated that her pain was manageable, but that the loss of function was what
really bothered her. The assessment was noted to be that of (1) right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) right
knee degenerative joint disease. Petitioner was dispensed Nabumetone and Fast Freeze and was

recommended to continue ice/heat, to continue physical therapy and to return to work with restrictions.
(PX2).

The records of IWIRC reflect that Petitioner was seen on November 3, 2015, at which time it was
noted that she stated that her knee was not very well on that date because it was increasingly aggravated at
work the day before, that she stated that her surgery did not go as planned and that she had not been well
since, and that she had fluid drained off her knee about two weeks prior. It was noted that Petitioner was
to folow-up with orthopedics in December and was awaiting approval for another surgery, and that she did
physical therapy twice but that it had been discontinued. It was noted that Petitioner rated her current pain
at 3/10 and that she was currently taking Nabumetone. It was also noted that Petitioner stated that she had
never gotten back to near where she was prior to the injury, that she felt that she needed more surgery on
the knee and that the process had been started with insurance, The assessment was noted to be that of (1)
right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) severe degenerative joint disease, right knee. Petitioner was dispensed
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Nabumetone and:was recommended to follow-up with orthopedics as directed, to continue heat and
exercises as directed and to work with restrictions per orthopedics. At the time of the December 7, 2015
visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that her symptoms had remained the same since the last office visit,
that she rated her current pain at 2-3/10, that she stated that her pain would increase with certain movements
and as the day went on, and that she stated that the swelling continued. It was noted that Petitioner was
currently taking Nabumetone, doing a home exercise program and alternating heat/ice as directed. It was
also noted that Petitioner had had an IME done and was waiting to hear back. The assessment was noted
to be that of (1) right knee medial meniscus tear; (2) severe degenerative joint disease, right knee. Petitioner
was recommended to continue to follow-up with orthopedics as scheduled and to work with restrictions as

per orthopedics and was released from care. Included within the medical records of IWIRC were physical
therapy notes for the timeframe of November 19, 2014 through December 16, 2014. (PX2).

The medical records of Touchstone Imaging were entered into evidence at the time of arbitration
as Petitioner’s Exhibit 3. The records reflect that Petitioner underwent an MRI of the right knee at Peoria
Imaging Center on October 6, 2014, which was interpreted as revealing (1) horizontal tear medial meniscus
mid posterior horn to posterior body with the tibial surface tissue of the posterior body and posterior
juncture mildly displaced into the inferior gutter; mild maceration of the body which is completely extruded
from the joint space; (2) inner rim truncation of the body of the lateral meniscus, moderately extruded from
the joint space; (3) moderately severe diffuse chondromalacia medial of the medial tibial plateau and medial
to posterior medial aspect of the medial femoral condyle; (4) severe chondromalacia midline aspect of the
lateral tibial plateau in the mid-coronal plane; (5) severe diffuse lateral patellar chondromalacia; (6) mild
patella alta with approximately 7 mm lateral patellar translation; moderately developmentally shallow

trochlear groove; (7) very large hemarthrosis; prominent lipoma arborescens within the suprapatellar bursa.
- (PX3). o - o

The medical records of Midwest Orthopaedic Center were entered into evidence at the time of
arbitration as Petitioner’s Exhibit 4. The records reflect that Petitioner was seen on June 21, 2017 for a re-
check of her right knee. It was noted that she was status post right total knee arthroplasty, that she reported
she had had a fall onto the right knee recently and had some soreness afier, and that she was otherwise
doing well overall. The assessment was noted to be that of replacement of the right knee. It was noted that
additional post-operative instructions were reviewed and that activity, exercise, medication and ongoing
expectations were discussed. Petitioner was recommended to follow-up in nine months for a one-year post-
oprecheck. At the time of the June 13, 2017 visit, it was noted that Petitioner stated that she fell the night
before, that she was carrying items and did not watch where she was walking, and that the knee was a little
sore but that everything seemed fine. It was noted that Petitioner had been on vacation, that she drove
several states without any issues traveling and that she went to get out of the pool and did not think of her
knee and used her total knee arthroplasty knee to step up on the ladder. ‘It was noted that Petitioner was
doing her exercises, that she was back to doing her housework and shopping, and that she was playing with

her grandkids. Petitioner was to be discharged from physical therapy and was to continue her home exercise
program. (PX4). :

The records of Midwest Orthopaedic Center reflect that Petitioner was seen for physical therapy on
May 23, 2017, at which time it was noted that her 